
 

From: Democratic Services Unit – any further information may be obtained from the reporting 
officer or from Robert Landon, Head of Democratic Services, to whom any apologies for absence 
should be notified. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THE CIVIC MAYOR, CHAIR OF 

COUNCIL BUSINESS AND ALL 
MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chief Executive 
 
 
 

 
 
Steven Pleasant, Chief Executive 
Dukinfield Town Hall, King Street, 
Dukinfield SK16 4LA 
 

 
www.tameside.gov.uk 
Email: Robert.landon@tameside.gov.uk 
 

Our Ref rl/Council 
Ask for Robert Landon 
Direct Line 0161 342 2146 
Date  

Dear Councillor, 
 
 
You are hereby summoned to attend an ORDINARY MEETING of the Tameside Metropolitan 

Borough Council to be held on Tuesday, 5th October, 2021 at 5.00 pm in the Jubilee Hall, 
Dukinfield Town Hall when the undermentioned business is to be transacted.  
 
 
 
 
Yours faithfully, 
 

 
 
Steven Pleasant 
Chief Executive 

Public Document Pack

http://www.tameside.gov.uk/


 

From: Democratic Services Unit – any further information may be obtained from the reporting 
officer or from Robert Landon, Head of Democratic Services, to whom any apologies for absence 
should be notified. 
 

 

 

Item 
No. 

AGENDA Page 
No 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

2.   MINUTES  1 - 10 

 That the Minutes of the proceedings of the Meeting of Council held on 20 July 
2021 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair of Council 
Business (or other person presiding) (Minutes attached). 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 To receive any declarations of interest from Members of the Council.  

4.   GREATER MANCHESTER POLICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN   

 To receive a presentation by Rob Cousen, Chief Superintendent GM Police, 
Tameside Division 

 

5.   CIVIC MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS   

 The Civic Mayor to make any appropriate announcements. 
 
At this juncture the Civic Mayor will retire from the Chair and the Chair of 
Council Business shall assume the Chair for the remaining business. 

 

6.   COMMUNICATIONS OR ANNOUNCEMENTS   

 To receive any announcements or communications from the Chair of Council 
Business, the Executive Leader, Members of the Executive Cabinet or the 
Chief Executive. 

 

7.   COUNCIL BIG CONVERSATION   

 To consider any questions submitted by Members of the public in accordance 
with Standing Orders 31.12 and 31.13. 

 

8.   MEETING OF EXECUTIVE CABINET  11 - 32 

 To receive the minutes of the Meeting of the Executive Cabinet held on 28 July 
and 25 August 2021. 

 

9.   MEETING OF OVERVIEW PANEL  33 - 36 

 To receive the minutes of the Meeting of the Overview (Audit) Panel held on 
26 July 2021. 

 

10.   SENIOR STAFFING PANEL   

 To consider the recommendations of the Senior Staffing Panel held on 29 
September 2021 as follows: 
 

1. The salary for the permanent recruitment of Director of Children’s 
Services be set at a minima of £120k and maxima of £145k dependant 
on the skills and experience of the successful candidate  

 



 

From: Democratic Services Unit – any further information may be obtained from the reporting 
officer or from Robert Landon, Head of Democratic Services, to whom any apologies for absence 
should be notified. 
 

 

2. The appointment of Tracy Morris to Interim Director of Children’s 
Services and be paid £120k from 1 November 2021 until such time as 
the permanent DCS in in post. 

3. The deletion of the roles Director of Operations & Neighbourhood and 
Director or Growth 

4. The creation of Director of Place at a salary of £120k and the 
appointment of Ian Saxon to this post with effect from 1 October 2021  

5. The appointment of Debbie Watson to the role of Interim Director of 
Population Health with effect from 1 October 2021 on the existing agreed 
salary of £95k and the appointment to this role on a permanent basis in 
line with Public Health England required processes 

6. The appointment of James Mallion to the role of Interim Assistant 
Director of Population Health with effect from 1 October 2021 whilst the 
structure is recruited to on a permanent basis  

7. The refocus and expansion of role and responsibilities of the Assistant 
Director (Policy, Performance and Communications) with an amended 
job description and rename of the role to Director of Transformation at 
the salary level of £102k with effect from 1 October 2021. 

8. That the independent review of all senior officer salaries be revisited and 
concluded to reflect the changes to the senior leadership team and to 
ensure the Council is equal pay compliant.  

9. That a further review of the arrangements outlined within this report will 
be undertaken in April 2022, particularly as the forthcoming changes to 
our health and integration model will necessitate a different managerial 
model and allow a further review of the membership of the Senior 
Leadership Team.  

11.   REVIEW OF FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES  37 - 112 

 To consider the attached report of the Executive Member (Finance and 
Economic Growth)/Director of Finance. 

 

12.   MEMBERSHIP OF COUNCIL BODIES   

 To consider any changes to membership of Council bodies.  

13.   NOTICES OF MOTION   

 To consider the following motion in the name of Councillor Oliver Ryan: 
 
Tameside Metropolitan Council has considered the impact of the Conservative 
Government’s policy proposals on Social Care, National Insurance and 
Universal Credit on the residents of this Borough, alongside the current gas 
price market volatility and the HGV driver crisis, and calls for urgent and 
immediate action by Government to protect the incomes and services of the 
residents of Tameside who are affected by these changes. 
 

 



 

From: Democratic Services Unit – any further information may be obtained from the reporting 
officer or from Robert Landon, Head of Democratic Services, to whom any apologies for absence 
should be notified. 
 

 

That this Council notes that 
 

 The Conservative Government’s planned increase to National Insurance 
by 1.25% from April 2022 equates to a £200 increase for a Tameside 
resident earning the borough’s median income of £25,643 and takes the 
average National Insurance bill to over £2,000 per year. 

 The Conservative Government intends to cut Universal Credit by £20 per 
week for all 19,460 Tameside households in receipt of it. This cut 
equates to over £20million of income removed from the Tameside 
economy. 

 Social Care services will not begin to receive the additional funding until 
2023 and even then the services will receive less than half of the 
£12billion raised by the National Insurance increase, meaning that 
residents needing to pay for care may still be required to pay up to 
£86,000 even after these reforms. 

 Far too many Tameside residents live in fuel poverty and will be hit hard 
by the current gas price volatility; and also notes the impact that the rise 
in gas prices will have on Tameside businesses still recovering from the 
pandemic restrictions and the inevitable increase in the cost of materials 
and products which will be passed onto the consumer. 

 The National HGV Driver shortage is leading to fuel shortages and panic 
buying at petrol stations, disrupting just-in-time food deliveries to shops 
and supermarkets and adversely affecting the delivery of some public 
services. 
 

That this Council therefore resolves: 

 

 To express it’s opposition to the Government’s National Insurance tax 
hike on our hard working residents and to ask them to consider an 
alternative, based on taxation of wealth. 

 That the Chief Executive writes to the Secretary of State for Work and 
Pensions to express the opposition of this Council to the removal of the 
Universal Credit uplift which will decrease Tameside residents incomes 
by over £20million.. 

 That the Chief Executive writes to the Chancellor of the Exchequer and 
Secretary of State for Health and Social Care to outline the current 
financial pressures facing Tameside Council and this Local Authority’s 
concern over the amount and distribution of social care funding. 

 That the Chief Executive notifies the Prime Minister of the Council’s 
concerns over the gas price volatility and the HGV driver crisis and the 
negative impact these crises are having on Tameside residents, 
Tameside businesses and on the delivery of key local public services. 

 That the Borough’s three Members of Parliament are written to by the 
Chief Executive to notify them of this Council’s resolution and to urge 
them to raise these matters urgently in the House of Commons. 

14.   QUESTIONS   

 To answer questions (if any) asked under Standing Order 17.2, for which due 
notice has been given by a Member of the Council. 
 

 



 

From: Democratic Services Unit – any further information may be obtained from the reporting 
officer or from Robert Landon, Head of Democratic Services, to whom any apologies for absence 
should be notified. 
 

 

15.   URGENT ITEMS   

 To consider any other items which the Chair of Council Business (or other 
person presiding) is of the opinion shall be dealt with as a matter of urgency. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

COUNCIL 
 

20 July 2021 
 

 
Commenced: 5.00 pm  

 

Terminated: 7.00 pm 

Present: Councillors Affleck, Billington, Bowden, Bowerman, Boyle, Bray, 
Cartey, Chadwick, Choksi, Cooney, Cooper, Costello, Dickinson, 
Fairfoull, J Fitzpatrick, P Fitzpatrick, Glover, Gwynne, A Holland, 
B Holland, J Homer, S Homer, Huntbach, Jackson, Jones, Kitchen 
(Chair), Lane, Lewis, McNally, Newton, North, Owen, Patel, Patrick, 
Pearce, Quinn, Reid, Ricci, Robinson, Ryan, N Sharif, M Smith, 
T Smith, Sweeton, Taylor, Ward, Warrington, R Welsh and Wills 
 

Apologies for Absence: Councillors Alam, Drennan, Feeley, Gosling, Martin, Mills, Naylor and 
T Sharif 
 
 

 Councillor Kitchen, Chair of Council Business, in the Chair 
 

14.   
 

MINUTES  
 

RESOLVED 
That the minutes of the meeting of Council held on 25 May 2021 be approved as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair.  
 
 
15.   
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

There were no declarations of interest submitted by Members of the Council. 
 
 
16.   
 

CIVIC MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 

The Civic Mayor began by announcing the sad death of former Councillor Charlie Meredith MBE, 
who was an Honorary Freeman of the Borough and had served as Mayor of Tameside and also 
Stalybridge, to which he was truly dedicated.  Condolences were extended to his wife and family 
members and Members of the Council paid tribute to him. 
 
The Civic Mayor stated that she was honoured to lead the minute’s silence in memory of Dr Ron 
Hill MBE as his funeral cortege stopped at Dukinfield Town Hall.  He brought credit to Tameside 
through his sporting and business achievements and would be greatly missed. 
 
The Mayor congratulated three people from Tameside - Pauline Town, Councillor Vimal Choksi 
and Heather Shepherd - who had all been recognised in the Queen’s Birthday Honours in addition 
to the Anthony Seddon Fund and Our Kids Eyes for receiving the Queen’s Award for Voluntary 
Service. 
 
With the ongoing lifting of restrictions resulting from the pandemic the Civic Mayor and her Consort 
were pleased to have been able to support a variety of events including the Hyde Artisan Market, 
where they had a stall to raise money for their chosen charities, and Ashton’s Artisan Market.  
They had attended a tree-planting in memory of the late Duke of Edinburgh at All Saints College, 
Dukinfield; the Hyde Market Car Show; the opening of the Reading Shed at Millbrook Primary 
School; the Peace Day Service at Hyde War Memorial, Werneth Low, and the long-awaited 
opening of the 4C Community Centre at Christ Church, Ashton.  They had organised a ‘Pour at 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



 
 

 
 

Four’ as part of NHS and Social Care Frontline Services Day, outside St Barnabas’s Church in 
Hattersley, which was attended by 24 invited guests, and arranged for afternoon tea boxes to be 
delivered to residents living near-by in sheltered housing. 
 
 
17.   
 

COMMUNICATIONS OR ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 

The Executive Leader began by echoing the Civic Mayor’s congratulations for the Tameside 
residents and organisations who had earned recognition in the Queen’s Birthday Honours list and 
represented the greatest values and virtues of the borough.  Congratulations were also bestowed 
upon the NHS staff and key workers who had been recipients of the George Cross as part of the 
celebrations to commemorate the 73rd anniversary of the founding of the National Health Service.  
It was hoped that the government’s recognition of the work on the front lines during the pandemic 
would result in a well-deserved pay rise. 
 
The Executive Leader paid her condolences to Tameside residents including Freeman of the 
Borough Ron Hill MBE, who sadly died in May, and former Civic Mayor Charles Meredith MBE, 
who sadly died in June.  Their outstanding achievements and the impact and legacy they had left 
would live on. 
 
The Executive Leader commended the England football team’s heroic performance over the past 
month as they reached their first major final in a football tournament in 55 years.  Despite losing in 
heart breaking circumstances at the last hurdle, this did not detract from the magnitude of their 
achievement nor the pride the majority of the country felt in them for getting so far.  They had 
excelled both on and off the pitch representing a vision of England where everyone, regardless of 
race, sexuality, religion or wealth should be treated with dignity and respect.   
 
It was extremely disheartening that a small but vocal minority chose to express abhorrent abuse 
online and display such hatred, with actions such as defacing the mural of Marcus Rashford, and 
that these words and actions were not immediately condemned by figures in the media and 
politicians.  Much of this abuse had taken place via social media, which had highlighted that more 
powers were required to hold people to account who utilised these platforms; they needed to be 
held responsible for their words and actions and the authorities should be given the power to 
investigate and prosecute where necessary. 
 
It was highlighted that this month had seen the latest, and hopefully the last, lifting of restrictions 
imposed due to the global pandemic that people had lived with for almost 18 months.  Although the 
sacrifices people had made were beginning to bear fruition the infection rate in Tameside remained 
very high at a rate of 496.3 cases per 100,000 people.  This was in part due to the highly 
transmissible Delta variant, believed to be up to 80% more transmissible than the previous 
dominant strains of the virus.  This increase had unfortunately affected vital Council services, such 
as bin collections, due to staff having to self-isolate.   
 
It was anticipated that infection rates, hospitalisations and sadly deaths would rise further as 
society, and the economy began to reopen.  However, it was pleasing to see that the hugely 
successful local vaccination programme that continued to progress well had significantly reduced 
the link between infection and severe illness and death.  In order to minimise the risk of infection, 
people were urged to continue to apply common sense, wash their hands regularly, be responsible 
when socialising and to wear facemasks on public transport and in public indoor spaces even 
though it was no longer a legal requirement.  Residents were encouraged to get the second dose 
of the vaccination and there were a number of pop-up and drop-in centres located around the 
borough where people could receive their vaccination without an appointment or ID.  Testing sites 
remained open in order to ensure new cases were tracked and close contacts traced. 
 
It was reported that the findings of the Marmot Report had concluded that due to longstanding 
health inequalities the coronavirus mortality rate in Greater Manchester was 25% higher than 
England.  The GM Inequalities Commission and the local Inequalities Reference Group had 

Page 2



 
 

 
 

undertaken work over the year at both a local and regional level and local public health teams had 
worked to address the worst of the inequalities that existed in health and social care services.  It 
was imperative that society needed to protect the most vulnerable, deprived and those at risk and 
central government needed to recognise the scale of the problem and put funding in place to 
address it. 
 
Possible solutions to address the findings of the Marmot Report were listed and included:- 

 Access to physical and mental health services; 

 Access to social care services; 

 Ending zero hours contracts; 

 Ending poverty wages; 

 Investing in businesses and jobs within Tameside communities; 

 Fixing the broken housing market; 

 Protecting the shared environment; and 

 Putting young people first. 
 
The Executive Leader stated that the country as a whole had the necessary resources to fulfil 
these ambitions and it would be a tragedy if the opportunity that had arisen following the end of the 
pandemic to create an economy and a society for the people was not seized. 
 
The continued progress of the Improvement Programme in Children’s Services was detailed, 
however the impact of the pandemic, self-assessment and recent feedback from the Ofsted visit in 
May had made it clear that further improvements were required, in particular capacity issues within 
the service, which were reported as a major concern.  High caseloads impacted the ability to 
recruit and retain social workers and capacity issues created a challenge for staff to carry out the 
work they needed to do at a quality they desired.  Other areas of improvement were detailed and 
included access to sufficient and suitable placements, moving away from a focus on compliance 
and management oversight.  Positive progress and the good work that had been carried out in 
areas such as the enhancement and improvement of partnership work with schools during the 
pandemic were highlighted.   
 
The priority now was to build on the foundations to accelerate the work already undertaken and to 
further stabilise and improve the service as it continued to support children and families, whilst 
dealing with the impact of the pandemic.  Seven Sustainability Projects, most of which had been 
completely or partially delivered, had been committed to and would be combined with a robust 
response to the Ofsted findings to provide a clear direction of travel for ongoing improvements.  
This would include a 16-point rapid improvement plan, investment in the capacity of social workers 
and personal advisors, establishing new brokerage, monitoring and commissioning functions and 
enhancing quality and performance.  These efforts would be supported by the investment of an 
additional £461,000 in the service this year, and a further £504,000 in 2022.  It would be the 
highest corporate priority the Council faced but the resources and personnel were already in place 
meaning movement could commence quickly.  Every effort would be made to continue the 
improvement journey and do the very best for Tameside children and families. 
 
Council Members were notified that at a meeting of the Executive Cabinet last month a report had 
been approved on the work necessary for the preparation of a Compulsory Purchase Order in 
regards to the Godley Green development.  It was made clear that this did not mean consent was 
being sought to introduce Compulsory Purchase Orders.  The intention was to hold discussions 
with landholders and to do everything possible to ensure agreements could be made via private 
treaty.  If it became apparent that a Compulsory Purchase Order was necessary it had been 
agreed that a further report or resolution on the issue would be required and would need to satisfy 
a number of legal and financial tests.  
 
It was explained that the plans for Godley Green Garden Village had been in the public domain for 
some time and many aspects had been altered in order to reflect feedback received from 
landowners and residents.  Clarification had been provided on honest misinterpretation and 
deliberate misinformation had been challenged.  The project was an exciting opportunity for 

Page 3



 
 

 
 

Tameside and would offer an ambitious and sustainable model of inclusive growth that would 
create new and thriving communities backed up with vital infrastructure and access to open 
greenspace.  There had been an allocation of £10million from the Housing Infrastructure fund and 
if the development was not built Tameside would fall short of the government’s mandated housing 
requirement and run the risk of a development “free-for-all”.  The choice had therefore been 
whether Godley Green would be built by the Council that put the interests of local people first or by 
a company that put profit first. 
 
Council were informed that although Godley Green was the most ambitious project currently in the 
works to secure inclusive growth it was not the only one; investment was being made across the 
borough to create a brighter future for Tameside and its residents.  Particular emphasis was being 
place on town centres to help them recover from the pandemic and in the longer term to transform 
them into vibrant community and economic hubs they all had the potential to be.   
 
It was reported that Hyde had been selected as 1 of 70 towns nationally to receive support from 
the government’s High Street Task Force Programme, which would bring a range of expert 
organisations into the town centre to identify the area’s strengths and challenges. Working closely 
with the Council, local businesses and residents to develop a plan of action to drive new 
investment and growth.  This would be backed up by a range of support, including targeted expert 
consultancy, mentoring, workshops, access to local footfall data and training programmes.  It was 
hoped that the lessons learnt in Hyde through this process would be able to be applied to other 
town centres with further ideas and projects rolled out. 
 
In addition to town centre projects, Members were told that engagement with developers in regards 
to the future of the Lock Keeper’s site in Droylsden was being sought.  When combined with the 
site of the former library, which was scheduled for imminent demolition, the entire area could be 
released for the construction of high-quality residential space adjacent to the town centre.  Also, 
the Executive Cabinet had signed off on significant expansions to a number of schools in the 
borough with a view to increasing pupil capacity before the beginning of the new academic year in 
September.  The total cost was estimated at £2million and would ensure that the borough 
continued to have the space to meet rising demand for both mainstream and specialist education 
for Tameside’s young people. 
 
The Executive Leader concluded by reiterating that as Tameside emerged from the pandemic 
everyone needed to come together to ensure that the borough endured, adapted and prospered.  
Investment in the borough’s town centres, housing, and making improvements to the help and 
services on offer to vulnerable children were evidence of this commitment.  In order to create a 
lasting legacy as Ron Hill MBE and Charles Meredith MBE had done, Tameside would build back, 
fairer, greener and better. 
 
 
18.   
 

COUNCIL BIG CONVERSATION  
 

The Chair reported that there were no questions submitted by members of the public in 
accordance with Standing Orders 31.12 and 31.13. 
 
 
19.   
 

MEETING OF EXECUTIVE CABINET  
 

Consideration was given to the Minutes of the meeting of Executive Cabinet held on 28 April and 
23 June 2021.  It was moved by Councillor Warrington and seconded by Councillor Fairfoull that 
the Minutes of the meeting of the Executive Cabinet held on 28 April and 23 June 2021 be 
received. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Executive Cabinet held on 28 April and 23 June 2021 
be received. 

Page 4



 
 

 
 

20.   
 

MEETING OF DEMOCRATIC PROCESSES WORKING GROUP  
 

Consideration was given to the Minutes of the meeting of Democratic Processes Working Group 
held on 5 July 2021.  It was moved by Councillor Cooney and seconded by Councillor Warrington 
that the Minutes of the Democratic Processes Working Group held on 5 July 2021 be received. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Democratic Processes Working Group held on 5 July 
2021 be received. 
 
 
21.   
 

TAMESIDE ELECTORAL REVIEW - RESPONSE TO THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
BOUNDARY COMMISSION FOR ENGLAND (LGBCE) WARD PATTERNS AND WARD 
NAMES PROPOSAL  
 

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member, Housing, Planning and Employment, 
which detailed Tameside Council’s response to the Local Government Boundary Commission for 
England (LGBCE) ward patterns and ward names proposal published on 1 June 2021. 
 
Members were reminded that in June 2019 the LGBCE informed Tameside Council they would be 
undertaking an electoral review of Tameside.  The last such review was concluded in 2004.  At 
stage one of the review, which concluded in January 2021, the LGBCE proposed 57 councillors for 
Tameside.  At the first part of stage two, a full borough wide ward patterns and ward names 
proposal was submitted to the LGBCE by Tameside Council.  The LGBCE published their draft 
ward patterns and ward names proposal on 1 June 2021, which triggered ten weeks of public 
consultation that ended on 9 August 2021. 
 
The report noted that the LGBCE ward pattern and names proposal was based in the greater part 
on the Tameside Council submission.  As such Tameside Council broadly supported the proposal 
outlined by the LGBCE but with some areas of difference where amendments were suggested.  
Those amendments were based on the original Tameside Council submission of 1 April 2021 as a 
better balance of community identity and electoral equality informed by local knowledge and 
experience.  The amendments were outlined in detail in the relevant sections of the report and 
included:- 
 

 Droylsden East 

 Audenshaw 

 Denton West 

 Stalybridge North 

 Stalybridge South 

 St. Peter’s 

 Ashton Waterloo 

 Hyde Godley 

 Hyde Newton 

 Hyde Werneth 
 
The report was supported by both the controlling group (the Labour Party) and the opposition (the 
Conservative party).  At their meeting on 5 July 2021 the Democratic Processes Working Group 
endorsed the report and agreed it would be presented to Full Council for final sign off before 
submission to the LGBCE. 
 
RESOLVED 
(i) That Council endorse the report outlining the Tameside Council response to the Local 

Government Boundary Commission for England draft proposals; and 
(ii) That Council agree the attached report be submitted to the Local Government 

Boundary Commission for England no later than 9 August 2021. 
 

Page 5



 
 

 
 

22.   
 

PLACES FOR EVERYONE  
 

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member, Housing, Planning and Employment, 
which recommended that Full Council approve the submission of Places for Everyone Plan to the 
Secretary of State following the period of public consultation.   
 
Members were advised that in 2014, the Council had resolved to work collaboratively with those in 
Greater Manchester to jointly prepare a strategic planning document for the city region, the GMSF.  
It was explained that while recent decisions meant this was now a joint plan of nine boroughs, 
Places for Everyone 2021 was considered to have substantially the same effect as GMSF 2020, as 
previously presented to Members for consideration.  It was proposed, therefore, to proceed to 
publish the plan at the next consultation stage, which represented a move towards the culmination of 
the plan making process, prior to submission to the Secretary of State for independent examination.  

 
The plan, alongside thematic policy content, identified three strategic sites in Tameside for growth 
and twelve sites for further protection as additions to the designated Green Belt.  Alongside this, it 
also sought to provide the borough with an up to date housing target, the strategic context for the 
borough’s Local Plan and updated development management policies to be used in the 
determination of planning applications.   
 
Following clarification being sought, the Monitoring Officer confirmed that the motion for 
determination by Members was to approve the submission of Places for Everyone Plan to the 
Secretary of State following the period of public consultation only. 
 
Following consideration of the Motion, the Chair of Council Business announced that, in line with 
the rules set out in the constitution, he had received a request for a named vote from the following 
six Councillors; Councillors: Cooney, Fairfoull, Feeley, Ryan, Warrington and Wills. 
 
The named vote was then taken as follows: 
 
For the motion: 
Councillors: Affleck, Billington, Bowden, Bowerman, Boyle, Bray, Cartey, Chadwick, Choksi, 
Cooney, Cooper, Costello, Dickinson, Fairfoull, J Fitzpatrick, P Fitzpatrick, Glover, Gwynne, A 
Holland, B Holland, J Homer, S Homer, Huntbach, Jackson, Jones, Kitchen, Lane, Lewis, McNally,  
Newton, North, Owen, Patel, Pearce, Quinn, Reid, Ricci, Robinson, Ryan, N. Sharif, M Smith, T 
Smith, Sweeton, Taylor, Ward, Warrington, Welsh and Wills. 
 
Against the motion: 
Patrick 
 
RESOLVED 
That Council approve submission of the Places for Everyone Publication Plan 2021 to the 
Secretary of State for examination following the period for representations. 
 
 
23.   
 

NOTICES OF MOTION  
 

MOTION A 
 
Consideration was given to the following motion received in accordance with Standing Order 16.1, 
which was moved by Councillor Cooney and seconded by Councillor Lewis:- 
 
That Tameside Council believes planning works best when developers and the local community 
work together to shape local areas and deliver necessary new homes; and therefore calls on the 
Government to protect the right of communities to comment on individual planning applications. 
 
This Council notes:- 

Page 6



 
 

 
 

 The Conservative Government’s intention to change planning rules to benefit developers 
were set out in ‘Planning for the Future’ in 2020, and were immediately branded a 
‘Developer’s Charter’ by housing campaigners.  The plans are due to return to Parliament 
after this year’s local elections. 

 The proposals have attracted widespread criticism – except from developers. President of 
the Royal Institute of British Architects, Alan Jones, branded the white paper’s proposals as 
“shameful”, the Campaign to Protect Rural England voiced concerns about community 
involvement, and the housing charity Shelter expressed concern at the reforms’ potential 
impact on social housing. 

 The Conservative Party received £11 million in donations from developers in Boris 
Johnson’s first year as Prime Minister and £891,000 from developers in the first three 
months of 2021 alone. 

 The House of Commons has called on the Government to protect residents’ right to retain a 
voice over planning applications, recognising that the best way to get necessary new 
homes built is to support communities, councils and developers to work in partnership. 

 
This Council believes:-  

 One aspect that has raised particular concern is the proposal to remove local residents’ 
right to object to individual planning applications in their own neighbourhood. 

 The current planning system is locally-led, with councils and the communities they 
represent given a say over the way their neighbourhoods develop. 

 The ‘Developer’s Charter’ proposals would take away the right of local people to comment 
or object to development in their area, instead allowing the Secretary of State to grant 
developers planning “permission in principle” without any local consultation on the 
application.  

 These changes to the planning system would help developers avoid contributions for 
affordable housing, local infrastructure, and avoid existing standards on good quality 
design, allowing them to rack up hundreds of millions of pounds extra profit without building 
any more homes. 

 
Following consideration of the Motion it was:- 
 
RESOLVED  
 
That Tameside Council believes planning works best when developers and the local 
community work together to shape local areas and deliver necessary new homes; and 
therefore calls on the Government to protect the right of communities to comment on 
individual planning applications. 
 
This Council notes:- 

 The Conservative Government’s intention to change planning rules to benefit 
developers were set out in ‘Planning for the Future’ in 2020, and were immediately 
branded a ‘Developer’s Charter’ by housing campaigners.  The plans are due to return 
to Parliament after this year’s local elections. 

 The proposals have attracted widespread criticism – except from developers. President 
of the Royal Institute of British Architects, Alan Jones, branded the white paper’s 
proposals as “shameful”, the Campaign to Protect Rural England voiced concerns 
about community involvement, and the housing charity Shelter expressed concern at 
the reforms’ potential impact on social housing. 

 The Conservative Party received £11 million in donations from developers in Boris 
Johnson’s first year as Prime Minister and £891,000 from developers in the first three 
months of 2021 alone. 

 The House of Commons has called on the Government to protect residents’ right to 
retain a voice over planning applications, recognising that the best way to get 
necessary new homes built is to support communities, councils and developers to work 
in partnership. 

Page 7



 
 

 
 

 
This Council believes:-  

 One aspect that has raised particular concern is the proposal to remove local residents’ 
right to object to individual planning applications in their own neighbourhood. 

 The current planning system is locally-led, with councils and the communities they 
represent given a say over the way their neighbourhoods develop. 

 The ‘Developer’s Charter’ proposals would take away the right of local people to 
comment or object to development in their area, instead allowing the Secretary of State 
to grant developers planning “permission in principle” without any local consultation 
on the application.  

 These changes to the planning system would help developers avoid contributions for 
affordable housing, local infrastructure, and avoid existing standards on good quality 
design, allowing them to rack up hundreds of millions of pounds extra profit without 
building any more homes. 

 
That this Council:–  
(i) Fight to ensure that Tameside residents do not lose their right to a fair say over future 

developments in our streets and our communities; and 
(ii) To ask the Chief Executive to write to Secretary of State and the Tameside Members of 

Parliament to express the Council’s belief that the ‘Developer’s Charter’ does not 
represent the best interests of our local residents.  

 
 
24.   
 

QUESTIONS  
 

Councillor Huntbach raised a question under Standing Order 17.2 as follows:- 
 
I note and appreciate the work being done by officers on what is now called the Low Carbon and 
Environment strategy and associated action plan. 
 
This Council declared a Climate Emergency requiring urgent action, back in February 2020.  At 
Executive Cabinet of 2 November 2020, minutes of a Carbon and Waste Reduction Panel meeting 
of 9 September 2020 were considered.  I quote from those minutes:- 
‘The intention was that the Strategy and Action Plan would be formalised in February or March of 
2021.’ 
At Executive Cabinet of 16 December 2020 minutes of a Carbon and Waste Reduction Panel 
meeting of 18 November 2020 were considered.  I quote from those minutes:- 
‘It was anticipated that the Strategy and Action Plan would be finalised during the early summer of 
2021.’ 
At Executive Cabinet of 28 April 20/21 minutes of a Carbon and Waste Reduction Panel meeting of 
17 March 2021 were considered.  I quote from those minutes:- 
‘…the first draft of the Low Carbon Strategy is almost complete’. 
At the last meeting of the Environment and Climate Emergency Working Group on 16 June 2021, I 
quote:- 
‘…. the strategy is currently in draft status…’ 
We are now past mid-summer, and no strategy or action plan has yet appeared. 
 
As a matter of urgency, would the Environment and Climate Emergency Working Group, and 
Council, commit to finalising both a strategy and action plan by the next meeting of full Council? 
 
In response, Councillor Gwynne stated:- 
 
The Environment Strategy is of major importance and needs to be right.  We have had a new 
senior officer join Tameside who wanted to review the document and so the plan will be finalised 
and put through the democratic process as quickly as is practically possible. 
 
Councillor Chadwick raised a question under Standing Order 17.2 as follows:- 

Page 8



 
 

 
 

 

I would like to ask the Executive Member for Operations and Neighbourhoods why the Council 
have failed to prosecute a single person for fly tipping since 2017? 
 
In response, Councillor Gwynne stated:- 
. 
“Failed to Prosecute” suggests that Cllr Chadwick does not think that we take incidents of fly 
tipping across our borough seriously.  Nothing could be further from the truth.  We have crews out 
every day picking up fly tipping, and where we have evidence we take action against those 
responsible.  Since 2017, this has taken the following methods: 
 
• Letters sent (2017-2021) – 990 
• Statutory Notices (2017-2021) - 262 
• FPNs issued (2017-2021) – 1006 
 
These measures are a proportionate response to our residents that think it acceptable to dump 
their unwanted waste, when they can just as easily drive to the local Household Waste Recycling 
Centre and deposit it there.  And for those that pay someone they found on Facebook to do a tip 
run, who then dump it, they are liable also.  Fixed Penalty Notices (otherwise referred to as FPNs) 
are the most appropriate legal route for the vast majority of fly tipping incidents within the borough 
and these are routinely issued. 
 
FPNs, according to the gov.uk website is not an appropriate sanction for waste operators illegally 
dumping, repeat offenders or those responsible for large scale fly tipping or tipping hazardous 
waste.  Any prosecution of these offences must be in line with the Police and Criminal Evidence 
Act 1984, and as these actions are often carried out regionally by criminals who use false plates on 
their vehicles, never tip the same location twice and chose remote locations, often on private land 
there is little evidence to link the waste to a perpetrator, certainly not enough to take them to court.   
 
Large tipping occurrences and hazardous waste tipping are reported to the Environment Agency to 
coordinate and prosecute, as they have the resources and powers to do so and Cllr Chadwick is 
advised to direct his next FOI to them. 
 
The vast majority of our residents dispose of their waste responsibly and there are a wide range of 
options available to resident to ensure safe and convenient disposal of household and bulky waste.  
If using a waste carrier to dispose for you I urge all residents to check the license number provided 
to be sure that the operator will correctly dispose of your waste.  Where we have sound a robust 
evidence we do not shy away from enforcement and prosecution.  
 
We ask that residents to alert us to where they see blatant criminality and encourage all residents 
to dispose of their waste responsibly.  We always investigate and enforce where we have the 
evidence. 
 
 
25.   
 

URGENT ITEMS  
 

The Chair reported that there were no urgent items of business for consideration. 
 
   

CHAIR 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



EXECUTIVE CABINET 
28 July 2021 

 

Commenced: 2.30pm       Terminated: 3.40pm 

Present: Councillors Warrington (Chair), Cooney, Fairfoull, Gwynne (part meeting), 
Ryan and Wills 

In Attendance: Steven Pleasant 
Sandra Stewart 
Kathy Roe 
Steph Butterworth 
Richard Hancock 
Ian Saxon 
Tim Bowman 
Jeanelle De Gruchy 
Debbie Watson 
Caroline Barlow 
Ian Duncan 
Ilys Cookson 
Sarah Threlfall 
 
Paul Smith 

Chief Executive & Accountable Officer  
Director of Governance & Pensions 
Director of Finance 
Director of Adults Services 
Director of Children’s Services 
Director of Operations and Neighbourhoods 
Director of Education (Tameside & Stockport) 
Director of Population Health 
Assistant Director of Population Health 
Assistant Director of Finance 
Interim Assistant Director of Finance 
Assistant Director, Exchequer Services 
Assistant Director, Policy, Performance and 
Communication 
Assistant Director, Strategic Property 
 

Apologies for  
absence: 

Councillors Feeley and Kitchen – Tameside MBC who participated in the 
meeting virtually 
Councillor Bray – Tameside MBC 

 
19. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Member Subject Matter Type of Interest Nature of Interest 

Councillor Gwynne 

Agenda Item 11 

FOSTER CARER OFFER 

UPDATE AND 

IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

Prejudicial 
Special 

Guardianship 

 
 
20. MINUTES OF EXECUTIVE CABINET 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Executive Cabinet meeting held on 23 June 2021 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 
 
21. MINUTES OF STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING BOARD 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Commissioning Board held on 23 June 2021 
be noted. 
 
 
22. MINUTES OF EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Minutes of the meetings of Executive Board held on: 9 June and 7 July 2021 be 
noted. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 8



23. STRATEGIC PLANNING AND CAPITAL MONITORING PANEL 
 
Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Planning and Capital 
Monitoring Panel meeting held on 5 July 2021.  Approval was sought of recommendations of the 
Strategic Planning and Capital Monitoring Panel arising from the meeting. 
 
RESOLVED 
(a) The minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Planning and Capital Monitoring Panel held 

on 5 July 2021, be noted; and 
(b) That the following recommendations be approved: 
 
CAPITAL OUTTURN REPORT 2020/21  
 
RESOLVED 
That EXECUTIVE CABINET be RECOMMENDED to note the Capital Programme 2020/21 
outturn and approve the re-profiling of capital budgets as set out in Appendix 1. 
 
ADULTS CAPITAL PLAN  
 
RESOLVED 
That EXECUTIVE CABINET be RECOMMENDED to note the progress updates and that the 
budget for Adaptions in 2021/22 be approved at £2.0m, to be funded from Disabled Facilities 
Grant. 
 
CHILDREN'S SOCIAL CARE CAPITAL SCHEMES UPDATE REPORT  
 
RESOLVED 
That EXECUTIVE CABINET be RECOMMENDED to: 
(i) Note the 2020/21 Capital Expenditure Outturn position in Appendix 1 and approve the 

budget slippage. 
(ii) Approve the repurpose of St Lawrence Road to become the Assessment Unit rather 

than the Respite Unit as originally planned. 
(iii) Approve the additional drawdown of £3,800 to allow completion of the St Lawrence 

Road scheme. 
(iv) Note the delays in relation to the purchase of the new residential property, which 

approval is now sought to purchase a property for the respite unit. 
(v) Approve the utilisation of the approved budget available of £397,327, which was 

originally to purchase a property for an assessment unit to purchase a property to 
become a respite unit. 

 
GROWTH CAPITAL PROGRAMME  
 
RESOLVED 
That EXECUTIVE CABINET be RECOMMENDED to note the report and the following be 
added to the approved Council Capital Programme: 
(i) The Corporate Landlord Statutory Compliance capital expenditure for the period 

identified in Appendix 4 of £28,956.16. 
(ii) That additional budget of £0.060m be allocated to the former Two Trees school site 

clearance scheme to remove previously undiscovered asbestos.  The contingent 
budget to be financed by the approved capital programme. 

 
EDUCATION CAPITAL PROGRAMME  
 
RESOLVED 
That EXECUTIVE CABINET be RECOMMENDED to note the progress set out in the report and 
approve the following: 
(i) That the 2020/21 Capital Expenditure Outturn position is noted in Appendix 1, 2 and 3. 

Page 12



(ii) Budget slippage of (£220,405) and proposed changes of £14,843,100 to the Basic Need 
Funding as detail in Appendix 1.  

(iii) Budget slippage of £657,755 and proposed changes of £1,516,150 to the School 
Condition Funding as detail in Appendix 2.  

(iv) Budget slippage of £176,342 to the Special Provision Funding as detail in Appendix 3. 
(v) Budget slippage of £134,000 to the Healthy Pupil’s Funding as detail in Appendix 4. 
 
and note that a further report will be drafted to Cabinet to consider: 
(vi) Approval for £264,244 of Devolved Formula Capital grant to be added to the Capital 

Programme for 2021/22 
(vii) Approval of £1,328,013 of School Condition grant to be added to the Capital 

Programme for 2021/22. 
(viii) Approval of £1,223,336 of High Need Provision grant to be added to the Capital 

Programme for 2021/22.  
(ix) Approval of £12,231,816 of Basic Need grant to be added to the Capital Programme for 

2021/22. 
(x) Approval of £6,348,338 of Basic Need grant to be added to the Capital Programme for 

2022/23. 
 
LEISURE ASSETS CAPITAL INVESTMENT PROGRAMME UPDATE  
 
RESOLVED 
That EXECTUVE CABINET be RECOMMENDED to note the report and that future updates of 
the Leisure Assets Capital Investment Programme with any further updates be included in 
the Growth Update report. 
 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME - OPERATIONS AND NEIGHBOURHOODS (MAY 2021) 
 
RESOLVED 
That EXECUTIVE CABINET be RECOMMENDED to note the following: 
(i) The progress with regards to the Tameside Asset Management Plan (TAMP) and the 

Highways Maintenance Programme completed in 2020/2021.  The commencement of 
the works programme was revised due to Covid 19. 

(ii) The progress with regards to Flooding: Flood Prevention and Consequential Repairs.  
(iii) The progress with regard to the Slope Stability Programme and potential additional 

works required. 
(iv) The progress with regards to the Cemetery Boundary Walls Programme. 
(v) The progress with regards to the replacement of Cremators and Mercury Abatement, 

Filtration Plant and Heat Recovery Facilities. 
(vi) The progress of capital schemes in section 2.14-2.23, and external grant schemes in 

section 3 and 4. 
(vii) The progress being made to secure external grant funding in order to deliver a number 

of walking and cycling infrastructure schemes as set out in section 3 and the 
requirement to undertake consultation on a number of schemes being developed. 

 
And EXECUTIVE CABINET be RECOMMENDED to approve: 
(viii) The addition of £0.687m to the Council’s 2021/22 Capital   Programme for the Full 

Delivery and Activation costs for the Mayor’s Challenge Fund schemes at Chadwick 
Dam, Ashton / Stalybridge and Hill Street, Ashton as set out in section 3.7. 

(ix) The re-phasing of the Mayor’s Challenge Fund Walking and Cycling schemes as set 
out in Appendix 1. 

(x) Subject to GMCA approval on 25 June 2021, £2.415m Highways grant funding be added 
to the Council’s 2021-22 capital programme and £1.500m Pothole and Challenge 
funding of the same grant be added to the 2021-22 Operations and Neighbourhood’s 
directorate Highways revenue budget as set out in section 4.12. 

(xi) To approve the expenditure of up to £0.400m from the approved project contingency 
budget to undertake urgent repair works to the steeple at Dukinfield Crematorium.   In 

Page 13



addition, undertake further detailed surveys of the steeple and roof to establish a 
scheme of restoration to be procured through the LEP.  The cost of the surveys to be 
met from the £0.400m contingent budget as set out in section 2.13.  Additional works 
to the steeple and roof will be subject to separate approval by Members 

 
 
24. ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE EMERGENCY WORKING GROUP 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Environment and Climate Emergency Working Group 
held on 16 June 2021 be noted. 
 
 
25. 2021/22 INTEGRATED FINANCE REPORT MONTH 2 
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member of Finance and Economic Growth / 
Lead Clinical GP / Director of Finance.  The report covered the Month 2 2021/22 financial position, 
reflecting actual expenditure to 31 May 2021. 
 
It was reported that at Period 2, the Council was forecasting an overspend against budget of £5.8m.  
Children's Services were still the biggest area of financial concern, with expenditure forecast to 
exceed budget by £4.717m.  The overspend was predominantly due to the number and cost of 
external placements.  There was also a pressure of £198k in the Growth Directorate, resulting from 
a shortfall in customer and client receipts.  A pressure of £891k had been reported for Operations 
and Neighbourhoods due to a combination of additional costs and non-recovery of income, including 
an income shortfall on car parks. 
 
It was further reported that CCG was reporting an overspend of £194k, this related to reimbursable 
Covid expenses for which a future allocation should be received.  A financial envelope for the first 6 
months of the year had been agreed at a Greater Manchester level, from which the CCG had been 
allocated £221.3m of resource.  It was not yet clear what the financial regime would look like in the 
second half of the year.   As such it was difficult to estimate what the full year allocation would 
ultimately become. 
 
Members were advised that the Council had recently received notification of grant allocations for 
Capital Investment in Schools.  Members were asked to note the Education Capital Grants and 
approve the inclusion of these amounts on the Capital Programme for the financial years 2021/22 
and 2022/23, as follows: 

 £264,244 of Devolved Formula Capital grant for 2021/22 

 £1,328,013 of School Condition grant for 2021/22 

 £1,223,336 of High Needs Provision Capital grant for 2021/22. 

 £12,231,816 of Basic Need grant for 2021/22 

 £6,348,338 of Basic Need grant for 2022/23.   
 
RESOLVED 
(i) That the forecast outturn position and associated risks for 2021/22 as set out in 

Appendix 1 to report, be noted;   
(ii) That the indicative 2021-22 Integrated Commissioning Fund be approved and the roll 

forward of the existing Section 75 Agreement and Financial Framework which has 
been to reflect the transition year of the CCG, be agreed; and 

(iii) That the recent notifications of Education Capital Grants be noted and the inclusion of 
the amounts set out in paragraph 4.1 on the Capital Programme for the financial years 
2021/22 and 2022/23, be approved. 

 
 
 
 

Page 14



26. ENGAGEMENT UPDATE 
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Leader / T&G CCG Co-chairs / Assistant 
Director for Policy, Performance and Communications, providing an update on the delivery of 
engagement and consultation activity in 2020/21. 
 
It was stated that much of the Engagement work had been undertaken jointly, coordinated through 
the Tameside and Glossop Partnership Engagement Network (PEN) – by NHS Tameside and 
Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group, Tameside Council and Tameside and Glossop Integrated 
Care NHS Foundation Trust.  Each of the three agencies undertook work individually where 
necessary and appropriate for the purposes of specific projects.   
 
It was further explained that the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic had also meant that different ways 
to engage local communities had to be identified.  The report sets out some examples of the ways 
in which this had been achieved, including the establishment of both the Community Champions 
programme and the Inequalities Reference Group. 
 
The Assistant Director Policy, Performance and Communications highlighted the key headlines from 
June 2020 to date: 

 Facilitated 32 thematic Tameside and/or Glossop engagement projects 

 Received 4,186 engagement contacts (excluding attendance at virtual events)  

 Supported 27 engagement projects at the regional and Greater Manchester level 

 Promoted 33 national consultations where the topic was of relevance to and/or could have 
an impact on Tameside and/or Glossop 

 Established the Community Champions Network to provide residents and workforces with 
the coronavirus information they need to lead the way in their community, with over 250 
members now registered 

 Established the Tameside & Glossop Inequalities Reference Group in response to how the 
coronavirus pandemic, and the wider governmental and societal response to this, has 
brought equalities (and indeed inequalities) into sharp focus 

 Delivered two virtual Partnership Engagement Network (PEN) conferences attended by over 
150 delegates in total 

 Delivered four virtual Partnership Engagement Network sessions focusing on the impact of 
COVID-19 and how we can build back better. These were attended by over 50 participants.  

 Held a virtual engagement session with young people to understand the impact of the 
pandemic on them and how they feel things can be done differently in the future.  

 Undertook the third joint budget conversation exercise for Tameside Council and NHS 
Tameside and Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Achieved ‘Green Star’ top rating for public and patient engagement as part of the CCG 
Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF). Tameside and Glossop CCG attained the 
highest score possible, one of only 40 out of 195 areas in the country to do so * 

 
RESOLVED 
That the content of the report be noted and future engagement and consultation activity with 
the communities of Tameside and Glossop, as detailed in the report, be supported. 
 
 
27. PROPOSALS FOR THE USE OF THE RING-FENCED GRANT TO HELP THOSE WITH 

OBESITY TO LOSE WEIGHT 
 
Consideration was given to report of the Executive Member for Adult Social Care and Population 
Health / Clinical Lead for Long Term Conditions / Assistant Director of Population Health, outlining 
the proposals to spend the £209,741 provided to Tameside Council as part of the Government’s 
Adult Weight Management Tier 2 services grant fund 2021/22.  The report also provided information 
on a recent bid to expand weight management services for children and families. 
 

Page 15



It was reported that the investment was one-off funding in the financial year 2021/22.  Following 
advice received from STAR procurement, it was proposed that the Be Well tier 2 service expansion 
be delivered via a contract variation with Pennine Care NHS Trust.  Further, it was proposed that 
Active Tameside should be awarded a grant to expand the tier 2 Live Active provision, this was 
allowed within the terms of the grant.   
 
It was explained that Be Well Tameside provided the current self-referral tier 2 weight management 
service.  The grant funding would be used to increase the 1:1 support they provided for people in 
the community.   
 
Members were advised that, based on the grant criteria, Tameside Council had submitted an 
application of £153,468 to support healthy weight in children and families via extended brief 
intervention and Tier 2 weight management services. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the content of the report be noted and the proposals outlined in the report be agreed. 
 
 
28. PERFORMANCE SCORECARD 
 
A report was submitted by the Assistant Director, Policy, Performance and Communications, giving 
details of the Corporate Plan scorecard, as attached to the report, which provided evidence to 
demonstrate progress towards the achievement of the Corporate Plan and improving the services 
provided to residents, businesses and key stakeholders within the locality.   
 
It was explained that, supporting the corporate scorecards were thematic scorecards which were 
monitored by services to inform their ongoing delivery and improvement work.  The thematic 
scorecards were: 

 Corporate 

 Health and care (incl. adult care) 

 Children and family  

 Inclusive economic growth (incl. planning and transport) 

 Community and culture 

 Environment and place 
 
It was noted that the Corporate Plan scorecard would be reported on a regular basis to the Overview 
Panel and the Strategic Commissioning Board / Executive Cabinet, and then subsequently to the 
two Scrutiny Panels to inform their work programmes. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the content of the scorecard, as attached to the report, be noted and reported on a 
regular basis to the Overview Panel and the two Scrutiny Panels – Place and External 
Relations; and Integrated Care and Wellbeing – to inform their work programmes. 
 
 
29. SAVINGS DELIVERY 2021/22 
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Finance and Economic Growth / 
Director of Finance, which provided Members with an update on the savings monitoring exercise for 
delivery of 2021/22 savings, and highlighted any risks or delays to delivery.  
 
Members were reminded that if savings of £8.930m were delivered in 2021/22 and a further £4.921m 
of savings delivered in 2022/23, the Council still faced a forecast budget gap of more than £14m in 
2022/23.  It was therefore important that the Council embarked on early forward planning for 2022/23 
and beyond.  In order to meet the challenges of the 2022/23 financial year it was vital that all the 
proposed savings for 2021/22 be delivered. 
 

Page 16



It was stated that progress on the delivery of proposed savings as part of the 2021/22 budget process 
was being monitored on a monthly basis, with a proportion of schemes reviewed in detail at different 
points during the year.   

 
RESOLVED 
That the progress report and risk areas for delivery in 2021/22 and future years’ savings, be 
noted. 
 
 
30. REVIEW OF FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Finance and Economic Growth / 
Director of Finance.  The report sought approval of the updated Council’s Financial Regulations and 
Procedures.  
 
Members were advised that the revised format was intended to allow easy navigation of the 
regulations so that quick reference could be made and so that the reader could fully understand the 
importance and reason for the regulations in safeguarding the finances of the Council.  This should 
be particularly helpful to new officers to the Council.  The Financial Regulations and Procedures 
covered all areas of the financial management of the Council’s affair.  The updated Financial 
Regulations were attached to the report at Appendix 1. 
 
RESOLVED 
That Executive Cabinet RECOMMENDS to Full Council: that the updated Financial 
Regulations and Procedures be approved and formally adopted by Full Council. 
 
 
31. COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2022-2023 
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Finance and Economic Growth / 
Assistant Director, Exchequer Services detailing the procedural requirement in deciding if changes 
were required to the Council Tax Support scheme (CTS). 
 
Members were advised that additional monies were made available to all Local Authorities by 
MHCLG in April 2020 in response to the COVID 19 pandemic.  The additional monies had to be used 
primarily on reducing CTS claimants Council Tax liability by £150 for the 2020/2021 financial year 
with remaining monies supporting Council Tax payers suffering hardship.  In total £2m assisted 
12,691 all working age CTS claimants and £344k supported non-CTS claimants with a Council Tax 
liability.    
 
Further additional monies had been made available in the current financial year by MHCLG in 
respect of COVID and which could be used towards Council Tax Support for 2021/22.  The total 
monies for Tameside were £2.025m.  Unlike last year there was no clear stipulation on how this 
money had to be used however, guidance stated that the money was aimed directly at supporting 
councils to meet the anticipated additional costs of providing Local Council Tax support in 2021-22, 
resulting from increased unemployment”.   
 
Members were further advised that caseloads fluctuated throughout the year and on a daily basis 
and last year a total of 12,691 claimants of CTS at some point in the year benefitted from the 
reduction.  The report detailed matters that had to be taken into consideration in terms of how the 
grant monies could be best used in the context of a potential shortfall on the Council Tax collection 
fund at the end of the year. 
 
It was explained that there was a need to balance the needs of those already claiming CTS and 
managing to pay and those who were just above the CTS threshold and in financial difficulty.  There 
was generally less overall cost to the Councils budget to support such claimants by the award a one 
off Section 13a Hardship Policy payment than to claim CTS longer term.   

Page 17



A number of options had been considered and £1,012,500m grant monies was proposed to be used 
to directly support Council Tax Support claimants and financially vulnerable households as follows: 
 

Claimant support Cost Notes 

£50 awarded to each 
CTS claimant 

634k £378k remaining for further new claims and hardship cases 
under Section 13a Hardship Policy 

 
The above struck the balance between benefitting existing and new Council Tax Support claimants 
and those just above the threshold and were experiencing significant financial hardship and unable 
to pay Council Tax.  The remaining £1.012m grant money would contribute to the overall Council 
budget and which may be used to offset a shortfall in Council Tax collection. 
 
RESOLVED 
(i) That the Council Tax Support scheme for 2022/23 in principle remains the same 

scheme as that set effective from April 2019, subject to annual benefit uprating as 
detailed in the scheme and any further guidance which may be issued by MCHLG; 
and 

(ii) That the Local Council Tax Support grant monies for 2021/22 be used to award £50 
to each existing and new Council Tax Support claimant, subject to the conditions set 
out in Section 3.16 of the report, with remaining monies supporting hardship cases 
considered on a case by case basis under Section 13a Hardship Policy. 

 
At this juncture, Councillor Gwynne left the meeting during consideration of the following item of 
business, having declared a prejudicial interest, and took no part in the discussion nor decision 
thereon. 
 
 
32. FOSTER CARERS OFFER UPDATE AND IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Deputy Executive Leader / Assistant Director for Children’s 
Services providing a detailed review of the Foster Carer Offer that was a commissioned piece of 
work as part of the 7 Looked after Children sustainability projects.   
 
Members were advised that in house foster care was widely recognised to provide the best option 
for the majority of children who required care from their Local Authority.  It enabled children to remain 
local to their family, friends, home community and services such as schools and health and 
represented by far the best value for money, at significantly less than half the cost per placement 
when compared to independent (private) fostering providers. 
 
It was explained that unfortunately over recent years the fostering service had not been given the 
attention required in order to grow its size or maintain or improve its performance and as a result the 
proportion of the cared for children who were placed with Independent Fostering Agencies (IFAs) 
had grown disproportionately and was now at close to 50%.  The ambition of the investment 
proposal, which sat alongside an ambitious three year recruitment strategy, was to make it more 
attractive to become an in-house foster carer for Tameside Council, helping to ensure that children 
were able to be placed with local foster carers wherever possible by initially stabilising the fostering 
cohort and then to expand.  To do nothing would most likely lead to further reductions in capacity 
and an increased reliance on IFAs, children being more often placed out of Borough and the 
associated increased costs of both.     
 
It was explained that it had to be recognised that the Council were operating in an increasingly 
difficult context in terms of recruiting and retaining foster carers, as Local Authorities and IFAs 
competed for a largely finite resource of individuals who wished to foster against a nationally 
increasing number of children who required these placements.  Whilst it was recognised the Council 
could not compete like for like with independent fostering agencies in terms of fees paid, there could 
be better rates when compared to other Local Authorities and to compete with IFAs for those families 
who wanted to foster locally but for whom the difference in rates currently made it unaffordable.  The 

Page 18



ambition was to eventually realign the figures from a 50/50 split figures to the optimum provision of 
85% in-house fostering placement capacity. 
 
It was reported that a financial uplift in level 2 skills payments of £30 per week per child would shift 
Tameside into the top half of GM median entry level skill payments to approved foster carers and to 
Increase Level 3 skill payments by 10% (£15 per week per child).  This would also apply to the 
existing foster carers giving a much better chance of retaining those carers.  The estimated costs of 
this uplift alongside a number of other improvements foster carers had told us would make Tameside 
a more attractive recruiter, the proposed investment for the revised fostering offer is £686,072.  It 
was highlighted that in order to cover the increased costs of in house fostering allowances a transfer 
of 27 children from the Independent Fostering Agencies into in-house fostering care would cover the 
increased costs represented in this proposal, or 3 children from residential care into in-house 
fostering at the average cost. 
 
Members were further advised that there would also be a corresponding increase in payments to 
Special Guardianship Order (Special Guardianship) carers as a result of the Councils non-detriment 
policy, for foster carers who converted to Special Guardianship carer’s.  This was estimated to be 
£475,800.  Therefore the total cost of this initiative was £1,161,872.  The cost in the current year 
was recommended to be financed from the central contingency provision.   
 
RESOLVED 
(i) That the proposals for the foster carer offer be approved for consultation as set out in 

the report; 
(ii) That prior to any final decision being made as to the Foster Care Offer an 

implementation delivery plan be presented to Cabinet together with the consultation 
feedback and an equality impact assessment; and 

(iii) The cost in the current year be financed from the central contingency provision. 
 
 
33. WELCOME BACK FUNDING ALLOCATION 
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Finance and Economic Growth / 
Director of Growth / Assistant Director of Investment, Development and Housing seeking approval to 
sign the Grand Funding Agreement, manage the programme of work and procure in line with criteria 
and procurement rules, state aid and the council’s standing orders, items up to but not exceeding the 
allocation of £200,741. 
 
Members were advised that the Welcome Back Fund allocation was designed to follow on and back 
up the work already carried out under RHSF and help Build Back Better from the pandemic.  The 
funding built on the Reopening High Street Safely Fund (RHSSF) allocated to councils on 1 June 
2020.  It formed part of wider support government was providing to communities and businesses with 
the aim of protecting jobs, supporting the most vulnerable businesses and people in the community. 
 
The Welcome Back Fund would enable the Council to put in place additional measures to create and 
promote a safe environment for local trade and tourism, particularly in high streets as their economies 
reopened and began to welcome back visitors.  The impact of Covid-19 on the local economy had 
been significant and the fund could therefore be used for the Council to develop action plans for 
responding to these impacts. 
 
A Grant Activity Plan (GAP) would be required which would enable the CLGU to sense check the work 
for eligibility and gave CLGU an idea of the type of activities, from the draft action plans, that would 
being undertaken.  The main aim was to ensure eligibility of the expenditure submitted in subsequent 
grant claims.  The GAP would be used to form the amended Grant Funding Agreement.   
 
RESOLVED 
It be agreed: 
(i) The Draft Grant Action Plan at Appendix 1 to the report; 

Page 19



(ii) Any necessary funding variances on the activity detailed in the Draft Grant Action Plan 
(Appendix 1), within the funding envelope of £0.201m (together with any remaining 
balance of the £0.210m Reopening the High Street Safely Funding) to ensure all the 
funding is spent by 31 March 2022; 

(iii) In principle entering into the grant funding agreement subject to the necessary due 
diligence being undertaken in advance;  

(iv) Entering into the necessary contracts to deliver the works detailed in the Draft Grant 
Action Plan (Appendix 1); 

(v) That it is agreed expenditure on some projects will initially be funded from 2021/22 
Operations & Neighbourhoods revenue budget and retrospectively claimed via the 
grant once the Grant Funding Agreement is signed; and 

(vi) That delivery against the grant funding obligations/milestones is reflected in the 
monthly financial reporting arrangements. 

 
 
34. PERMANENTLY EXCLUDED YOUNG PEOPLE AT RISK OF NEET 
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Lifelong Learning, Equalities, 
Culture and Heritage / Director of Education, explaining the exacerbated risk of a cohort of young 
people becoming Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) and set out the proposed 
support programme developed by Education, Growth and Policy. 
 
Members were advised that Young people in Alternative Provision (AP) to mainstream education 
were often at higher risk of becoming NEET (Not in Education, Employment or Training).  The impact 
of COVID and lockdown periods on attendance had exacerbated this risk.  As at May 2021 12.2% 
of Tameside young people aged 16-24 years were claiming out of work benefit, according to the 
Office of National Statistics, this show an increase of 7.2% from April 2018 and highlighted the 
significant impact of the pandemic.  This was above the Northwest average of 9.4% and national 
rate of 8.3%.   It was explained that a group of 46 young people both with a Social Worker and on 
roll in AP had been highlighted as presenting a significantly high risk due to poor/non-attendance.  
22 of these young people were Looked After Children.  It was further explained that 25 of these 
young people were in Year 11 presenting a short time period to engage and move into education, 
apprenticeship or employment. 
 
It was explained that funding was needed to create the support programme for the 25 identified 
young people in Year 11 at risk of NEET.  Members were advised that whilst not all would have 
employment as their preferred route this was costed at the maximum to ensure all were able to 
access this route should they wish to do so.  Remaining funding could be utilised to support other 
young people including a focus on the Leaving Care cohort.  Total funding requested was £285,880 
to allow National Living Wage (NLW), based on previous YES placements for 16-24 year olds the 
average payment per 6 month period was £6,000 which could create an underspend of £58,500 or 
the opportunity to create additional job roles for other NEET or at risk of NEET young people 
 
RESOLVED 
(i) That a Budget allocation of a maximum of  £285,880 from the COVID budget to support 

this programme, be approved;  
(ii) That it be noted that this initial project would act as a proof of concept for future 

support to those young people who had been permanently excluded from mainstream 
education.  Further reports would be prepared for Cabinet to measure the success to 
date and consider the longer-term proposals following the timetable shown. 

 
 
35. PLACES FOR EVERYONE 
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Housing, Planning and Employment 
/ Director of Growth / Interim Assistant Director of Planning, which sought approval to publish the 
Places for Everyone (PfE) Publication Plan 2021 and recommended that Full Council approve the 

Page 20



submission of PfE to the Secretary of State following the period of public consultation.  The report also 
sought delegation to make minor or non-material amendments to the plan and background documents 
prior to publication for consultation and recommended the publication of an updated Local 
Development Scheme (LDS). 
 
Members were advised that in 2014, the Council resolved to work collaboratively with those in Greater 
Manchester to prepare jointly a strategic planning document for the city region, the GMSF.  It was 
explained that while recent decisions meant this was now a joint plan of nine boroughs, Places for 
Everyone 2021 was considered to have substantially the same effect as GMSF 2020, as previously 
presented to Members for consideration.  It was proposed, therefore, to proceed to publish the plan 
at the next consultation stage, which represented a move towards the culmination of the plan making 
process, prior to submission to the Secretary of State for independent examination.  

 
The plan, alongside thematic policy content, identified three strategic sites in Tameside for growth and 
twelve sites for further protection as additions to the designated Green Belt.  Alongside this, it also 
sought to provide the borough with an up to date housing target, the strategic context for the borough’s 
Local Plan and updated development management policies to be used in the determination of planning 
applications.   
 
RESOLVED 
It was noted that on the 20 July 2021 the Council had approved the submission of the Places 
for Everyone Publication Plan 2021 to the Secretary of State for independent examination 
following the period for representations and : 
(i) Approved Publication of the Places for Everyone Publication Plan 2021, including 

strategic site allocations and green belt boundary amendments, and reference to the 
potential use of compulsory purchase powers to assist with site assembly, and the 
supporting background documents, pursuant to Regulation 19 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 for a period for representations of 
8 weeks, commencing no earlier than 9 August 2021; 

(ii) Authorised the Director of Growth, in consultation with the Executive Member (Housing, 
Planning and Employment), to approve relevant Statement of Common Ground(s) 
required on this and other planning matters, pursuant to the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019;  

(iii) Delegated authority to the GMCA Portfolio Lead Chief Executive, for Housing, 
Homelessness & Infrastructure, in consultation with the GMCA Portfolio Leader for 
Housing, Homelessness & Infrastructure, to agree any minor amendments or non-
material amendments to the Places for Everyone Publication Plan 2021 and background 
documents prior to the consultation beginning; and 

(iv) Approved the updated timetable for the production of the Places for Everyone 
Publication Plan 2021, as presented to and agreed by the Joint committee, and Tameside 
Local Plan by publishing and bringing into effect in accordance with the date of this 
decision the updated Local Development Scheme (LDS) as at Appendix 1 to the report.   

 
 
36. FORMER HATTERSLEY DISTRICT CENTRE 
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Finance and Economic Growth / 
Director of Growth, which proposed the disposal of Council owned land in Hattersley to Onwards 
Homes Ltd to facilitate a wider development scheme. 
 
It was explained that Onward Homes owned adjoining land which would be included in the 
development.  The disposal would enable Onward to develop the site via £28m of external funding. 
 
It was stated that the overall scheme would be unviable without the inclusion of the Council land. 
Supporting the proposals would generate much needed inward investment to this area of the 
community. 
 

Page 21



It was further explained that the purchase price would be £1 (one pound); with a separate overage 
provision of £350,000 benefitting the Council, in the event of future disposals of properties identified 
within the overall development. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the disposal of the Freehold interest in the land areas, which includes the Hattersley 
District centre shaded green and blue on the drawing 18-012/02 attached to the report at 
Appendix 1 for £1, be approved, subject to an overage provision in favour of the Council of 
£350,000 together with a contractual obligation for the Council to receive Nomination Rights 
in respect of a completed development for less than the best price reasonably obtainable on 
the basis it will promote or improve the economic, social or environmental well-being of the 
Borough. 
 
 
37. GM CLEAN AIR FINAL PLAN 
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Neighbourhoods, Community 
Safety and Environment / Director of Operations and Neighbourhoods setting out the proposed 
Greater Manchester Final Clean Air Plan and policy following a review of all of the information 
gathered through the GM CAP consultation and wider data, evidence and modelling work which was 
to be agreed by the ten Greater Manchester local authorities.   
 
It was reported that the proposed final GM CAP policy, which was summarised in the report, was 
attached at Appendix 1.  In relation to the Clean Air Zone (CAZ), it covered the operation and 
management of the GM CAZ.  The anticipated implementation date of the charging CAZ was Monday 
30 May 2022 when the charges would apply to non-compliant buses, HGVs, and Hackney Carriages 
and Private Hire Vehicles licensed outside of Greater Manchester.   Non-compliant LGVs, minibuses 
and coaches, and GM-licensed Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles would be subject to 
the charges from 1 June 2023 when a temporary exemption expired.    
 
It was explained that feedback from the consultation and consideration of the impact of COVID-19 
on Greater Manchester had been used to better understand the requirements of those businesses, 
individuals and organisations who most needed the support to upgrade.  It was therefore proposed 
to amend the support funds from those consulted upon.    The final proposed policy increased the 
funding per vehicle for Private Hire Vehicles, coaches, HGVs and vans whilst remaining the same 
for other vehicle types.  There were also more options for replacement and retrofit for hackney 
carriages, PHVs, minibuses and vans. 
 
RESOLVED 
1. That the progress of the Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan be noted; 
2. That the progress in the distribution of Bus Retrofit funding be noted; 
3. That Ministers’ agreement to include the sections of the A628/A57 in Tameside which form 

part of the Strategic Road Network within the Greater Manchester’s Clean Air Zone (CAZ) 
and their request for Tameside MBC, TfGM and Highways England to establish the most 
appropriate solution for the charging mechanism to be applied on this section of the 
Strategic Road Network (SRN), be noted; 

4. That the GM Clean Air Plan Policy, at Appendix 1 to the report, be approved, noting that 
the policy outlines the boundary, discounts, exemptions, daily charges of the Clean Air 
Zone as well as the financial support packages offered towards upgrading to a compliant 
vehicle, including the eligibility criteria to be applied. 

5. That the Equalities Impact Assessment, as set out at Appendix 2 to the report, be agreed; 
6. That the AECOM Consultation Report, as set out at Appendix 3 to the report, be agreed; 
7. That the proposed Response to the Consultation at Appendix 4 to the report, which has 

been prepared by TfGM on behalf of the ten GM local authorities, be agreed; 
8. That the Impacts of COVID-19 Report, as set out at Appendix 5 to the report, be agreed; 
9. That the Modelling report of the final CAP package, as set out at Appendix 6 to the report, 

be agreed, and in particular that the modelling outputs of the final plan scheme show the 

Page 22



achievement of compliance with the legal limits for Nitrogen Dioxide in the shortest 
possible time and by 2024 at the latest as required by the Ministerial Direction; 

10. That the economic implications of the CAP Report, as set out at Appendix 7 to the report, 
be agreed; 

11. That the update on the GM Minimum Licensing Standards, set out in section 3.1 of the 
report, be noted, and in particular that licensing conditions will not be used to support 
delivery of the GM Clean Air Plan; 

12. That a 6-week public consultation on the inclusion of motorhomes classified as MSP1 in 
the GM Clean Air Zone and on the inclusion of the A575 and A580 at Worsley commencing 
on 1 September 2021 and delegate authority to the Executive Member (Neighbourhoods, 
Community Safety and Environment) to approve the consultation materials, be approved; 

13. It be noted that the GM Clean Air Charging Authorities Committee has the authority to 
make the Charging Scheme Order which establishes the GM Charging Scheme in line with 
the agreed GM Clean Air Plan Policy; 

14. It be noted that the GM Charging Authorities Committee has the authority to vary the 
Charging Scheme Order if this is established as the most appropriate charging 
mechanism to be applied on sections of the A628/A57 part of the Strategic Road Network 
(SRN) in Tameside; 

15. It be noted that the Air Quality Administration Committee has the authority to agree the 
final form of the Operational Agreement for the Central Clean Air Service, and to authorise 
the making of the Agreement, on behalf of the ten GM local authorities; 

16. It be noted that the Air Quality Administration Committee has the authority to: 
(a) establish and distribute the funds set out in the agreed GM Clean Air Plan policy; 
(b) approve the assessment mechanism agreed with JAQU to ensure that Clean Air 

Funds can be adapted if necessary; 
(c) keep the use of the funds under review and to determine any changes in the amounts 

allocated to each and their use and 
(d) Monitor and evaluate the joint local charging scheme. 

17. That the reallocation of funding from the Try Before You Buy scheme to provide additional 
electric vehicle charging points dedicated for use by taxis, be approved; 

18. That authority be delegated to the GM Charging Authorities Committee to determine the 
outcome of the consultation on both the inclusion of motorhomes classified as MSP1 
within the scope of Clean Air Zone charges and on the inclusion in the GM Clean Air Zone 
of the A575 and A580 at Worsley following the conclusion of that consultation; 

19. That the Clean Air Zone ANPR and signage locations, as set out at Appendix 10 to the 
report, be agreed; 

20. That delegation be given to the Director of Operations and Neighbourhoods to approve 
the submission of the Interim Full Business Case if required and Executive Member 
(Neighbourhoods, Community Safety and Environment) the Full Business Case (FBC) to 
the Government's Joint Air Quality Unit to support the GM Clean Air Plan and any 
supplementary information to that Unit. 

 
 
38. A REVIEW OF WASTE SERVICES 
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Neighbourhoods, Community 
Safety and Environment / Director of Operations and Neighbourhoods.  The report proposed a pilot 
scheme to evaluate the viability of adjusting the collections frequency of the paper and cardboard 
and co-mingled recycling bins from two weekly to three weekly.  
 
The report provided a detailed plan of the pilot scheme and corresponding consultation process and 
to seek approval for its commencement.  
 
The Director of Operations and Neighbourhoods advised Members that the pilot areas had been 
chosen as they will provide invaluable information due to the varied housing stock, illustrative of the 
borough, and varied population demographics.  Residents would be engaged in the process by way 
of a public consultation and by the services following a detailed Communications Plan.   

Page 23



It was explained that both the operational results from the pilot areas and the feedback from the 
consultation process would be evaluated to inform the suitability of a wider rollout of the scheme.  A 
further report detailing these findings would be presented for the consideration of Members at a later 
date. 
 
The report further outlined the proposal to charge for all wheeled bins and provided details of why 
that was proposed and what steps were being taken to mitigate against any hardship this could 
potentially cause.  Exemptions to the proposed charges were also provided. 
 
Discussion ensued with regard to the proposals and Members suggested that, given the size of the 
sample areas and types of properties/bin service provided, Richmond Park, Dukinfield be removed 
from the pilot scheme. 

 
RESOLVED 
(i) That the following areas for the pilot scheme be approved: 

 Ridge Hill – Stalybridge 

 Hyde Central – Hyde 

 Haughton Green – Denton 
The collections frequency of the paper and cardboard (blue) and co-mingled (black) 
recycling bins in these areas will be adjusted from two weekly to three weekly 
collections for a duration of 12 weeks.  The impact and viability of the trial will then be 
reviewed; 

(ii) It be noted that a future report evaluating the pilot scheme’s suitability for a wider rollout 
across the borough will be presented to Members at a later date; and 

(iii) That the commencement of a consultation process be approved, that will run in parallel 
with the 12 week trial pilot period; to review the wider Waste Services offer to residents, 
via the Waste Policy and Enforcement Strategy, which includes the charging for all 
wheeled bins and the potential collection frequency change for blue and black bins 
across the borough. 

 
 
39. SEND CAPACITY RECOVERY PROPOSAL 
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Director of Education Tameside and Stockport providing 
an overview of the demands on Tameside’s Statutory Assessment team and a request for additional 
capacity, to mitigate the risks this posed.   
 
Members were advised that Tameside maintained 1780 Education Health and Care Plans (EHCPs). 
The number of plans maintained had been rising steadily since 2017.  The number of EHCPs in 
Tameside had more than doubled since 2017, when the Local Authority maintained 828 plans.  
Tameside was now in line with statistical neighbours. The Director of Education explained that it 
would be confidently concluded that the growth in EHCP’s was appropriate and necessary.  
However, increased and continuing growth in this area could present a significant financial risk to 
the authority 
 
It was further explained that whilst a short term investment would not provide a sustainable long term 
solution, it would address the most pressing immediate issues of statutory compliance and 
increasing costs.  A long term solution to these capacity challenges would be investigated as part of 
the transformation and collaboration work with Stockport MBC.  This was proposed as it would afford 
time to ensure that opportunities for economies of scale were maximised and to assess the actual 
level of future demand, as recent intelligence showed that requests for new assessments were 
slowing down.  By 2023-4 it was projected that the number of assessment requests would have 
dropped significantly, allowing more capacity within the team to manage and respond to other 
demands.  
 
RESOLVED 
That the capacity challenges currently experienced by the SEND team be noted and the 

Page 24



proposal to make a short term investment to support increased staffing at an estimated cost 
of £280,091, be agreed, to be funded by the Education Reserve. 
 
 
40. AMENDMENTS TO SCHOOL ADMISSION ARRANGMENTS FOR COMMUNITY AND 

VOLUNTARY CONTROLLED SCHOOLS 
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Lifelong Learning, Equalities, 
Culture and Heritage / Director of Children’s Services, which detailed the determination following a 
referral to the School Adjudicator and the implications for the school admission arrangements for 
community and voluntary schools.   
 
Members were advised that the admission arrangements for community and voluntary controlled 
schools were determined on an annual basis and the Executive Cabinet last considered them at the 
January 2021 meeting for admission in September 2022.  Subsequent to that meeting and following 
school budget planning, the Council was approached by Buckton Vale Primary School who were 
making plans to avoid a potential budget deficit that was being projected for future years due to 
falling numbers coming into the school. 
 
It was explained that, in order to address the issue of a potential future funding gap, the school 
requested that the published admission number be reduced to 30 from September 2022.  This was 
supported to avoid the potential for significant budget deficit in future years. 
 
Members were further advised that as part of the process of considering the proposal, the School 
Adjudicator reviewed the council’s guidance in relation to schools admissions and raised a number 
of issues, set out in this report for the council to address to ensure that its admission arrangements 
were as clear as possible as required under the School Admission Code.   
 
The amendments proposed in this report were intended to address those issues to ensure that the 
process is as clear as it can be for those seeking admission for children. It also ensures that the 
council has confidence in its processes which were fair and robust against potential challenge.    
 
It was reported that the Department for Education has notified admission authorities that there would 
be a new School Admissions Code from September 2021 subject to parliamentary approval.  All 
admission authorities were required to amend their admission arrangements to comply with the new 
mandatory elements of the Code.  The report set out the amendments that had been made to the 
in-year transfer section of the admission arrangements.  
 
RESOLVED 
That the admission arrangements for Tameside primary, junior and secondary community 
and voluntary controlled schools be amended as set out in Appendices 2, 3 and 4 to the 
report, be approved. 
 
 
41. STALYBRIDGE CIVIC HALL ROOF REPLACEMENT 
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Finance and Economic Growth / 
Director for Growth / Assistant Director for Strategic Property, providing an update on the status 
Stalybridge Civic Hall Roof project and sought approval for an additional budget of £1,138,721. 
Members were advised that following inspection of the site by Robertson surveyors and specialist 
contractors, a number of additional items had been identified and added to the scope of works and 
were subsequently included in Robertson’s indicative price.  This included replacement of existing 
roof lights/ windows, replacement of the roof access and fall arrest systems which had deteriorated 
beyond safe reuse, and new cast iron guttering to two of the external slopes.   
 
Inclusive of the revised scope, the indicative price now stood at £1,697,671, Appendix 1 to the report 
detailed a breakdown of the indicative price.  It was explained that following approval the Council 

Page 25



would instruct the LEP to commence design and tendering work, confirm a programme and to submit 
a request for Listed Building Consent.   
 
RESOLVED 
That approval be given to an additional budget of £1,138,721 be allocated to the Stalybridge 
Civic Hall roof replacement project (Stalybridge High Street Heritage Action Zone scheme) 
and added to the approved capital programme. 
 
 
42. URGENT ITEMS 
 
The Chair reported that there were no urgent items for consideration at this meeting. 

 
 

CHAIR 

Page 26



EXECUTIVE CABINET 
25 August 2021 

 

Commenced: 2.05pm       Terminated: 2.30pm 

Present: Councillors Warrington (Chair), Bray, Cooney, Fairfoull, Kitchen and Wills 

In Attendance: Steven Pleasant 
Sandra Stewart 
Kathy Roe 
Richard Hancock 
Ian Saxon 
Jeanelle De Gruchy 
Jayne Traverse 
Debbie Watson 
Caroline Barlow 
Jordanna Rawlinson 
 

Chief Executive & Accountable Officer  
Director of Governance & Pensions 
Director of Finance 
Director of Children’s Services 
Director of Operations and Neighbourhoods 
Director of Population Health 
Director of Growth 
Assistant Director of Population Health 
Assistant Director of Finance 
Head of Communications 

Apologies for  
absence: 

Councillors Feeley and Gwynne 
Councillor Ryan – who participated in the meeting virtually 

 
43. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest submitted by Members. 
 
 
44. MINUTES OF EXECUTIVE CABINET 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Executive Cabinet meeting held on 28 July 2021 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 
 
45. MINUTES OF STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING BOARD 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Commissioning Board held on 28 July 2021 
be noted. 
 
 
46. MINUTES OF EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Minutes of the meetings of Executive Board held on: 14 July 2021 and 4 August 2021, 
be noted. 
 
 
47. CONSOLIDATED 2021/22 REVENUE MONITORING STATEMENT AT 30 JUNE 2021 
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Finance and Economic Growth / 
Lead Clinical GP / Director of Finance.  The report was the second financial monitoring report for the 
2021/22 financial year, reflecting actual expenditure to the 30 June 2021 and current forecasts to 
the 31 March 2022. 
 
Members were advised that at period 3, Council Budgets were facing significant pressures which 

Page 27



were not directly related to the Covid pandemic, with significant forecast overspends in Adults and 
Children’s Social Care being the main contributors to a net forecast overspend of £6.850m.  This 
position was, after taking account of forecast underspends in some areas, and additional Covid 
related income, in excess of forecast Covid costs.  There was an underlying forecast ‘Non-COVID’ 
deficit of £8.238m. 
 
It was reported that Children’s Social Care and Adults were the greatest areas of concern with 
forecast overspends of £5.678m (Children’s) and £2.234m (Adults).  Furthermore, the CCG was 
reporting an overspend of £519k, which related to reimbursable Covid expenses for which a future 
allocated increase should be received.  
 
Details were also provided of irrecoverable debts for the period 1 April 2021 to 30 June 2021 in an 
appendix to the report and an additional recommendation was sought for approval to write-off the 
irrecoverable debts as detailed. 
 
RESOLVED 
(i) That the forecast outturn position and associated risks for 2021/22 as set out in 

Appendix 1 and detail for Council budgets as set out in Appendix 2 of the report be 
noted; 

(ii) That the reserve transfers as set out on pages 27-28 of Appendix 2, be approved; and 
(iii) That the write off of irrecoverable debts for the period 1 April to 30 June 2021 as set out 

in Appendix 3 to the report, be approved. 
 
 
48. DOMESTIC ABUSE ACT FUNDING PROPOSAL 
 
The Executive Member, Adult Social Care and Health / Director of Population Health / Assistant 
Director of Operations and Neighbourhoods submitted a report setting out the commissioning 
intentions around domestic abuse services in Tameside in light of new funding available this year. 
 
It was explained that TMBC had been awarded a further £547,627 in grant funding to meet new 
duties under the Domestic Abuse Act 2021.  This funding must be spent during 2021/22 on ‘support 
within safe accommodation’ for victims of domestic abuse and their children and expenditure related 
with complying with the new duties.  
 
There was no advance notification of the amount the council was due to receive before this financial 
year and the funding was released under the stipulation that the money would be spent following the 
statutory domestic abuse needs assessment.  Therefore, the funding was not included in the 21/22 
budget.  The funding was recurrent and the grant determination for future years would follow the 
annual Spending Review. 
 
As a result, TMBC had £1,274,445 available to spend on domestic abuse in this financial year 
(2021/22).  Of this, £656,818 was already committed to providing the core commissioned offer, 
support in safe accommodation and outreach services.  
 
It was proposed that the remaining £617,627 was spent meeting gaps highlighted in the statutory 
needs assessment.  Primarily: 

 Better availability of support within Safe Accommodation 

 Workforce development, training and practice improvement 

 Developing a local perpetrator response 

 Piloting innovative approaches with Children and Young People that use violence 

 Outreach services in the community and health settings for victim-survivors of Domestic 
Abuse  

 System wide data improvement project to ensure we can discharge our duties under the 
Domestic Abuse Act 2021 
 

There would be a further spending proposal once the grant amount for 2022/23 was determined 

Page 28



pending the Spending Review in Autumn 2021. 
 
RESOLVED 
That domestic abuse spending in 2021/22 be approved as follows: 
 

Jointly commissioned Bridges contract  £                506,818  

Domestic Abuse Act grant funding (safe accommodation only)  £                547,627  

GMCA funding for Domestic Abuse roles  £                  70,000  

Covid-19 funds  £                  30,000  

Population Health and Children's Services CHIDVA funds  £                120,000  

Total 2021/22 funding for Domestic Abuse  £             1,274,445  

Funding committed 2021/22 to date 

Bridges contract - outreach   £                335,090  

Bridges contract - safe accommodation duty  £                291,728  

Covid-19 additional IDVA  £                  30,000  

Total 2021/22 committed for Domestic Abuse  £                656,818  

Total 2021/22 funds still available  £                617,627  

Proposed further spend 2021/22 

Support in safe accommodation  £                255,899  

Domestic Abuse transformation activity  £                291,728  

GMCA funded IDVA posts  £                 70,000 

Total 2021/22 proposed further spend for Domestic Abuse  £                617,627  

Total spend on Domestic Abuse 2021/22   £             1,274,445  
 

 
 
49. CIVIC EVENTS 2021  
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Lifelong Learning, Equalities, 
Culture and Heritage / Assistant Director of Operations and Neighbourhoods, which set out a vision 
for key events and activities in 2021. 
 
The civic events programme spanned a full 12 months of a calendar year and featured the key 
events:  Whit Friday Brass Band Contest, Armed Forces Day, Remembrance Services and Parades 
and the corporate lantern parade and town Christmas switch on events.   
 
It was stated that with an increased focus on the Council’s finances and the desire to continue to 
deliver events which were vibrant, safe and affordable the Events Panel had been created to oversee 
key civic events from Whit Friday Brass Band Contest, Armed Forces Day and Remembrance 
Services to the Borough’s flagship Christmas celebration and its Town Switch On events.  The Panel 
proposed that the civic event dates put forward in the report be noted and adopted. 
 
Further, the Panel wished for the proposed plans to deliver Remembrance Services and Parades in 
line with 2019 to be adopted whilst it was noted that should the pandemic cause last minute 
alterations these could need to be considered.  The report also included the proposed plans for the 
corporate 2021 Christmas celebrations.  Whilst this had traditionally taken place in Ashton, the Panel 
proposed that the event continued to tour in 2021 and take place in Hyde to honour the commitment 
made to Hyde in 2020 due to the ongoing landscaping of Ashton Market Square. 
 
RESOLVED 
(i) That the proposals relating to Town Christmas events 2021, as detailed in the report, be 

agreed; 

Page 29



(ii) That the proposal relating to Tameside’s Christmas Celebration event 2021, as detailed 
in the report, be agreed; 

(iii) That the plans for Summer Theatre, as detailed in the report, be noted; and 
(iv) That the considerations for Remembrance Sunday and the associated Services and 

Parades, as detailed in the report, be noted. 
 
 
50. THE COUNCIL’S SPORT AND LEISURE FACILITIES – FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY 

PROPOSALS 
 
The Executive Member, Neighbourhoods, Community Safety and Environment / Assistant Director 
of Population Health submitted a report which updated Members on progress of the first phase of a 
review of the Council’s Sport and Leisure assets and the financial sustainability of the provider Active 
Tameside. 
 
It was explained that the COVID-19 pandemic had a significant detrimental impact on Active 
Tameside.  Throughout 2020/21 enforced closure due to the pandemic meant that centres were 
open for business for only 40 out of a possible 52 weeks of the year.  This led to operational losses 
of £1million per month.  
 
Prior to COVID-19, several centres operated at a loss that was subsidised by profit making sites.  
This was a means of tackling health inequalities amongst the most disadvantaged and under-
represented communities.  Offering equitable access across the borough ensured that local, 
affordable provision was in place, irrespective of commerciality of the site, or the means of local 
people to participate. 
 
In a report presented to Executive Cabinet on 10 Feb 2021, approval was given to implement a 
public consultation from 12 Feb 2021 to 26 March 2021, to seek views on the initial proposals 
outlined in the report, in particular regarding the future use of Active Oxford Park, Adventure 
Longdendale and Active Etherow, to inform the Council’s future commissioning approach. 
Supporting information and demographic and facility information regarding the sites which 
accompanied the consultation was appended to the report at Appendix 1.  Executive Cabinet also 
recommended that a further review was carried out of all Sport and Leisure facilities in Tameside, 
including conditions surveys, aligned to the review of the Operational Estate and Portfolio of Council 
land and property holdings. 
 
The report shared the findings and analysis of the consultation, recommendations for operation of 
the buildings for the remaining financial year, and an update on the progress of the Sport and Leisure 
Asset Review included in the Councils Operational Estate and Portfolio review of Council land and 
property holdings, which is due to report to Executive Cabinet in Autumn 2021. 
 
The results of the public consultation and engagement supported community activity being delivered 
from the facilities in a sustainable way, with some suggestions on how that may be achieved, 
targeting those that needed the service most, whilst ensuring access for all. 
 
It was further explained that a review of the operational estate commenced in late 2020 and would 
conclude with the “Worksmart” transformation strategy, which was anticipated in autumn 2021 with 
implementation soon after.  This project incorporated three key principles of people, place and 
technology to create organisational transformation and inform a rationalisation of the property 
portfolio.  The asset review, conditions surveys and results of the consultation would be considered 
as part of the process.  
 
Currently, the commissioning and administration of the management agreement with Active 
Tameside and the delivery of the leisure assets investment programme rested with the Director of 
Population Health.  Work to establish proposals for the future management and operation of the 
Council’s leisure assets, to come in to effect from April 2024, had begun and would be managed 
from this point forward by the Director of Growth.   This shift in in responsibility was required to 

Page 30



ensure that all property decisions were aligned to corporate priorities and would ensure the cost 
effective delivery of services by the Council and its partners.   
 
The longer term future of the sites would be included in the review of the operational estate which 
commenced in late 2020 and would conclude with the “Work smart” transformation strategy, which 
was anticipated in autumn 2021 with implementation soon after.  The Population Health Directorate 
would work with Growth directorate to ensure that delivery from these sites continued to support the 
health needs of local people. 
 
RESOLVED 
(i) That the results and recommendations of the public consultation from 12 Feb 2021 to 

26 March 2021, be considered; 
(ii) That the proposal outlined in section 6 of the report describing sustainable utilisation 

of facilities at Active Oxford Park, Adventure Longdendale and Active Etherow for the 
current financial year, be agreed; and 

(iii) That the progress made against the Sport and Leisure asset review be noted and it be 
agreed to receive further recommendations following the Council’s review of the 
operational estate commenced in late 2020 and will conclude with the “Worksmart” 
transformation strategy, which is anticipated in autumn 2021. 

 
 
51. GM MINIMUM LICENSING STANDARDS – STAGE 1 (DRIVERS, OPERATORS AND 

LOCAL AUTHORITY) 
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member, Neighbourhoods, Community Safety 
and Environment / Director of Operations and Neighbourhoods giving information in respect of the 
proposed Greater Manchester Minimum Licensing Standards (MLS) which would help deliver 
improved safety, customer focus, higher environmental standards and accessibility. 
 
Members were advised that, in 2018, Greater Manchester’s ten local authorities agreed to 
collectively develop, approve and implement a common set of minimum licensing standards (MLS) 
for taxi and private hire services.  At that time, the primary driver for this work was to ensure public 
safety and protection, but vehicle age and emission standards in the context of the Clean Air and 
the decarbonisation agendas were now also major considerations.  In addition, by establishing 
standards around common livery and colour, MLS was an important mechanism that permited the 
systematic improvements to taxi and private hire service across Greater Manchester and their 
visibility. 
 
Ultimately, the collaborative approach that the MLS represented would help achieve the vision of a 
strong, professional and healthy taxi and private hire sector providing safe and high quality services 
to residents and visitors across the whole of Greater Manchester.  This vision saw Taxis and Private 
Hire as a crucial part of the overall transport offer that could consistently deliver safe and high-quality 
services for the public.  The proposed MLS, together with funding from the GM Clean Air Plan, would 
help deliver improved safety, customer focus, higher environmental standards and accessibility.  The 
collaborative approach sought to establish a basic and common minimum in key areas, whilst 
allowing Districts to exceed these minimums where they considered this to be appropriate.  As 
licensing was a local authority regulatory function, the Standards had been devised by the GM 
Licensing Managers Network who worked in partnership across Greater Manchester to drive 
innovation, partnership and change agendas. 
 
The MLS were divided into four distinct sections as follows: 

 

 Licensed Drivers; including criminal records checks, medical examinations, local knowledge 
test, English language requirements, driver training including driving proficiency and common 
licence conditions.  

 Licensed vehicles; including vehicle emissions, vehicle ages, common vehicle colour and 
livery, vehicle testing, CCTV, Executive Hire and vehicle design common licence conditions 

Page 31



 Licensed private hire operators; including common licence conditions, DBS checks for 
operators and staff every year, fit and proper criteria for operator applications and common 
licence conditions.  

 Local Authority Standards: including application deadlines and targets, GM Enforcement 
Policy, Licensing Fee Framework, annual councillor training requirements and Officer 
delegations. 

 
Due to the breadth of proposals to be considered by Members, and the complexity of the vehicle 
standards (and their link to the Clean Air Plan), the report provided Members with detailed 
consultation feedback and officer recommendations on the Drivers, Operator and Local Authority 
Standard elements at Stage 1.  A Stage 2 report outlining the proposed Vehicle Standard 
recommendations would be provided in the autumn. 
 
It was noted that, as this and similar reports were going through District governance 
contemporaneously, the recommendations were also being outlined to Combined Authority for 
endorsement.at their September meeting.  It was proposed that all the standards that were 
recommended to be implemented, were done so by 30 November 2021 for a go live date of 1 
December 2021. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Greater Manchester MLS consultation feedback, as detailed in the report, be noted 
and it be RECOMMENDED to Council to approve the implementation of the Minimum 
Licensing Standards as outlined in paragraph 4 of the report, and in the appendices. 
 
 
52. URGENT ITEMS 
 
The Chair reported that there were no urgent items for consideration at this meeting. 

 
 

CHAIR 

Page 32



OVERVIEW PANEL 
 

26 July 2021 
 
Commenced: 2.00pm Terminated: 2.35pm 

Present: Councillors Naylor (Chair), Boyle, Costello, Glover, Kitchen, 
Owen, Ryan, N Sharif and Warrington 
 

In Attendance: Sandra Stewart Director of Governance and Pensions 
 Simon Brunet Head of Policy and Performance 

 
Apologies for Absence: Councillors Fairfoull, J Fitzpatrick and T Smith 

 
 

 
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 
2. MINUTES 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Overview Panel held on the 23 November 2020 were approved 
as a correct record. 
 
 
3. SCRUTINY UPDATE 
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Assistant Director, Policy, Performance and 
Communications, which provided a summary of the work undertaken by the Council’s two Scrutiny 
Panels for March to July 2021. 
 
It was reported that, on 9 March 2021, the Place and External Relations Scrutiny Panel had met 
Chief Superintendent Rachael Harrison; Superintendent Rob Cousen; Councillor Allison Gwynne, 
Executive Member, Neighbourhood Services; and Ian Saxon, Director, Operations and  
Neighbourhoods and received an update on the response to the HMIC inspection of GMP.  The 
Panel also received the formal response submitted to the consultation on the Community Safety 
Strategy. 
 
Members were further advised that on 8 June 2021, the Place and External Relations Scrutiny Panel 
had met with Paul Smith, Assistant Director, Growth, Alison Lloyd-Walsh, Head of Facilities, Climate 
and Energy Management; and Graham Hall, Climate and Energy Manager, and received an update 
and overview of the Council’s future vision, strategic priorities and commitments to climate change 
and improving the local environment.  The Panel also discussed and agreed the annual work 
programme for 2021/22. 
 
On 11 March 2021, the Integrated Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Panel met with Councillor Eleanor 
Wills, Executive Member, Health, Social Care and Population Health; and Sarah Exall, Population 
Health Consultant, and received an update on the re-commissioning of the health improvement 
service. 
 
On 10 June 2021, the Integrated Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Panel met with Jessica Williams, 
Director of Commissioning, Tameside & Glossop Strategic Commission, and received an update on 
proposals set within the White Paper - Integration and innovation: working together to improve health 
and social care for all.  The Panel also discussed and agreed the annual work programme for 
2021/22.  The Chair confirmed that the fixed Children’s Working Group would remain in place for 
2021/22.  

Page 33

Agenda Item 9



In terms of Consultation and Engagement, it was explained that Scrutiny would remain suitably 
informed of engagement activity and open consultations at a local, regional and national level.  The 
Integrated Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Panel had recently submitted a formal response to the 
Health Improvement Service Consultation – 21 April 2021, details of which were appended to the 
report. 
 
With regard to Check and Challenge, an important part of the work undertaken by Scrutiny was 
‘check and challenge’.  This included the review of key issues such as service changes or outcomes 
from inspection.  Arrangements were made to ensure the appropriate Scrutiny Panel received a 
timely update with the option to submit a formal response based on findings. 
 
The HMIC inspection of Greater Manchester Police took place April to June 2020.  The aim of the 
inspection was to review the overall service provided to victims of crime in Greater Manchester.  The 
inspection report was published in December 2020, with findings highlighting a number of areas of 
concern with regard to non-emergency calls unanswered, crime recording and assessing the needs 
and vulnerability of victims. 
 
The Place and External Relations Scrutiny Panel requested an update from GMP at the meeting on 
9 March 2021.  The Panel’s response to Greater Manchester Police HMICFRS Inspection – 24 March 
2021, was appended to the report. 
 
Members were advised that all Scrutiny Panel Members received a monthly update email, with the 
purpose of raising awareness to a variety of materials to support their role, provide access to scrutiny 
resources and the ongoing opportunity for Councillors to contribute and share any open 
consultations and engagement exercises.  This would continue to include a wide variety of topic 
areas for consideration.  The update email also included links to Greater Manchester Priorities and 
the work of the Combined Authority Scrutiny Panels.  The email provided a further opportunity to 
inform Members how the work of scrutiny was shared and reported within the Council.  The most 
recent updates were sent in March and July 2021, copies of which were appended to the report. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the content of the report be noted. 
 
 
4. SCRUTINY ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMMES 
 
The Assistant Director, Policy, Performance and Communications submitted a report outlining the 
programmes and planned activities of the Scrutiny Panels. 
 
It was explained that the annual work programmes had been developed to reflect priority issues 
across the Council, Strategic Commission and external partners.  Work would continue to improve 
the flexibility, responsiveness and reporting methods of all scrutiny activity undertaken during 
2021/22.  Discussion from the panel meetings held in June 2021 had directly informed the list of 
topics and planned updates ‘check and challenge’, for the year ahead 
 
It was reported that in June 2021 all Scrutiny Panel Members were provided with the opportunity to 
comment and contribute to the list of topics to be included in the work programmes.  Scrutiny activity 
would continue to be undertaken outside of the formal meetings and through working groups, with 
all findings and recommendations presented to the full panel for comment and approval.  This 
flexibility allowed responsive and timely work to be undertaken, creating an enhanced opportunity to 
both influence and inform the impact of decisions.  It was also necessary to monitor and evaluate 
outcomes from past activity and to review the implementation of recommendations.  Where deemed 
appropriate, the wider development of scrutiny may include project support and service development 
work undertaken at the request of the Executive as a critical friend. 
 
With regard to planned activity, in order to prevent delay, Scrutiny Panels received a substantive 
update at the June meetings, as follows: 

Page 34



 Place and External Relations Scrutiny Panel – 8 June 2021 

 Climate Change and Improving the Local Environment 
 Integrated Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Panel – 10 June 2021 

 Health and Care Bill 
 
The Scrutiny Panels would carry out in-depth activity and reviews through working groups, for which 
Scrutiny Chairs would aim to ensure that two reviews were running concurrently for each panel with 
topics selected from the annual work programme.  
 
Members received a detailed outline of the Annual Work Programme from 2021-2023 for the 
Integrated Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Panel and Place and External Relations Scrutiny Panel.  
Follow-up on past activity and Cross Panel areas were highlighted. 
 
It was agreed at the Integrated Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Panel meeting on 10 June 2021 that 
the fixed Children’s Working Group would remain in place for 2021/22.  The group would continue 
to include co-opted young people and adults. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the content of the work programmes and planned activity of the Scrutiny Panels be 
noted. 
 
 
5. PERFORMANCE SCORECARDS 
 
A report was submitted by the Assistant Director, Policy, Performance and Communications, giving 
details of the Corporate Plan scorecard, as attached to the report, which provided evidence to 
demonstrate progress towards the achievement of the Corporate Plan and improving the services 
provided to residents, businesses and key stakeholders within the locality.   
 
It was explained that, supporting the corporate scorecards were thematic scorecards which were 
monitored by services to inform their ongoing delivery and improvement work.  The thematic 
scorecards were: 

 Corporate 

 Health and care (incl. adult care) 

 Children and family  

 Inclusive economic growth (incl. planning and transport) 

 Community and culture 

 Environment and place 
 
It was noted that the Corporate Plan scorecard would be reported on a regular basis to the Overview 
Panel and the Strategic Commissioning Board / Executive Cabinet, and then subsequently to the 
two Scrutiny Panels to inform their work programmes. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the content of the scorecard, as attached to the report be noted and reported on a regular 
basis to the Overview Panel and the two Scrutiny Panels – Place and External Relations; and 
Integrated Care and Wellbeing – to inform their work programmes. 
 
 
6. ENGAGEMENT UPDATE 
 
Consideration was given to a report of the Assistant Director, Policy, Performance and 
Communications providing an update on the delivery of engagement and consultation activity in 
2020/21. 
 
It was explained that much of the Engagement work had been undertaken jointly, coordinated 
through the Tameside and Glossop Partnership Engagement Network (PEN) – by NHS Tameside 

Page 35



and Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group, Tameside Council and Tameside and Glossop 
Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust.  Each of the three agencies undertook work individually 
where necessary and appropriate for the purposes of specific projects.   
 
It was further explained that the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic had also meant that different ways 
to engage local communities had to be identified.  The report sets out some examples of the ways 
in which this had been achieved, including the establishment of both the Community Champions 
programme and the Inequalities Reference Group. 
 
The Assistant Director, Policy, Performance and Communications highlighted the key headlines from 
June 2020 to date: 
 

 Facilitated 32 thematic Tameside and/or Glossop engagement projects 

 Received 4,186 engagement contacts (excluding attendance at virtual events)  

 Supported 27 engagement projects at the regional and Greater Manchester level 

 Promoted 33 national consultations where the topic was of relevance to and/or could have an 
impact on Tameside and/or Glossop 

 Established the Community Champions Network to provide residents and workforces with the 
coronavirus information they need to lead the way in their community, with over 250 members 
now registered 

 Established the Tameside & Glossop Inequalities Reference Group in response to how the 
coronavirus pandemic, and the wider governmental and societal response to this, has brought 
equalities (and indeed inequalities) into sharp focus 

 Delivered two virtual Partnership Engagement Network (PEN) conferences attended by over 150 
delegates in total 

 Delivered four virtual Partnership Engagement Network sessions focusing on the impact of 
COVID-19 and how we can build back better. These were attended by over 50 participants.  

 Held a virtual engagement session with young people to understand the impact of the pandemic 
on them and how they feel things can be done differently in the future.  

 Undertook the third joint budget conversation exercise for Tameside Council and NHS Tameside 
and Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Achieved ‘Green Star’ top rating for public and patient engagement as part of the CCG 
Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF). Tameside and Glossop CCG attained the 
highest score possible, one of only 40 out of 195 areas in the country to do so * 

 
Members thanked everyone involved for all their hard work and discussion ensued in respect of the 
Engagement programme, particularly relating to the challenges of engagement with local 
communities during the Pandemic.  Concerns were also raised with regard to the hostile/unhelpful 
nature of a number of anonymous social media communications. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the content of the report be noted and future engagement and consultation activity with 
the communities of Tameside and Glossop, as detailed in the report, be supported. 
 
 
7. URGENT ITEMS 
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

            
 

CHAIR 

Page 36



 

Report to:  COUNCIL 

Date: 5 October 2021 

Executive Member: Councillor Oliver Ryan – Executive Member for Finance and 
Economic Growth 

Reporting Officer: Kathy Roe – Director of Finance 

Subject: REVIEW OF FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND 
PROCEDURES 

Report Summary: To consider and approve an update of the Council’s Financial 
Regulations and Procedures. 

Recommendations: That Members approve the updated Financial Regulations and 
Procedures for formal adoption which will be kept under 
review. 

Corporate Plan: Sound financial management is essential to ensure financial 
sustainability, for the benefit of all services and priorities of the 
Council. 

Policy Implications: Financial Management standards and financial sustainability 
support the policy choices that the Strategic Commission 
intends to pursue to support the Corporate Plan and Medium 
Term Financial Plan. 

Financial Implications: 

(Authorised by the statutory 
Section 151 Officer & Chief 
Finance Officer) 

One of the key characteristics of high performing Councils is 
good financial management. To conduct its business 
efficiently, a Local Authority needs to ensure that it has a 
sound financial management framework in place. The 
Financial Regulations provide the practices and procedures 
that underpin good financial management.  

The purpose of the Financial Regulations is to embed the 
smooth and efficient management of finance. The Financial 
Regulations and Procedures should set out the financial 
policies of the Authority, provide clarity about the financial 
accountabilities of individuals, and set out the overarching 
financial responsibilities which must be followed by those 
acting on the Authority’s behalf. 

Legal Implications: 

(Authorised by the Borough 
Solicitor) 

To conduct its business efficiently, a Council needs to ensure 
that it has sound d financial management policies in place and 
that they are strictly adhered to. Part of this process is the 
establishment of Financial Regulations and Procedures that 
set out the financial policies of the Council.  Financial 
Regulations & Procedures provide the framework for 
managing the Council’s financial affairs. They apply to every 
member and employee of the Council and anyone acting on 
its behalf who can be reasonably expected to be aware of 
them. An executive (or Key) decision should record any 
decision delegated to members, and officers and these are 
published on the website.  Effective governance means that 
such regulations are reviewed regularly to ensure they remain 
fit for purpose. 

Page 37

Agenda Item 11



 

Risk Management: Failure to ensure high standards of financial management may 
result in the Council becoming financially unsustainable, 
resulting in service failure and loss of public confidence. 

Background Information: The background papers relating to this report can be inspected 
by contacting  

Telephone: 0161 342 5584 

e-mail: ian.duncan@tameside.gov.uk 

  

Page 38



 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to attach for Members consideration and approval an update of 

the Council’s Financial Regulations and Procedures. 
 
 
2. BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT 

 
2.1 The Financial Regulations and Procedures form part of the Council’s Constitution (part 4b) 

and provide the framework rules for the management of the Council’s finances.   
 

2.2 This responsibility includes ensuring that the Council complies with the law, implementing an 
effective system of governance, financial management and internal control, making proper 
arrangements for the management of risk, preparing accounts and budgets, undertaking 
effective internal audit, preventing and detecting fraud, and putting in place arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency, and effectiveness in its use of resources, and achieving value 
for money. 
 

2.3 The Financial Regulations and Procedures are designed to demonstrate how the Council will 
meet these financial responsibilities.  They apply to every Member and Officer of the Council 
and anyone in the public or private sector who acts on behalf of the Council. 
 

2.4 The Director of Finance is the Council’s Chief Finance Officer (CFO), as required under 
Section 151 of the Local Government Act, who is responsible for the proper administration of the 
Council’s financial affairs. 
 

2.5 It should be noted that the framework for the procurement of all works, goods, materials, and 
services and tendering and contract procedures are set out separately in the Council’s 
Procurement Standing Orders (part 4c of the Constitution). 

 
 
3. FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES UPDATE 

 
3.1 Executive Cabinet recently received a report about the Council’s level of compliance with 

CIPFA’s Financial Management Code.  The Code provides guidance for good and 
sustainable financial management in local authorities, giving assurance that authorities are 
managing resources effectively.  Having up to date Financial Regulations are an integral part 
of having sound financial management arrangements in place. 
 

3.2 The opportunity has been taken to have a fresh look at the entirety of the regulations and as 
such they have a revised format with each section the following format: 

 Why is this important; 

 Key Controls, which must be followed; 

 Responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer; 

 Responsibilities of Directors. 
 

3.3 Accordingly it not possible to follow the normal practice of highlighting incremental changes 
to existing rules and regulations.  The revised format is intended to allow easy navigation of 
the regulations so that quick reference can be made and so that the reader can fully 
understand the importance and reason for the regulations in safeguarding the finances of the 
Council.  This should be particularly helpful to new officers to the Council. 
 

3.4 The Financial Regulations and Procedures cover all areas of the financial management of 
the Council’s affairs and are broken down into the following areas:- 
3.4.1 Decision Making 
3.4.2 Medium term Financial Plan 

Page 39



 

3.4.3 Annual Revenue Budget 
3.4.4 Capital Programme 
3.4.5 Budget Guidance and Timetable 
3.4.6 Budget Control and Monitoring 
3.4.7 Scheme of Virement 
3.4.8 Grant Funding 
3.4.9 Treatment of Year end Balances 
3.4.10 Accounting Policies 
3.4.11 Accounting Records and returns 
3.4.12 Annual Statement of Accounts 
3.4.13 Maintenance of Reserves 
3.4.14 Internal Controls 
3.4.15 Risk Management 
3.4.16 Insurance 
3.4.17 Treasury Management 
3.4.18 Bank Accounts 
3.4.19 Value for Money 
3.4.20 Internal Audit 
3.4.21 External Audit 
3.4.22 Preventing and Detecting Fraud, Bribery and Corruption 
3.4.23 Anti-Money Laundering 
3.4.24 Gifts, Hospitality and Register of Interests 
3.4.25 Asset Management 
3.4.26 Financial Systems 
3.4.27 Income Collection and Management 
3.4.28 Ordering and Payment of Works, Goods and Services 
3.4.29 Purchase Cards 
3.4.30 Payments to Employees, Members and Pensioners 
3.4.31 Taxation 
3.4.32 Petty Cash 
3.4.33 Funds Held on Behalf of Third Parties 

 
3.5 In many cases the Financial Regulations are supported by more detailed policies and 

procedures in respect of specific areas including the Treasury Management Code of Practice, 
Internal Audit Code of Practice, Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy, Purchase Ordering and 
Payments for Goods and Services Policy and the Income Collection and Debt Recovery 
Policy. 
 

3.6 The updated Financial Regulations are attached to this report at Appendix 1. 
 
 
4. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
4.1 As set out at the front of the report 

Page 40



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS, PROCEDURES AND 
GUIDANCE 

 
June 2021 
 

Page 41



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

2 | P a g e 

 

 

Contents 

1. Introduction to Tameside MBC’s Financial Regulations and Procedures ......................... 3 

2. Key Decisions and the Financial Regulations ................................................................. 5 

3. The Medium Term Financial Strategy .......................................................................... 17 

4. Annual Revenue Budget .............................................................................................. 18 

5. Capital Programme ..................................................................................................... 20 

6. Budget Guidance and the Budget Timetable ............................................................... 22 

7. Budget Control and Monitoring .................................................................................... 24 

8. Scheme of Virement .................................................................................................... 26 

9. Grant Funding ............................................................................................................. 28 

10. Treatment of Year End Balances ............................................................................. 30 

11. Accounting Policies ................................................................................................. 31 

12. Accounting Records and Returns ............................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

13. Annual Statement of Accounts ................................................................................... 34 

14. Maintenance of Reserves .......................................................................................... 36 

15. Internal Controls ........................................................................................................ 38 

16. Risk Management ..................................................................................................... 40 

17. Insurance ................................................................................................................. 42 

18. Treasury Management .............................................................................................. 44 

19. Bank Accounts ........................................................................................................ 46 

20. Value for Money ........................................................................................................ 47 

21. Internal Audit ............................................................................................................ 48 

22. External Audit .......................................................................................................... 50 

23. Preventing and detecting Fraud, Bribery and Corruption .......................................... 51 

24. Anti-Money Laundering ............................................................................................ 53 

25. Gifts, Hospitality and Register of Interests  .............................................................. 54 

26. Asset Management .................................................................................................. 55 

27. Financial Systems ................................................................................................... 58 

28. Income Collection and Management ........................................................................ 60 

29. Ordering and Payment of Works, Goods and Services ............................................ 63 

30. Purchase Cards ....................................................................................................... 65 

31. Payments to Employees, Members and Pensioners ................................................ 66 

32. Taxation .................................................................................................................. 68 

33. Petty Cash ............................................................................................................... 70 

34. Funds Held on Behalf of Third Parties ..................................................................... 72 

 

 
  

Page 42



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

3 | P a g e 

 

 

1. INTRODUCTION TO TAMESIDE MBC’S FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES  
 
1.1 Financial Regulations provide the internal framework for managing the Council’s financial affairs. 

They apply to every Member and officer of Tameside MBC and anyone in the public or private 
sector who acts on behalf of the Council.  
 

1.2 The Council’s governance structure is laid down in its Constitution, which sets out how the 
Council operates, how decisions are made and the procedures that are to be followed.  These 
Finance Regulations and Procedures form part of the Constitution and are in put in place to 
ensure the Council has sound financial management policies underpinning the conduct of its 
business. 

 
1.3 Under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 each local council shall make 

arrangements for the proper administration of the Council’s financial affairs and arrange for one 
of their officers (the Chief Finance Officer) to be responsible for the administration of those affairs.  
For Tameside MBC this officer is the Director of Finance. 

 
1.4 The Monitoring Officer is a statutory appointment pursuant to section 5 of the Local Government 

and Housing Act 1989 with a statutory duty to report to the Council in any case where they are 
of the opinion that any proposal, decision or omission of the Council, its committees or 
subcommittees or anyone employed by the Council is, or is likely to be, illegal or to constitute 
maladministration.  If the Monitoring Officer makes such a report to the Council, it will be sent to 
every Councillor and the proposal, decision, or omission referred to in the report is 
suspended.  Council must consider the report and decide, within 21 days on the steps it is taking 
in response to the report. 

 
1.5 These Financial Regulations and Procedures must be followed by all Members and officers of 

the Council, and extend to others acting on behalf of the Council.  Failure to follow the Financial 
Regulations and Procedures or financial instructions issued by the Chief Finance Officer may 
result in action under the Council’s disciplinary procedures. 

 
1.6 It is the responsibility of Directors to ensure that all officers in their Service are aware of the 

existence and content of the Council’s Financial Regulations, as well as other internal regulatory 
documents, and also to confirm that they comply with them. 

 
1.7 Any person charged with the use or safekeeping of the Council’s resources and assets should 

inform themselves of the Council’s requirements under the Financial Regulations and 
Procedures, with any queries being referred to the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
1.8 It is the responsibility of the Chief Finance Officer and/or the Monitoring Officer to provide advice, 

guidance or any interpretation /clarification to reinforce the Financial Regulations that Members, 
officers and others acting on behalf of the Council are required to follow.  The Chief Finance 
Officer is also responsible for maintaining a continuous review of the Financial Regulations and 
Procedures and submitting any additions or changes necessary to the Council for approval. 

 
1.9 The Chief Finance Officer shall be authorised to temporarily suspend application of the Financial 

Regulations and Procedures in exceptional circumstances. 
 
1.10 These Financial Regulations and Procedures do not apply to schools.  Financial Procedure Rules 

are detailed in a separate document, which has been provided to all maintained schools. 
 
1.11 In line with good practice, each section of the Financial Regulations and Procedures follows the 

following format: 

 Why is this important? 

 Key Controls, which must be followed; 

 Responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer; 

 Responsibilities of Directors. 

Page 43



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

4 | P a g e 

 

 

1.12 This is intended to allow easy navigation of the regulations so that quick reference can be made 
and so that the reader can fully understand the important and reason for the regulations in 
safeguarding the finances of the Council. 
 

1.13 Where there is any ambiguity and/or conflict in relation to the interpretation of these regulations 
the Chief Financial Officer together with the Monitoring Officer’s decision shall be final. 
 
 
  

Page 44



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

5 | P a g e 

 

 

2. DECISIONS AND THE FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 
 
2.1 The rules of the Council (known as the Constitution, which includes these Financial Regulations 

define who can make a decision.  The decision maker can be the executive sitting as the Cabinet, 
joint committees for example Strategic Commissioning Board, individual Executive Members, and 
officers who have delegated responsibility from the Executive to make executive decisions.  

 
2.2 An “executive decision” means a decision made or to be made by a decision maker in 

connection with the discharge of a function, which is the responsibility of the executive of a local 
authority.  A written notice must be produced, which reflects the decision along with the following 
information:  
 details of the decision and the date it was made;  
 reasons for the decision;  
 any other options considered and why those options were rejected;  
 details of any conflict of interest of an executive member of the decision-making body; and  
 a note of dispensation granted by the Head of Paid Service in respect of any declared 

conflict of interest.  
 
2.3 A “key decision” is defined in law as an executive decision which, is likely—  

(a) to result in the relevant local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of 
savings, which are significant having regard to the local authority’s budget for the service or 
function to which the decision relates; or  

(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising 
two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of the relevant local authority.  

 
Key’ Decisions in Tameside 

2.4 By way of defining ‘significant’ for the Council’s purposes a Key Decision is:- 
(a) Any executive decision which requires expenditure of £30k or more in a financial year that 

is not in the budget presented to Council; 
(b) Any executive decision to spend and/or vire £500k or more in the budget presented to 

Council; 
(c) Any executive decision where the outcomes will have a significant impact on a significant 

number of people living or working in two or more wards. 
 

The Regulations and Guidance 
2.5 The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 (legislation.gov.uk) 2014 

Regulations came into force on 6 August 2014 build on the The Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 
(legislation.gov.uk) (the 2012 Regulations) which sought to provide greater openness and 
transparency in decision making at Executive level meetings, including Cabinet and individual 
Executive Member decisions.  

 
2.6 Principally the 2012 Regulations required key decisions and items taken at meetings in private 

session to be advertised 28 days in advance and for all executive decisions to be recorded as 
soon as reasonably practicable.  This included executive decisions taken by officers.  The 2014 
Regulations impose additional requirements for local authorities to require written records to be 
published of certain decisions taken by officers.  

 
2.7 The Secretary of State has released a plain English guide to the regulations which provides some 

further guidance for the public.  This is available to view at:  
 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach 

ment_data/file/343182/140812_Openness_Guide.pdf 
 
2.8 The national rules require a council to publish its intention to make a key decision at least 28 clear 

days prior to when the decision is intended to be made.  The notice has to include details of the 
individual or executive body who will make the decision, the matter that is subject to a decision, 
other documents to be considered, and where these other documents are available.  This notice 

Page 45

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/2095/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach%20ment_data/file/343182/140812_Openness_Guide.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach%20ment_data/file/343182/140812_Openness_Guide.pdf


 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

6 | P a g e 

 

 

must be available at the council’s website before the decision is made.  This allows interested 
parties to have sufficient knowledge in advance of those decisions that will be of genuine concern 
to local communities.  

 
2.9 A key decision be made without giving the 28 days’ notice provided: 

• the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chairman is informed in advance and in 
writing (or all the members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee) about what the 
decision is concerning;  

• a notice/ and report about the key decision to be made is made available for inspection at 
the council’s offices and published on the website; and  

• 5 clear days elapse following the day a notice/report is published about the key decision to 
be made.  

 
2.10 If there is a case of special urgency, for example an urgent decision on a negotiation, expenditure 

or contract, the decision must only be made if the agreement of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Chairman is received.  In the absence of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Chairman, the permission of the Council Chair must be obtained.  If agreement is given, a notice 
explaining why the decision is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred, must be published and 
should be available at the council’s offices and on its website as soon as reasonably practicable.  

 
What is an Officer Executive Decision 

2.11 Regulation 7 of the 2014 Regulations provides that a decision making officer must produce a 
written record of any decision which would otherwise have been taken by the relevant Local 
Government body (in this case Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council), or a committee, or joint 
committee, but it has been delegated to an officer either:- (a) Under a specific express 
authorisation; or (b) Under a general authorisation to officers set out in the Constitution to take 
such decisions and, the effect of the decision is to – (i) Grant a permission or licence; (ii) Affect 
the rights of an individual; or (iii) Award a contract or incur expenditure which, in either case, 
materially affects that relevant local government body’s financial position.  

 
2.12 Decisions which are taken by officers under specific delegations from a meeting of their council's 

executive are clearly executive decisions where officers have been empowered to act on behalf 
of their council's executive, either following a specific decision or through the delegated powers 
set out in the constitution.  The guidance provides a non-exhaustive list of examples of decisions 
that should be recorded:  
 decisions about awarding contracts above specified individual/total values; 
 decisions to exercise powers of Compulsory Purchase;  
 decisions on disposal of and/or provision of land, allotment land and green spaces;  
 decision to purchase new ICT systems;  
 the opening hours of local libraries;  
 the holding of car boot sales/markets on council-owned land;  
 the operating hours of off-street car parks;  
 a decision to close a school;  
 a decision to carry out major road works;  
 awarding of Discretionary Rate Relief  

 
Recording Executive Decisions  

2.13 When a member or officer takes a decision on matters that are the responsibility of the council's 
executive, this must be recorded in writing.  The form of the written record is for the council to 
decide, but Regulation 7 goes on to specify the information which must be included in the written 
record of the decision and in particular: 
(a) details of the decision made  
(b) the date it was made;  
(c) the individual executive member or officer by whom the decision was made 
(d) reasons for the decision;  
(e) Details of alternative options, if any (taking into account status quo or doing nothing), 

considered and rejected and why those options were rejected; 

Page 46



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

7 | P a g e 

 

 

(f) details of any conflict of interest declared by any executive member consulted in relation to 
the decision noting that anyone with a conflict cannot make the decision unless they have 
a dispensation; and  

(g) a note of dispensation granted in respect of any declared conflict of interest. 
 

2.14 The requirement to record decisions extends only to “executive decisions”.  The existing template 
used by the Council for recording individual Member Executive Decisions has been adapted for 
the recording of officer decisions that are not already routinely published.  It removes the 
requirement for legal and financial advice which elected members are required to demonstrate 
they have had.  The template can be completed by decision making officers on a web-form on 
the intranet site.  These decisions will be published on the Council’s website by Democratic 
Services using the modern.gov software application: 
https://tamesideintranet.moderngov.co.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?bcr=1  

 
2.15 If there is a separate statutory requirement to record the decision together with the date taken 

and reasons for the decision, then this will be sufficient to satisfy the requirement and in particular 
planning and building control decisions made by officers under delegated powers are publically 
available through the minutes of those meetings.  

 
2.16 Where decisions are delegated to officers under specific express authorisation, for example 

expressly stated in Cabinet decisions, the relevant officer should complete the decision record as 
soon as practicable after the decision is made  

 
Administrative & Operational decisions 

2.17 The plain English guide states that “many administrative and operational decisions officers take 
on how they go about their day to day work will be delegated within the council’s rules and do not 
fall within the “executive decisions” category; as such they do not need to be recorded.”  Such 
administrative and operational decisions decisions might include the following examples:  
 decisions to allocate social carers  or walking aids to particular individuals,  
 decisions to allocate a social housing unit to an applicant or to send someone to carry out 

repairs;  
 decisions to give business relief to individual traders;  
 decisions to review the benefit claims of an individual applicant; 
 decisions to allocate market stalls to individual traders;  
 a decision to instruct certain staff within the council to appear in court in connection with 

proceedings relating environmental issues.  
 
2.18 This is not intended to be an exhaustive list, rather a series of examples to illustrate that, in the 

interests of maximum transparency, the regulations require more than just key decisions to be 
recorded.   

 
2.19 In essence the category of decisions that “affect the rights of an individual” will be limited to such 

decisions that have a direct impact by changing the nature of an individual’s legal rights (setting 
a policy) will be a Key or executive decision.  Where a decision is simply implementing an existing 
framework of legal rights (policy), it will not fall within the rules.  In addition, information regarding 
individuals will often be classed as exempt information and would not be published.  The law sets 
out that it is the importance of decsions rather than the decision maker that determines whether 
it needs to be on notice 28 days before and made in public and/or whether it needs to be recorded 
at all. 

 
2.20 Ultimately, individual directors are responsible for ensuring their and their Directorate’s 

compliance with the national rules.  
 

Access to information 
2.21 A councillor can inspect any document that contains material to be discussed at least 5 days 

before a public meeting is held.  In case of a private meeting or decision made by an individual 
executive member or officer, you can inspect the document within 24 hours of the conclusion of 

Page 47

https://tamesideintranet.moderngov.co.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?bcr=1


 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

8 | P a g e 

 

 

the meeting or the decision being made.  In addition, if you are a member of an overview and 
scrutiny committee, you can ask for any document that contains business transacted at a meeting 
of the executive, its committees or sub-committees or officer of the authority.  The executive must 
provide the document within 10 days after it (the executive) receives the request.  

 
2.22 It is a criminal offence if, without a reasonable excuse, a person who has in his or her custody a 

document, which the national rules require to be made available to the public, refuses to supply 
the whole or part of the document or intentionally obstructs any other person/s from disclosing 
such a document. If a person is found guilty of such a criminal offence, he/she can be fined up to 
£200.  A document can be the agenda and connected reports for public meetings, documents 
relating to executive decisions made by an individual member or officer, or any other background 
papers.  

 
2.23 The relevant legislation relating to access to information regarding decisions made by council 

executives, and their committees/subcommittees and joint committees is Part 1A of the Local 
Government Act 2000 – see sections 9G and 9GA.  It was inserted as a result of amendments 
made by the Localism Act 2011 and the relevant provisions are available at the following link: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/2/part/1  The detailed provisions are 
contained in the secondary legislation made under the 2000 Act, that is the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, 
which can be found at: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made  

 
Financial Decisions 

2.24 The vast majority of financial key and non-key decisions can be reported through the regular 
finance update report presented to Executive Cabinet and SCB.  For some more complex 
decisions a separate report may be required in order to provide the transparency necessary to 
adhere to the principles of good governance. 

 
2.25 The majority of financial decisions will be through either the annual budget or the respective 

regular revenue and capital budget monitoring reporting process.  Full Council is responsible for 
the setting of the annual revenue budget and 5 year capital programme.  The budget is the 
financial plan that enables the objectives set by Full Council to be achieved. 

 
2.26 It is important that the Council operates to these approved budgets.  However, from time to time, 

the activities of the Council may mean that expenditure and income may vary from the original 
plan, and as a result it is important that safeguards are put in place to ensure the Council 
effectively records and reports the activity and decisions that have been made that cause these 
changes. 

 
2.27 It is incumbent on budget holders, as those people with delegated authority to spend within the 

approved budget, to take action wherever possible to mitigate any adverse spend or shortfall 
income as part of a proactive plan.  Actions that are being taken should be reported to Cabinet 
as part of the regular budget monitoring report and authorisation sought as part of that reporting 
mechanism if spend or income is likely to fall outside the delegation limits set out as part of these 
financial regulations and the constitution.   

 
2.28 In respect of officer decisions, the following decisions will be recorded, where not already 

published elsewhere:  
a) Decisions under a specific express authorisation;  
b) Decisions under a general authorisation to officers to take such decisions and, the effect of 

the decision is to – (i) Grant a permission or licence; (ii) Affect the rights of an individual; or 
(iii) Award a contract or incur expenditure which, in either case, materially affects that 
relevant local government body’s financial position.”  An officer decision will be reported 
under part (iii) if it meets the financial thresholds as set out as defined below:  

 a decision to spend £50,000 or more from an approved budget,  
 a decision to vire more than £10,000 from one budget to another,  
 a decision which would result in a saving of £10,000 or more to any budget head,  

Page 48

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/2/part/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made


 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

9 | P a g e 

 

 

 a decision to dispose or acquire any interest in land or buildings with a value of £50,000 or 
more,  

 a decision to propose the closure of, or reduction by more than ten (10%) percent in the 
level of service (for example in terms of funding, staffing or hours of operation) provided 
from any facility from which Council services are supplied.  

 
The constitution sets out a scheme of delegation which is summarised below: 

 
FINANCIAL DELEGATIONS 
 
1) Expenditure, Saving or Income Generation Decisions 
The annual budget is set in February of each year by Full Council, where the funding envelope is set 
by confirming the level of government grant and business rates that will be received and the level of 
Council tax to be drawn from the Council Tax collection fund, as well as the drawdown of reserves to 
fund expenditure (if applicable).   
 
The funding available for the Council is therefore relatively stable and the Council effectively sets a 
budget control total for the year.  
 
Any new expenditure within the overall control total, approved by Full Council, will be subject to the 
virement rules and delegations, whereby funding can be moved between budget lines within the overall 
control total.   
 
Any decision to increase the overall expenditure budget outside of the budget process, can therefore 
only be funded from reserves and must be approved by Full Council - usually on the recommendation 
of Cabinet.   
 
a) New Expenditure 
Any in-year drawdown from general reserves to fund new expenditure will therefore need the approval 
of Council following a recommendation from Executive Cabinet.  This will usually be part of the regular 
budget monitoring report as a specific request, or if significant as a separate report to the Executive 
Cabinet/Council. 
 

NEW EXPENDITURE GENERATION DECISIONS OUTSIDE OF EXISTING BUDGET PROVISION 

Amount Who Decision Type 

Any amount above £0 
(Nil) 

Council on recommendation of Executive 
Cabinet 

Council 

 
Examples, may include a contribution to a new initiative with partners, or agreeing matched funding 
where additional income is attracted to the authority.   
 
b) Savings and Income Generation Decisions 
The majority of savings and income generation decisions are made during the budget setting process 
and once approved, it is expected that the appropriate plans and action are taken to deliver these.  This 
includes the annual review of fees and charges which are reported and approved by Full Council.   Any 
variations from the approved plans are reported as part of the monthly budget monitoring process.   
 
From time to time, new savings and/or income generation opportunities may arise, and if it is for more 
than £30,000 and affects two wards or more then the following delegation apply. 
   

SAVING OR INCOME GENERATION DECISIONS AFFECTING TWO OR MORE WARDS 

Amount Who Decision Type 

More than £30,000 and 
affecting two or more 
wards 

Executive Cabinet Key Decision 

 

Page 49



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

10 | P a g e 

 

 

For savings or income generation decisions that do not affect two wards or more, the following 
delegations apply.   
 

SAVING OR INCOME GENERATION DECISIONS NOT AFFECTING TWO WARDS OR MORE 

Amount Who Decision Type 

More than £100,000 Executive Cabinet Key Decision 

£50,000 to £100,000  Director in conjunction with Executive 
Member 

Executive Decision 

Up to £50,000 Director Executive Decision (officer) 

 
Examples may include an in-year restructure, where the normal HR processes and considerations need 
apply.  Savings arising from normal day to day activities, for example, following a procurement should 
be reported through the normal budget monitoring process.  However, if it fundamentally changes the 
nature of service delivery a separate report outlining the changes, why they are needed and their impact 
will be required. 
 
2) Virement 
A virement is the transfer of budget from one specific activity area to another and is the result of a 
proactive decision.  This can either be a transfer within revenue budgets or within capital budgets but 
not between revenue and capital budgets. 
 
Virements can only take place if there is sufficient budget from the donating budget area, and does not 
create an expenditure pressure or income shortfall against the donating budget area.   
 
All virements are summarised and reported in a separate annex in the regular finance update report 
considered by Executive Cabinet. 
 
If a virement is for more than £30,000 and affects two or more wards a key decision taken through 
Executive Cabinet will be required.   
 
The majority of virements along with appropriate approval can and should take place as part of the 
regular financial reporting presented to cabinet and there should be no need for separate decision 
papers. 
 
There are five main categories of virement: 

a) Virements between Directorates – This is where a decision is made to change the priority of 
spend across Directorates by reducing the available budget in one Directorate to increase in 
another one.  This may be because one Directorate is better placed to deliver a particular 
activity, or a simple change of priority and the need to increase the resources of a particular 
Directorate at the expense of others. 

b) Virements within Directorates – Directorates may wish to reprioritise resources between the 
services which they deliver.  Directorates can deliver a diverse range of services and as such 
the virement rules still need to be observed.  For example, a decision to reallocate and vire 
resources between the Library Service and Passenger Transport is a clear move away from 
the budget set by Council, who agreed a certain spend on Libraries and Passenger Transport.  
A change in these spend priorities needs to be recorded appropriately within the virement limits. 

c) Virements between Pay and Non-Pay Lines – Staffing is one of our most expensive and 
valuable resources.  Decisions to move budget either to or from pay budgets can be politically 
sensitive and impact on the way the service is delivered and therefore needs to be approved 
and recorded.  For example, the decision to buy in a service rather than deliver with employees 
may have employment implications through TUPE and a proper and transparent decision 
needs to be made in approving a virement of this nature. 

d) Virements to and from contingency budgets – the Council holds contingency budgets to smooth 
the impact of any adverse conditions or events which either cause income to reduce or 
expenditure to increase.  The majority of budget variances are recorded and monitored on a 
monthly basis.  However, from time to time, it may be necessary to establish a new budget to 

Page 50



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

11 | P a g e 

 

 

be funded from contingency.  Approval for the virement is therefore necessary. 
e) Virements between schemes in the approved capital programme. 

 
Note for finance – the correct alignment of budgets to enable effective budget management may mean 
that it is necessary to move budgets through the virement mechanism within Agresso.  This is permitted 
providing it does not fundamentally change the nature of the service activity being funded.  Examples 
include budget corrections where budgets are fundamentally in the wrong place.  This should be 
demonstrable through previous years spend activities etc.  It is important that budgets are correctly 
aligned for financial control purposes. 
 
The authorised limits for both Revenue and Capital virements that do not affect two wards or more and 
subject to principles established under the key controls are set out as: 
 

Budget Virements 
(a) Between Directorates 
(b) Between Services Within Directorates  

(c) Between pay and non-pay 
 

Amount Who 
Governance required to 
facilitate - Decision Type 

More than £500,000 Executive Cabinet Key Decision 

£250,000 to £500,000 Executive Member for Finance & 
relevant Executive Member 

Executive Decision 

£100,000 to £250,000 Director Executive Decision (officer) 

£50,000 to £100,000 Assistant Director Executive Decision (officer) 

Less than £50,000 Budget Manager Operational recorded 
through Agresso 

 

Budget Virements – From Corporate Contingency 

Amount Who 
Governance required to 
facilitate - Decision Type 

More than £50,000 Executive Cabinet Key Decision 

Less than £50,000 Chief Finance Officer Executive Decision (officer) 

 
Any decision taken under these delegated limits still needs to be recorded and documented in the form 
of a report that sets out the background, options considered and rationale for the decision.  This can be 
addressed as part of the regular Finance Update to Executive Cabinet  and any changes to Capital 
Programme should be reported to Strategic Planning and Capital Monitoring. 
 

Budget Virements – Capital Programme1 

Amount Who 
Governance required to 
facilitate - Decision Type 

More than £500,0002 Executive Cabinet Key Decision 

£500,000 Chief Finance in consultation with 
Executive Member for Finance 

Executive Decision (officer) 

Up to £250K Chief Finance Officer Executive Decision (officer) 

 
Any decision taken under these delegated limits will be included in the regular Finance Update to the 
Strategic Planning and Capital Monitoring Panel. 
 

                                                 
1 This only covers transferring budget from one approved capital scheme to another approved capital 
scheme  noting that all schemes over £500K must be originally approved by a Key Decision.   
2 This is the aggregate amount for whole project over lifetime of the project - not each individual request. 

Page 51



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

12 | P a g e 

 

 

3) Grants from External Bodies 
 
After Council Tax and Business Rates the Council receives the majority of its funding through grants 
which have to be accounted for correctly, and spent in the appropriate areas.   
 
There are two main forms of grant, formulaic and non-formulaic.  In general the formulaic grants are 
provided by central government under the Section 31 legislation (Local Government Act 2003).   
 
However, in a number of cases grants have terms and conditions with detailed grant claims being 
required in order to draw down funding.  The acceptance and spending of some grants place legally 
binding obligations on the Council.  It is therefore necessary for any new grants to be to the Council’s 
budget and reported on in accordance with normal budget monitoring practices. 
 
In order to accept and add new grants to the Council’s budget the following limits apply.  In each case 
a decision note is required. 
 

APPLICATION FOR AND ACCEPTANCE OF GRANTS 

Amount Who 
Governance required to 
facilitate - Decision Type 

Over £500,000 Executive Member for Finance & relevant 
Executive Member 

Key Decision 

Between £50,000 to 
£500,000 

Executive Member for Finance & relevant 
Executive Member 

Executive Decision 

Up to £50,000  Chief Finance Officer and Relevant Assistant 
Director 

Executive Decision (officer) 

 
4) Procurement Decisions 
 
The procurement standing orders also include financial limits which are summarised below.  The 
authorisation to proceed to procurement is determined by the availability of the budget, which is set by 
Council.  If as the result of the procurement process there is insufficient budget then the key decision 
criteria applies and any request for additional funding, whether by virement or drawdown from reserves 
will have to be made in accordance with the financial limits.   
 

PROCUREMENT - SUPPLIES AND SERVICES 

Amount Procurement Activity 
Advertising of 
Opportunity 

Above £180,000 * Most appropriate procedure permitted by the 
Regulations 

OJEU Notice or 
equivalent  

£25,000 to £180,000* Minimum 3 quotes subject to risk based sourcing The Chest3 

£5,000 to £25,000 Minimum 3 quotes n/a 

Less than £5,000 Minimum 1 quote n/a 

 

PROCUREMENT - WORKS AND PUBLIC WORKS CONCESSION 

Amount Procurement Activity 
Advertising of 
Opportunity 

Above £4,500,000 Most appropriate procedure permitted by the 
Regulations 

OJEU Notice 

£25,000 to £4,500,000 Minimum 3 quotes subject to risk based sourcing The Chest4 

£5,000 to £25,000 Minimum 3 quotes n/a 

less than 5,000 Minimum 1 quote n/a 

 

                                                 
3 Not a requirement for the Pension Fund who will use such methods appropriate to the nature of procurement 
4 Not a requirement for the Pension Fund who will use such methods appropriate to the nature of procurement 

Page 52



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

13 | P a g e 

 

 

Many contracts have annual adjustments that reflect changes to general prices or volume adjustments.  
Such adjustments will only require a key decision if it is in excess of the approved budget or results in 
a significant change to contractual outcomes.   
 
Non-contractual transactions may occasionally occur where there is no procurement process required.  
These are common in relation to the Health and Social Care agenda.  Any transaction which fall outside 
the standard procurement regulations or employment of staff will still be an expenditure, saving or 
income generation decision and therefore the key decision criteria and financial limits outlined in section 
2 will apply.  
 
Awarding of New Contracts 
Following a procurement, a contract is entered into.  For transparency purposes it is important to record 
this contract on the contract register.  The contracts register is updated and published quarterly on the 
Council Transparency page on the Council’s website. 
 

AWARDING OF CONTRACTS – FOR EXISTING SERVICES, WITHIN BUDGET FOLLOWING 
PROCUREMENT RULES  

Amount Who Decision Type 

More than >£5,000,000 Executive Cabinet and/or Strategic 
Commissioning Board 

Key Decision 

£100,000 to £5,000,000 Director and Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer 

Executive Decision (officer) 

£50,000 to £100,000 Assistant Director Executive Decision (officer) 

Up to £50,000 Budget Holder  

 
For any new contract, for which a service is not currently provided under contract, or additional budget 
is required to fund the contract, an Executive Key Decision is required for any contracts entered into for 
more than £500,000.  These type of contracts are usually for capital schemes which are unique in 
nature and non-routine.  Any new service or regeneration project requires the approval of Cabinet 
together with allocation of budget. 
 
Some existing contracts for example the Tameside Additional Sevices set out the limits for the nature 
of the contract for example for any contracts less than £250K the Council has sufficient contractual 
protections for any construction work under the Tameside Additional Services Contracts for any capital  
work over £250,000 the Design and Build contract must be used to provide adequate contractual 
protection to the Council.  However, determining the Governance rather than contractual route requires 
compliance with the above. 
 
Large contracts of greater than £5,000,000, whether revenue or capital, will require a separate 
Executive Key Decision, which clearly states when the budget was approved, the amount of budget 
that was approved and the details of the contract entered into. 
 
Day to day expenditure approvals (Normal business within approved budget) 
Day to day spending approvals on services within the approved budget are not key decisions, but 
approval limits are in place within the financial system to ensure that only authorised officers are able 
to approve requisitions and invoices. 
 

EXPENDITURE REQUISITIONS AND APPROVALS (WITHIN APPROVED BUDGETS) 

Amount Who Decision Type 

Above £500,000  
Director in consultation with 

Executive Member 
record of consultation  

Between £250,000 and £500K Assistant Director n/a 

Between £100,000 to £250,000 Head of Service n/a 

<£100,000 Budget Manager n/a 

 

Page 53



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

14 | P a g e 

 

 

Agreement of Care Packages 
The cost of care packages for individuals can be significant and it is therefore important that appropriate 
approval is granted at the appropriate level. 

PACKAGES OF CARE 

Amount per annum5 Who Decision Type 

Above £500,000  
Director in consultation with 
Executive Member 

Executive Decision 
(officer) 

Between £250,000 and £500,000 Director n/a 

Between £100,000 and £250,000 Assistant Director n/a 

<£100,000 Budget Holder n/a 

 
 

5) Acquisition and Disposal of Assets 
 
The Council’s Asset Management Strategy sets out the vision, core values and objectives that form the 
context for the preparation of the Corporate Asset Management Plan and Service Asset Management 
Plans.  The Council has adopted a Corporate Landlord approach to the ownership and management of 
its property assets.  This means that the ownership of property assets and the responsibility for their 
management and maintenance is transferred from service directorates to the Corporate Landlord, which 
is a centralised corporate function. In this way the Corporate Landlord approach:  
 

 enables the Council to utilise its assets to deliver better, more efficient services to our 
communities.  

 unlocks the value of assets, seeks efficiencies through joint arrangements with our public sector 
partners and maximises private sector investment.  

 ensures the provision of a consistent, corporate and strategic approach to the management of 
the Council’s property portfolio, consolidating resources, eliminating duplication, improving 
efficiency, procurement and the establishment of corporate property standards  

 supports the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan.  
 
The Corporate Landlord’s responsibility extends to the acquisition, development and disposal of land 
and property.  This means that the Corporate Landlord is responsible for asset review, feasibility and 
options appraisal across all services.  
 
The acquisition of assets is only possible if there is sufficient approved budget and falls within the key 
decision expenditure rules.   
 
The sale of capital assets is an important element of the funding of the Council’s capital programme.  A 
disposals strategy should be outlined and refreshed annually as part of the Capital Programme budget 
setting process that sets the capital receipts target for the following 5 years.   
 
The Council has the duty to secure best consideration for all asset disposals and therefore all disposals 
must be recorded as an Executive Decision with any disposal worth more than £30,000 should be 
reported as an Executive decision, which will demonstrate how the consideration was arrived at. 
 

Declaration that Asset is surplus to requirements6   

Amount Who Decision Type 

All property assets Executive Cabinet Key Decision 

 
 

                                                 
5 This is the predicted cost if the placement was calculated for 52 weeks even if that is not the proposed length 
of time intended for placement 
6 Disposal of Council owned Land and property Cabinet 30.09.2020 
https://tameside.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s88476/ITEM%2010%20-%20Disposals%20Policy%20FINAL.pdf 

Page 54



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

15 | P a g e 

 

 

Sale or Disposal of Land or Buildings where best consideration is not achieved and the 
potential loss to the Council is advised by a RICS Surveyor to be likely to be as follows: 

Amount Who Decision Type 

More than £30,000 Executive Cabinet Key Decision 

Less than £30,000 Executive Member with responsibility for 
Finance 

Executive Decision 

Disposal of Reversionary Title  

In compliance with 
Reversionary Title 
Policy 

 Director of Place Executive Decision 
(officer) 

 
Any ad hoc investment or disposal opportunities are likely to be a key decision and therefore will need 
to be reported within these guidelines.  All purchases of land or the taking on of a lease liability on behalf 
of the Council will require the approval of the Cabinet. 
 
 
6) The Raising and Writing off of Debts 
The Council raises debts for services provided including the collection of Council tax and business rates 
and are covered by income budgets.   
Where work is ordered from the Council and there is a standard charge as per the fees and charges 
schedule, wherever possible payment should be taken in advance of the provision of the service.  This 
reduces the need to raise invoices and collect debts. 
 
From time to time debts become uncollectable because they are statute barred or the debtor is bankrupt 
or insolvent and therefore need to be written off.  The limits of delegation in relation to debt write offs 
are set out in the table below. 
 

DEBT WRITE OFFS 

Amount Who Decision Type 

More than £30,000 Executive Cabinet Key Decision 

up to £30,000 
Deputy S151, Monitoring Officer in conjunction 
with Executive Member for Finance 

Executive Decision 

Up to £5,000 Assistant Director – Exchequer 
Executive Decision 
(officer) 

 
 

7) The Use of Reserves 
 

Category Description 
Approval Required 
to spend 

Accounting 
reserves 

This will include two sub categories: 

Director of Finance 

1) Unusable reserves - those reserves required by proper 
accounting practice that are not resource backed. 

2) General Accounting Reserves - reserves established as 
good accounting practice for specific accounting purposes 
(such as the PFI smoothing reserves and Leasing 
reserves) 

Grants and 
Contributions 

Reserves to hold unspent grants and contributions 
received from external sources. 

1) For the purposes 
intended by the 
original contribution - 
Director of Finance 

2) For an alternative 
purpose - Executive 
Cabinet 

Page 55



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

16 | P a g e 

 

 

Liabilities and 
Risk 

Reserves held to mitigate against known and anticipated 
liabilities and risks.  This will include for example self-
insurance reserves. 

Director of Finance 

Capital 
Reserves 

Capital Receipts, Capital Grants and Reserves earmarked 
for capital purposes.  These reserves are used to finance 
the capital programme. 

Director of Finance 

Schools 
Reserves 

Reserves for Schools and Education expenditure, 
including the ring fenced schools balances. 

Director of Finance 

Budget 
Resilience 
Reserves 

Reserves held for planned revenue investment in services, 
for example reserves set aside for planned investment in 
Children's Services, and to provide resilience for specific 
services not covered by general fund balances such as the 
waste levy reserve.  

Less than £50,000 - 
Director of Finance 
 
More than £50,000 - 
Executive Cabinet 

Strategic 
Priorities 
Reserves 

Reserves held for planned or intended investment in 
Strategic Priorities.  This will include reserves such as the 
Care Together Reserve. 

Less than £50,000 - 
Director of Finance 
 
More than £50,000 - 
Executive Cabinet 

 

  

Page 56



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

17 | P a g e 

 

 

3. THE MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 
 
What is the Medium Term Financial Plan? 
The Medium Term Financial Plan demonstrates how the Council’s forecast level of resources will be 
deployed over the next five years to deliver our declared aims and priorities.  
 
It sets out the overall shape of the Council’s budget by determining the level of resources that will 
likely be available and how they will be allocated between services.  This provides a framework to 
enable Members and officers to develop detailed annual budget plans. 
 
It provides details on: 
 How much it will cost to deliver Council Services 
 The level of expected funding to pay for these services 
 How we will manage our resources to meet our spending plans 
 How the Council will achieve good value for money services 
 
Why is the Medium Term Financial Plan important? 
The Plan helps us to meet our statutory responsibilities in respect of financial planning.  The Council 
legally has to set a balanced budget, whereby its spending is funded from its income and reserves,  
and is critical to ensuring that the Council has a clear understanding of the level of available 
resources, the costs of delivering existing services and plans for new services. Financial planning 
facilitates strategic choices around service delivery, efficiency and service reductions. 
 
The Plan is approved by Full Council, and includes information on the spending plans of all 
services, and the indicative levels of Council tax. 
 
Key Controls 
The strategy runs for five years on a rolling basis, and is refreshed each year in line with the 
processes for reviewing and updating the Council’s Corporate Plan.  It is finalised each year to enable 
the setting of the annual budget by Full Council, usually in February before the start of the new 
financial year, which commences on 1 April each year.  It is refreshed to make sure it reflects: 

a) the most recent estimate of resources available; 
b) the budget requirement – which may change as a result of updating estimated 

resources; 
c) updated operational plans for each Council Service; 
d) any changes in the National Framework for Local Government Finance. 

 
The Plan covers the following areas: 

 The Council’s Aims & Objectives 
 Key assumptions 
 The Corporate Plan 
 Internal Control 
 Risk Management 
 The National Context 
 Treasury Management Strategy 
 Capital Strategy & Plan 
 Linked Strategies 

 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 In conjunction with the Single Leadership Team (SLT) to develop a five year Medium Term 

Financial Plan. 
 To undertake a formal review of the plan on an annual basis and update where necessary. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To provide information that may be requested by the Chief Finance Officer in respect of the 

medium term financial plan. 

Page 57



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

18 | P a g e 

 

 

4. ANNUAL REVENUE BUDGET 
 
What is the Annual Revenue Budget? 
The Council’s budget is an annual detailed income and expenditure plan. It details all known 
expected expenditure and income from the delivering of Council Services and compares these 
requirements to the funding available.  The budget focuses on the priorities detailed within the 
Corporate Plan.  
 
Why is the Annual Budget important? 
The budget helps us to meet our statutory responsibilities for financial planning. All local 
authorities are required to prepare a budget annually which is then approved by Full Council. 
This is supported by a statement by the Chief Finance Officer regarding the robustness of 
the budget as proposed and the adequacy of general balances and reserves. 
 
The plan also helps us ensure, at a more detailed level, that resources are allocated towards the 
delivery of Council priorities. The process of developing the budget helps us to assess and balance 
any gaps between what we estimate it will cost us to deliver plans, and the money available to do 
this. 
 
Failure to agree and set a balanced budget will require the Chief Finance Officer to issue a Section 
114 notice.  The authority that gives the Chief Finance Officer power to issue a Section 114 notice 
comes from Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972.  According to the Act the Chief 
Finance Officer can also be the Section 151 Officer. If the Chief Finance Officer judges that the 
Council is unable to set or maintain a balanced budget they must consider the possibility of a 
Section 114 notice. Such a notice is only given in the gravest of circumstances. The process is 
governed under legislation and once issued the Council has 21 days to consider a response. 
However, during that time spending and other financial activity is suspended. 
 
To reach this point would suggest that: 

 the authority has failed to heed previous warnings from the Chief Finance Officer about 
the financial risks to the authority 

 the Council has failed to appreciate the seriousness of the budgetary position 

 the Chief Finance Officer has failed to warn of the risks. 
 
It may also suggest that there may be a breakdown in the relationship between the Chief Executive 
and the Chief Finance Officer as warnings and conversations should have been taking place at 
the very highest level of the organisation. 
 
While issuing a Section 114 notice should not be seen as a failure, it will result in the loss of 
financial control by the leadership team and the process should be seen as the action of last 
resort.  
 
External audit will become involved during the process.  From past experience the Ministry of 
Housing Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) would also be made aware of the financial 
crisis being experienced by the local authority and become involved. 
 
Key Controls 
Budget planning begins in June/July of the preceding financial year and the annual revenue budget 
is presented to Members in February at Full Council. 
 
Detailed estimates of costs and income are developed for each service. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To develop the budget plan on an annual basis and to ensure a balanced budget is approved. 
 To present the budget to Members for approval in February prior to the start of each financial 

year. 
 To undertake the budget plan consistent with proper accounting practice and statutory 

Page 58



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

19 | P a g e 

 

 

guidance. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To provide information that may be requested by the Chief Finance Officer in relation to the 

budget plan. 
 To support and actively participate in the Budget setting process. 
 
 

Page 59



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

20 | P a g e 

 

 

5. CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
What is the Capital Programme? 
The Capital Programme is the budgeted plan of the capital schemes that the Council is undertaking 
or planning to undertake.  Capital Expenditure is defined as any expenditure, which produces an 
asset which the Council will benefit from for more than one year, it includes investment in buildings, 
vehicles and IT equipment.  The Capital Programme will normally cover a three year period, and is 
subject to review on at least an annual basis. 
 
No expenditure may be incurred on a capital project unless the scheme has been approved by 
Executive Cabinet.  Each year Directors consider capital schemes to be included in the Capital 
Programme, which are then scrutinised through a capital programme prioritisation process before 
being presented for consideration by Executive Cabinet and ultimately Full Council. All changes to 
the Capital Programme must be approved by Executive Cabinet. 
 
Once approved the capital programme is monitored through the Strategic Planning and Capital 
Monitoring Panel. 
 
Why is the Capital Programme important? 
Capital assets shape the way services are delivered in the long term and create financial 
commitments for the future in the form of financing costs and revenue running costs. It is important 
that the ‘Whole Life Cost’ of any capital schemes are considered before approval is given, to 
ensure adequate funding has been identified. This is an integral part of the budget setting process. 
 
The Government places strict controls on the financing capacity of the Council. This means that 
expenditure should form part of a capital investment strategy and should be carefully prioritised 
in order to maximise the benefit of scarce resources. 
 
Having a structured approach which reviews all capital scheme proposals helps ensure that 
the Capital Programme links into the Council’s priorities. 
 
The Capital Programme ensures the Council takes a structured approach to the management 
of its assets. 
 
Key Controls 
As part of the overall process for the Council’s decision making where capital investment is 
required, officers are required to follow a clearly defined business case process.  Schemes in 
excess of £500,000 must follow the full 6 stages, for investment decisions below £500,000 a full 
business case (stage 4) is required.  

 Stage 1 – Initial Idea - Initial discussion and scoping of investment proposal with finance. 

 Stage 2 – Approval in Principle – An outline summary ‘business case’ for investment will 
need to be developed and approval in principle for the project obtained from Directors, 
Executive Board before approval by Executive Cabinet (or Single Commissioning Board for 
monies within the Section 75). A template for approval in principle will be provided.  Where 
officers anticipate that expenditure will be involved in developing a full business case for the 
project, the stage 2 approval in principle report should seek approval to spend from reserves 
if this cannot be covered within existing Directorate resources. 

 Stage 3 – Scoping and Design - Once approval in principle has been obtained from 
Executive Cabinet, the project can be fully scoped, developed and costed.  This will inform 
the full business case at stage 4. 

 Stage 4 – Full Business Case – A full business case will need to be presented to Directors, 
Board and Cabinet (or Single Commissioning Board for monies within the Section 75) to 
obtain full approval to proceed with the project.  A template for the full business case will be 
provided. 

 Stage 5 – Project Delivery and Monitoring – Templates for financial planning and 
monitoring will be developed to support consistent reporting formats including key milestones 
for delivery.  Monitoring of Capital Projects will be to Strategic Planning and Capital 

Page 60



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

21 | P a g e 

 

 

Monitoring Panel. 

 Stage 6 – Project Evaluation – On project completion, SLT, Board and Cabinet (or Single 
Commissioning Board for monies within the Section 75) should be provided with a project 
completion and evaluation report, confirming that the project has been delivered as planned 
and has delivered the intended objectives 

 
Financial Management will provide templates and guidance to assist officers in the development of 
reports for Cabinet approval.  All investment proposals will need to cover the five areas set out in 
the guidance, but the level of detail required will vary according the size, scale and complexity of 
the proposed investment.  
 The business case  will cover: 

 The strategic case – why is the project needed and what options have been considered; 
 The economic case – why the project represents value for money 
 The financial case – why the proposed project is deliverable within the available 

resources; 
 The commercial case – why the project is deliverable within existing technologies or 

market capacity 
 The management case – how the project will be delivered 

 Accountability for each proposal is accepted by a named officer; 
 Variations in the cost of individual projects are reported to the Strategic Planning and Capital 

Monitoring Panel and the Executive Cabinet. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To develop the capital programme on an annual basis for approval. 
 To present the budget to Council for approval in February prior to the start of each financial 

year. 
 To identify the funding sources of the proposed Capital Programme ensuring any revenue 

consequences are taken account of in the overall budget setting process. 
 To determine the definition of ‘capital’ having regard to government regulations and proper 

accounting practice. 
 To report on the financial progress of capital projects against budget to the Executive Cabinet 

and Strategic Planning and Capital Monitoring Panel four times a year. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 Where a capital scheme is required to be included in or added to the Capital Programme, the 

responsible officer shall submit a capital business case for the scheme, including possible 
alternatives with up-to-date estimates of capital and revenue costs 

 To comply with guidance concerning capital schemes and controls issued by the Chief 
Finance Officer. 

 To ensure that adequate records are maintained for all capital contracts. 
 Ensure that no capital expenditure is incurred on any scheme unless: 

 it is within the approved budget for that scheme; 
 the nature of the spend is in line with the original purpose approved for the scheme; 
 government approval to the scheme has, where appropriate, been obtained; 
 the source of funding has been identified; 
 any revenue consequential expenditure which arises from the proposed capital 

expenditure has been accepted as a commitment by the Council; 
 it has been procured within Public Procurement Regulations. 

 To report on the progress of capital projects to the Strategic Planning and Capital Monitoring 
Panel four times a year 

 To provide the Chief Finance Officer any information required to compile the regular 
monitoring report to Executive Cabinet and the Strategic Planning and Capital Monitoring 
Panel. 

 To ensure budget holders notify the Chief Finance Officer: 
 if a significant alteration of the nature of works is recommended; 
 any extension of time is granted or a delay has arisen; 
 a contractor or other body has submitted a claim which would result in the final account sum 

Page 61



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

22 | P a g e 

 

 

of £50,000 or more above the original contract sum; 
 the contractor has ceased trading or is in liquidation. 

 To explain any variances from the approved gross budget which are in excess of £50,000 or 
5% of the capital scheme budget (whichever is lower). 

 
Financial Limits 
Notify the Chief Financial Officer: 
 If a contractor or other body has submitted a claim which would result in the final account sum 

of £50,000 or more above the original contract sum; 
 

 To explain any variances from the approved gross budget which are in excess of £50,000 or 
5% of the capital scheme budget (whichever is lower). 

  

Page 62



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

23 | P a g e 

 

 

6. BUDGET GUIDANCE AND THE BUDGET TIMETABLE  
 
What is Budget Guidance and the Budget Timetable? 
Budget Guidance sets out what we need to do in order to prepare the Council’s annual budget. 
The Budget Timetable outlines the timeframe against activities which will take place, including the 
key deadlines we ask all involved in budget preparation to follow. 
 
Why is Budget Guidance and the Budget Timetable important? 
The guidance ensures that budgets are produced accurately and consistently in line with financial 
procedures. It also ensures that the level of detail and what is included meets legal requirements. 
 
The timetable ensures that the budgets are produced and approved by Full Council within the 
dates set out in legislation. 
 
Key Controls 
 The budget guidance and timetable are produced on an annual basis 
 The guidance and timetable will focus on the following: 

 The full year effect of previous year’s decisions 
 Consequences of the approved capital programme 
 Adjustments in relation to specific ‘one year only’ allocations and other time expired funding 
 Other specific Council decisions 
 Budget assumptions on: 

 Levels of pay and the price inflation which is to be applied 
 Council Tax increase 
 Funding allocations from Central Government 
 Pension contribution rates 
 Levels of Discretionary fees and charges 
 Levels of Levies 

 Ensuring approval of budget by Full Council 
 Ensuring Council Tax is set by statutory dates 
 The format complies with legal requirements and reflects the accountabilities of Service 

Delivery 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To determine the format of the budget that is approved by Full Council 
 To set a balanced budget in order to meet the Section 151 Officer’s responsibilities 
 To produce and distribute the guidance and timetable on an annual basis to officers and 

Members 
 To ensure returns are made to central government in line with their requirements 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To comply with the accounting guidelines and timetable provided by the Chief Finance Officer 

Page 63



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

24 | P a g e 

 

 

7. BUDGET CONTROL AND MONITORING 
 
What is Budget Monitoring and Control? 
A budget is a plan expressed financially, which sets out the anticipated income and expenditure for 
a service area or cost centre. Budgetary control and monitoring is the process used by budget 
managers, supported by officers within the Financial Management Service, to review revenue and 
capital expenditure against their budgets, and project estimated spending to the end of the financial 
year. Accountability is achieved through formal reporting of the budget position, carried out at 
agreed times. 
 
Why is Budget Monitoring and Control important? 
Budget monitoring ensures that once the budget has been approved by the Council, resources 
allocated are used for their intended purposes and are properly accounted for. 
 
Budgetary control is the process of monitoring financial activity against the financial plan 
and, where necessary, taking the appropriate action in a timely manner to address any movement 
from the plan. 
 
Budget monitoring and control also provides the mechanism that calls to account managers 
responsible for defined elements of the budget. It is therefore important that effective processes 
for monitoring of budgets are in place and adhered to. 
 
To assist with the above it is essential that quality information is available to budget managers 
to ensure that sound financial decisions can be made, especially where spending may differ 
from planned expenditure. 
 
To ensure that the Council in total does not overspend, each Service is required to manage 
its own expenditure within the budget allocated to it. 
 
Key Controls 
 Budget managers should be responsible only for income and expenditure that they can 

influence. 
 There is a nominated budget manager for each cost centre heading. 
 Budget managers accept accountability for their budgets, the level of service to be delivered 

and understand their financial responsibilities. 
 Budget managers have access to the Council’s financial management system (Agresso) and 

should receive training on how to use it, run reports and should access it regularly. 
 Budget managers have named Finance contact from the Financial Management Service and 

are expected to engage with them for support and advice. 
 Budget managers follow an approved certification process for all expenditure. 
 Income and expenditure are properly budgeted, recorded and accounted for.  This means 

that all budgets should be shown gross alongside any income funding it. 
 Performance levels / levels of service are monitored in conjunction with the budget and 

necessary action is taken to align service outputs and budget.  An annual budget monitoring 
timetable is produced at the start of the year. 

 Budget managers may not incur expenditure in excess of budget (taken as an aggregate 
amount across all areas of the revenue budget in their control) without a robust plan, agreed 
with the Chief Finance Officer, to recover such overspending (or under achievement of 
income) during the  financial year. Any expenditure in excess of the budget must be included 
in the revenue budget monitoring reports to the Executive Cabinet. 

 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To establish an appropriate framework of budgetary management and control that ensures 

that: 
 budget management is exercised within approved limits unless the Council agrees 

otherwise; 
 each Director has available timely information on income and expenditure which is 

Page 64



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

25 | P a g e 

 

 

sufficiently detailed to enable managers to fulfil their budgetary responsibilities. 
 To ensure compliance with the agreed virement procedures.  
 To prepare and submit reports on the Council’s projected income and expenditure compared 

to budget on a regular basis and to make recommendations to Members regarding changes 
to the budget. 

 To submit reports to the Executive Cabinet, in consultation with the relevant Director, where 
a Director is unable to balance expenditure and resources within existing approved budgets 
under his or her control. 

 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To maintain budgetary control within their service, as outlined above and to ensure that all 

income and expenditure is properly recorded and accounted for. 
 To ensure that an accountable budget manager is identified for each item of income and 

expenditure under the control of the Director, grouped together in a series of cost centres. As 
a general principle, budget responsibility should be aligned as closely as possible to the 
decision-making that commits and/or controls expenditure. 

 To ensure that budget spending remains within the service’s overall budget, and that 
individual budget heads are not overspent.  This may require appropriate corrective action to 
be taken where significant variations from the approved budget are forecast. 

 To ensure that a monitoring process is in place to review performance levels/ levels of service 
in conjunction with the budget and that it is operating effectively. 

 To prepare and submit to Cabinet, reports on the Service’s projected expenditure and income 
compared with its budget, in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer. 

 To report and obtain prior approval by Council and Cabinet, where appropriate, before 
incurring expenditure on schemes of whatever amounts, that: 

o create financial commitments in future years above the budget level – this includes 
indemnities; 

o change existing policies, initiate new policies or cease existing policies; or 
o materially extend or reduce the Council’s services. 

 Emergency expenditure – no proposal should be submitted to Executive Cabinet / Council 
involving expenditure during a financial year where no provision has been made in the current 
budget. Only in the case of either urgency or on a matter in which the Council is under a legal 
obligation, the Chief Executive and Chief Finance Officer, after consultation with the Executive  
Member for Finance, shall have power to agree that the expenditure will be met subject to the 
action being reported to Executive Cabinet and the necessary governance being undertaken 

 To ensure compliance with the scheme of virement. 
 To consult with the relevant Director where it appears that a budget proposal, including a 

virement proposal, may impact materially on another service area. 
 
Financial Limits 
 All actual and forecast budget variances of greater than £30,000 under the control of a single 

budget manager reported to Executive Cabinet 
 

Page 65



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

26 | P a g e 

 

 

8. SCHEME OF VIREMENT  
 
What is a Virement? 
A virement is the transfer of budget from one specific activity area to another. This can either be 
a transfer within revenue budgets or capital budgets but not between revenue and capital. 
 
Why is the Scheme of Virement important? 
The scheme of Virement, is intended to enable the Directors and their officers to manage 
budgets with a degree of flexibility within the overall framework determined by the Council, and 
therefore optimise the use of resources. 
 
The key controls are: 
 
Revenue and Capital 
 Virement into a receiving budget may only occur provided that the donating cost centre will 

not subsequently become overspent during the budget period; 
 Virements, which involve a key decision should be subject to an Executive Cabinet Report 

and the Council’s decision making process in line with the Council’s Constitution; and 
 A record of all virements must be kept. 
 
Revenue 
 Permanent virements can only be processed if the donating cost centre has permanent 

budget provision to fund the requested virement; 
 Only in year virements can be agreed for Employee budgets unless the virement is linked to 

a structural change that has received the necessary approvals; and 
 All virements must be authorised in line with the delegated Council approvals. 
 
Capital 
 Provisional budget allocations into subsequent projects require Executive Cabinet approval; 
 Virements between schemes must be authorised in line with the delegated Council approvals; 

and 
 Capital Schemes must have a matching expenditure and financing budget. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To prepare virement procedures for approval by Full Council; and 
 To monitor compliance with the agreed virement procedures. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure compliance with the agreed virement procedures; 
 No virement relating to a specific financial year should be made after 31 March in that year; 
 To ensure that virements are authorised as per the delegated powers approved by Full 

Council; and 
 A virement that is likely to impact on the level or service activity of another Director should be 

progressed only after agreement with the relevant Director. 
 
Financial Limits 
The majority of virements along with appropriate approval can and should take place as part of the 
regular financial reporting presented to cabinet and there should be no need for separate decision 
reports.  The authorised limits for both Revenue and Capital virements subject to principles 
established under the key controls are set out below – noting that any decision can be taken to 
Executive Cabinet if there are any concerns or additional factors that would warrant that oversight: 
  

Page 66



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

27 | P a g e 

 

 

 

Budget Virements 
(a) Between Directorates 
(b) Between Services Within Directorates  

(c) Between pay and non-pay 
 

Amount Who 
Governance required to 
facilitate - Decision Type 

More than £500,000 Executive Cabinet Key Decision 

£250,000 to £500,000 Executive Member for Finance & 
relevant Executive Member 

Executive Decision 

£100,000 to £250,000 Director Executive Decision (officer) 

£50,000 to £100,000 Assistant Director Executive Decision (officer) 

Less than £50,000 Budget Manager Operational recorded 
through Agresso 

 

Budget Virements – From Corporate Contingency 

Amount Who 
Governance required to 
facilitate - Decision Type 

More than £50,000 Executive Cabinet Key Decision 

Less than £50,000 Chief Finance Officer Executive Decision (officer) 

 
Any decision taken under these delegated limits still needs to be recorded and documented in the 
form of a report that sets out the background, options considered and rationale for the decision.  This 
can be addressed as part of the regular Finance Update to Executive Cabinet  and any changes to 
Capital Programme should be reported to Strategic Planning and Capital Monitoring. 
 

Budget Virements – Capital Programme7 

Amount Who 
Governance required to 
facilitate - Decision Type 

More than £500,0008 Executive Cabinet Key Decision 

£500,000 Chief Finance in consultation with 
Executive Member for Finance 

Executive Decision (officer) 

Up to £250K Chief Finance Officer Executive Decision (officer) 

 
Any decision taken under these delegated limits will be included in the regular Finance Update to 
the Strategic Planning and Capital Monitoring Panel. 
 
 

                                                 
7 This only covers transferring budget frim one approved capital scheme to anotherapproved 
capital scheme  noting that all schemes over £500K must be approved by a Key Decision  
8 This is the aggregate amount for whole project over lifetime of the project - not each individual 
request 

Page 67



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

28 | P a g e 

 

 

9. GRANT FUNDING 
 
What is Grant Funding? 
Local Authorities receive a number of grants as a method of funding, usually from other Government 
Grant giving bodies.  There are different types of grant: 
 Formula Grants are where recipients receive an amount calculated by formula.  The 

department divides up a finite pot of available grant funds (which is determined in the 
spending reviews) between those organisations satisfying the formula criteria.  Additionally:  
 the formula is set by legislation and regulations and funds are awarded per that formula;  
 Formula Grants are awarded to local government / authorities and local government 

public bodies, for example, grant funding provided by Central Government to Local 
Authorities which is determined by factors such as population.  

 by their nature Formula Grants are non-competitive.   
Some of these grants are specific and can only be spent on the purpose for which it is 
intended, such as the Dedicated Schools Grant, which can only be spent on the Education of 
Children and Schools otherwise known as ‘ring fencing’.  Some are more general, such as 
the Revenue Support Grant, which is intended to fund Council General Expenditure and can 
be spent in line with the Council’s own priorities. 

 
 General Grants – Are defined by Government as a relatively flexible means of funding 

activities for the public good and/or in support of government departmental policy.  The 
department provides the funds, and can remain at arm’s length to the recipient and the outputs 
whilst still being able to maintain sensible performance management and financial control 
over the use of the grant funds. These types of grants are subdivided into: 
 competed awards – where the Council bids for funds 
 direct awards that are uncompleted,  
 criteria grants – not usually competed but when an Authority meets a certain criteria, for 

example grants to assist those affected by flooding, 
 

Certain grants may require the Council to contribute an amount of matched funding from its own 
resources, and the acceptance of a grant may result in the Council accepting a commitment to 
deliver certain schemes or services, and therefore accept a liability to deliver. 
 
Why is Grant Funding important? 
The Council receives a significant proportion of its funding through grants, which have to be 
accounted for correctly, and spent in the appropriate areas.  In a number of cases detailed grant 
claims should be completed in order to draw down funding, it is therefore important that any new 
grants are added to the Council’s budget and reported on in line with normal budget monitoring 
practices. 
 
Key Controls 
 All bids for grant funding require approval under the scheme of delegation as outlined in the 

financial limits section below.   
 The signing of Grant Funding Agreements require approval under the scheme of delegation. 
 All grants must be budgeted for on the Council’s Agresso system following approval under 

the scheme of delegation. 
 All grant income will be assigned a separate account code to assist with subsequent grant 

claims and monitoring 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To sign off Grant Funding Agreements 
 To ensure grant returns are submitted under the terms of the Grant Funding Agreement 
 To monitor spend against the available funding in line with the budget monitoring requirements 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To update Executive Cabinet on any new grants entered  into and regularly inform them of 

progress made against the delivery of the grant outcomes.. 

Page 68



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

29 | P a g e 

 

 

Financial Delegations 
 

Application for and Acceptance of Grants 

Amount Who Governance required to 
facilitate 
Decision Type 

>£500,000 Executive Cabinet Key Decision 

£250,000 to £500,000 Executive Member for Finance & relevant 
Executive Member 

Executive Decision 

£100,000 to £250,000 Chief Finance Officer and Relevant Service 
Director 

Executive Decision (officer) 

£50,000 to £100,000 Chief Finance Officer and Relevant 
Assistant Director 

Executive Decision (officer) 

  

Page 69



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

30 | P a g e 

 

 

10. TREATMENT OF YEAR END BALANCES 
 
What are Year End Balances? 
Despite the requirement for Services to limit expenditure to the level of their budget, for a 
variety of reasons, there may be overspends and in-year savings of expenditure against service 
budgets at the year end. 
 
The normal arrangement is that all year end balances, both underspends and overspends, are 
transferred to (in the case of an underspend) or from (in the case of an overspend) general 
reserves. 
 
If there is a need to carry forward an individual budget that has underspent, or bring forward a budget 
to fund an overspend, ultimately, it is the decision of Executive Cabinet to approve the carry 
forward of any under or overspends. This should take account of the overall financial position of 
the Council and the recommendations of the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
Why are Year End Balances important? 
The Council has a scheme in place which covers arrangements for the transfer of resources 
between accounting years, i.e. a carry forward. It is important that the amounts involved in the 
transfer of these resources are known to inform the overall financial position of the Council. 
This then allows for sound future financial decisions being made going forward. 
 
Key Controls 
 All requests for carry forwards in both revenue and capital budgets will be made to Executive 

Cabinet as part of the final outturn report. 
 An assessment of in-year savings and overspends in relation to Capital Schemes will be made 

at year end to determine the appropriate treatment. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To recommend to Executive Cabinet the treatment of year end balances. 
 To monitor compliance with the agreed scheme of carry forward 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure compliance with the agreed scheme. 
 

Page 70



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

31 | P a g e 

 

 

11. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
What are Accounting Policies? 
 
Accounting policies are the accounting principles, rules and procedures selected and consistently 
followed by the Council, which dictate what and how financial information is accounted for and 
presented in the Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts. 
 
The key accounting policy guidelines adopted by the Council are the CIPFA Code of Practice 
on Local Council Accounting and Service Reporting Code of Practice. These interpret International 
Financial Reporting Standards for local authorities. 
 
Why are Accounting Policies important? 
They are important as they provide: 
 

 a clear and open view of the financial affairs of the Council; 
 a level of disclosure which is considered to be relevant, informative and appropriate; 
 a consistent standard in the process of preparation and presentation of financial statements;  
 an ability to compare between local authorities. 

 
Key Controls 
 Systems of internal control are in place to ensure that financial transactions are lawful. 
 Accounting policies are reviewed annually to ensure they comply with the latest developments 

in the CIPFA Code of Practice. 
 Suitable accounting policies are selected and applied consistently and approved by the Audit 

Panel. 
 Proper accounting records are maintained and to the required standard. 
 Financial statements are prepared which present fairly the financial position of the Council 

and its expenditure and income. 
 Inspection of accounts by External Audit. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To select suitable accounting policies and to ensure that they are applied consistently. 
 To ensure the accounting policies are reviewed annually and are set out in the Annual 

Statement of Accounts, which is prepared in line with legislative requirements. 
 To present any amendments to the accounting policies to the Audit Panel. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To comply with the accounting policies and guidelines approved by the Chief Finance Officer 

and to supply the Chief Finance Officer with the information when required. 
 To keep proper accounting records that are in line with accounting policies. 

Page 71



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

32 | P a g e 

 

 

12. ACCOUNTING RECORDS AND RETURNS 
 
What are Accounting Records and Returns? 
All of the Council’s transactions, commitments, contracts and other essential accounting 
information must be recorded fully, accurately and on a timely basis.  Accounting Records must 
also provide an audit trail leading from the source of income or expenditure through to the 
accounting statements. 
 
The Council’s accounting records in the financial information system, Agresso, is the main 
system in which financial information is held.  The Revenue and Capital accounts, balance sheet, 
and other financial records, are held within the General Ledger, and its sub-systems including 
Debtors and Creditors and e-Procurement. Together they form the Council’s financial records, from 
which, along with the Council Tax and Business Rates Systems and the Asset register, the financial 
statements and financial returns are produced. 
 
Why are Accounting Records and Returns important? 
During the financial year, the Council completes financial returns relating to the Council either as a 
whole or for certain individual services.  These can be for a variety of reasons and to different 
audiences including Central Government Departments, Members, Auditors and the general 
public. The information is mainly required by legislation. 
 
Maintaining proper accounting records is one of the ways in which the Council discharges its 
responsibilities for stewardship of public resources.  The Council also has to comply with 
legislation and statute, International Financial Reporting Standards, grant conditions and 
discharge its duties in line with Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (HMRC) requirements. 
 
The Council has a statutory responsibility to prepare its annual accounts to present fairly the results 
of its operations during the year.  These are subject to external audit which provides assurance 
that the accounts are prepared properly, that proper accounting practices have been followed and 
that arrangements have been made for securing value for money in the use of the Council’s 
resources.  The auditors do this by examining the accounting records of the Council. 
 
Key Controls 
 The key controls for accounting records and returns are: 

 all Directors, Budget Managers and Finance Officers operate within the required accounting 
standards and timetables as outlined within the guidance issued; 

 all the Council’s transactions, material commitments and contracts and other essential 
accounting information are recorded completely, accurately and on a timely basis; 

 all sub-systems that generate a financial activity are correctly interfaced with the Council’s 
finance systems (Agresso) and procedures are in place to ensure that these interfaces are 
regularly and routinely reconciled to ensure the accuracy of the accounting records; 

 procedures are in place to enable accounting records to be reconstructed in the event of 
systems failure; 

 reconciliation procedures are carried out to ensure transactions are correctly recorded; and 
 prime documents are retained in accordance with legislative and other requirements; 
 The Agresso system is documented in a systems map which is maintained for new systems 

and interfaces. 
 

Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To issue instructions considered necessary for carrying out the daily financial work of the 

Council, after consulting with Directors where needed. 
 To determine the accounting procedures and records for the Council. 
 To arrange for the compilation of all accounts and accounting records under his or her 

direction. 
 To ensure the proper retention of financial documents in accordance with the requirements 

set out in the Council’s document retention schedule. 
 To stipulate the date by which all financial records for any financial year shall be completed. 

Page 72



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

33 | P a g e 

 

 

 To prepare and publish the audited Statement of Accounts of the Council for each financial 
year, in accordance with the statutory timetable and with the requirement for the Council to 
approve the Statement of Accounts before the statutory deadline. 

 To make proper arrangements for the audit of the Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts in 
accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations. 

 To administer the Council’s arrangements for under and overspendings to be carried forward 
to the following financial year. 

 To comply with the following principles when allocating accounting duties: 
 separating the duties of providing information about sums due to or from the Council and 

calculating, checking and recording these sums from the duty of collecting or disbursing 
them; and 

 officers with the duty of examining or checking the accounts of cash transactions must not 
themselves be engaged in these transactions. 

 To certify financial returns, grant claims and other periodic financial reports required of the 
Council. 

 Approve grant applications and any financial arrangement, which could impose a financial 
liability on the Council. 

 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To comply with the principles outlined above when allocating accounting duties. 
 To ensure that all claims for funds, including grants, are completed and passed in sufficient 

time to the Chief Finance Officer for certification to be completed by the due date. 
 To ensure any conditions attached to funds, including grants, are complied with. 
 To maintain  adequate  records  to  provide  a  management  trail  leading  from  the  source  

of income/expenditure through to the accounting statements. 
 To be responsible for all receipts and claims in relation to salary expenses and disbursements 

made by staff in their service. 
 To supply information required to enable the Statement of Accounts to be completed in 

accordance with the guidelines issued by the Chief Finance Officer. 
 To maintain an effective and appropriate control environment for staff with finance 

responsibilities as advised by the Chief Finance Officer. 
 To report changes to operational procedures or circumstances, including new IT systems, 

which affects the control environment to the Chief Finance Officer. 

Page 73



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

34 | P a g e 

 

 

13. ANNUAL STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 
What is the Annual Statement of Accounts? 
The Annual Statement of Accounts, also known as the Annual Report, is a financial summary of 
the state of the financial affairs of the Council over the course of a year. It includes: 
 
 Regulations and Introduction 
 Statement of Accounting Policies 
 The Financial Statements, including: 

 Movement in Reserves 
 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure; 
 Balance Sheet; 
 Cash Flow; and 
 Collection Fund Accounts 
 Pension Fund Accounts 

 
 Notes to the accounts 
 Glossary. 
 
The Council is required to follow the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Council Accounting in the 
United Kingdom, supported by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The 
Accounts and Audit Regulations, as amended from time to time, set out the statutory dates for 
approval and publication of the Annual Statement of Accounts. The Statement of Accounts is 
made available for inspection by interested parties, and is subject to external audit to ensure that 
it presents a fair view of the financial position of the Council. 
 
Why is the Annual Statement of Accounts important? 
By legislation, the Council is required to produce an Annual Statement of Accounts each financial 
year. The Statement of Accounts shows not only a snapshot of the financial position as at the 31 
March each year, but also provides the reader with an understanding on how the Council has 
performed financially during that financial year. 
 
After audit, the Statement of Accounts give assurance to key stakeholders that the financial 
affairs of the Council have been conducted properly and appropriately, and that they give what is 
considered to be a ‘true and fair’ view of the financial position of the Council. 
 
Key Controls 
The key controls for the Annual Statement of Accounts are: 
 The Council is required to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial 

affairs and to ensure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of 
these affairs. In this Council, that officer is the Chief Finance Officer; 

 To manage the Council’s affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources 
and safeguard its assets; and 

 The Council’s Statement of Accounts must be prepared in accordance with proper practices 
as set out in the Code of Practice on Local Council Accounting in Great Britain: “the Code of 
Practice” (as amended from time to time). 

 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To comply with the Code of Practice. 
 To comply with statute and regulations. 
 To draw up the timetable and guidance notes for financial accounts preparation and to advise 

staff and external auditors accordingly. 
 To sign and date the Statement of Accounts, stating that it presents fairly the financial position 

of the Council at the accounting date and its income and expenditure for the financial year 
ended 31 March. 

 To ensure that the Statement of Accounts are approved by the Overview (Audit) Panel. 
 

Page 74



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

35 | P a g e 

 

 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To comply with accounting guidance provided by the Chief Finance Officer and to supply the 

Chief Finance Officer with the information when required. 
 To keep proper accounting records that are up to date. 

Page 75



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

36 | P a g e 

 

 

14. MAINTENANCE OF RESERVES 
 
What are Reserves? 
Reserves are amounts of funding that have been raised but not yet spent, and are usually set aside 
to fund specific or unexpected expenditure. There are different reserves held by the Council, 
analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local 
taxation) and ‘unusable reserves’ which are used for accounting purposes. 
 
Usable reserves are analysed into those that are earmarked for specific purposes and those that 
are held to ensure that the Council can continue to provide services if an unexpected event occurs, 
also known as ‘general’ reserves. 
 
The majority of reserves are earmarked to specific areas of activity and allow the management of 
expenditure and risks across financial years.   
 
Why is the Maintenance of Reserves important? 
By legislation (Local Government Act 2003), the Chief Finance Officer must report to Full Council, 
immediately prior to setting the Budget and Council Tax, on the robustness of the budget as 
proposed and the adequacy of general reserves and earmarked reserves. The Council then 
agrees on the level of reserves it will maintain before it then decides on the level of Council 
Tax. Reserves are maintained as a matter of prudence. They enable the Council to provide for 
unexpected events and thereby protect it from overspending, should such events occur. Reserves 
for specific purposes are also maintained with full details provided in the Annual Statement of 
Accounts. 
 
Reserves can only be used for the purpose for which they were created. The Executive Cabinet 
can change the use of the earmarked reserve if it so wishes or move funds between reserves, 
providing this is not contrary to proper accounting practice.  The Director of Finance will make 
recommendations to Executive Cabinet as part of the annual review of reserves. Reserves are 
categorised to aid understanding and decision making for reserves. 
 
Key Controls 
 Reserves are reviewed on an annual basis to ensure compliance with the Local Government 

Act 2003. 
 To maintain reserves in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Council 

Accounting in the United Kingdom, supported by International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). 

 For each reserve clearly establish its purpose, usage and amount to be set aside. 
 Authorisation to establish and add to a reserve is by the Chief Finance Officer, subject to the 

financial limits below. 
 Authorisation to incur expenditure against the reserve is set out below. 
 All movements to and from reserves are reported to Executive Cabinet as part of the routine 

monitoring cycle. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To advise the Council on prudent levels of balances for the Council. 
 To authorise the establishment of new reserves. 
 To agree expenditure to be used against each reserve. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To comply with guidance provided by the Chief Finance Officer and ensure that reserves are 

used only for the purpose for which they were intended. 
 
  

Page 76



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

37 | P a g e 

 

 

Financial Limits 
 

Category Description 
Approval Required to 
spend 

Accounting 
reserves 

This will include two sub categories: 

Chief Finance Officer 

1) Unusable reserves - those reserves required by 
proper accounting practice that are not resource 
backed. 

2) General Accounting Reserves - reserves 
established as good accounting practice for specific 
accounting purposes (such as the PFI smoothing 
reserves and Leasing reserves) 

Grants and 
Contributions 

Reserves to hold unspent grants and contributions 
received from external sources. 

1) For the purposes 
intended by the original 
contribution – Chief 
Finance Officer 

2) For an alternative 
purpose - Executive 
Cabinet 

Liabilities and 
Risk 

Reserves held to mitigate against known and 
anticipated liabilities and risks.  This will include for 
example self-insurance reserves. 

Chief Finance Officer 

Capital 
Reserves 

Capital Receipts, Capital Grants and Reserves 
earmarked for capital purposes.  These reserves are 
used to finance the capital programme. 

Chief Finance Officer 

Schools 
Reserves 

Reserves for Schools and Education expenditure, 
including the ring fenced schools balances. 

Chief Finance Officer 

Budget 
Resilience 
Reserves 

Reserves held for planned revenue investment in 
services, for example reserves set aside for planned 
investment in Children's Services, and to provide 
resilience for specific services not covered by general 
fund balances such as the waste levy reserve.  

Less than £50,000 – Chief 
Finance Officer 
More than £50,000 - 
Executive Cabinet 

Strategic 
Priorities 
Reserves 

Reserves held for planned or intended investment in 
Strategic Priorities.  This will include reserves such as 
the Care Together Reserve. 

Less than £50,000 – Chief 
Finance Officer 
More than £50,000 - 
Executive Cabinet 

 

Page 77



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

38 | P a g e 

 

 

15. INTERNAL CONTROLS 
 
What are Internal Controls? 
Internal Controls include the policies, processes, tasks, behaviours and other areas of the 
Council that taken together: 
 enable it to react to significant risks in achieving its objectives.  This includes protecting anything 

which is considered valuable to the organisation from misuse or loss and fraud; 
 help ensure the quality of internal and external reporting.  This requires the maintenance of 

proper records, and processes which create a flow of timely, relevant and reliable information 
from both within and outside the organisation; and 

 help ensure relevant laws and regulations are followed, as well as internal policies with respect 
to the conducting of the business. 

 
Why are Internal Controls important? 
The Council is complex and beyond the direct control of individuals. As such it requires internal 
controls to manage and monitor progress towards strategic objectives; 
 
The Council has statutory obligations, including those set out within the Local Government Act 
1972 and Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015, which require internal controls to be 
established to ensure compliance with these obligations; 
 
The Council faces a wide range of financial, administrative and commercial risks, both from 
internal and external factors, which threaten the achievement of its objectives. Internal controls 
are necessary to manage these risks; 
 
The system of internal controls is established in order to provide measurable 
achievement of: 
 efficient and effective operations; 
 reliable financial information and reporting; 
 compliance with laws and regulations; and 
 risk management. 
 
Key Controls 
 Key controls should be reviewed on a regular basis and the Council should make a formal 

statement annually to the effect that the Council has a sound system of internal control which 
facilitates the effective exercise of the Council’s functions and which includes arrangements 
for the management of risk. 

 Managerial control systems, including defining policies, setting objectives and plans, 
monitoring financial and other performance and taking appropriate anticipatory and remedial 
action. The key objective of these systems is to promote ownership of the control environment 
by defining roles and responsibilities. 

 Financial and operational control systems and procedures, which include physical safeguards 
for assets, segregation of duties, authorisation and approval procedures and information 
systems. 

 An effective Internal Audit function that is properly resourced. It should operate in accordance 
with the principles contained in the Auditing Practices Board’s auditing guidelines Guidance 
for Internal Auditors, the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and with any other 
statutory obligations and regulations. 

 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To direct and assist the Council to put into place an appropriate control environment and 

effective internal controls which provide reasonable assurance of effective and efficient 
operations, financial stewardship, probity and compliance with laws and regulations. This will 
ensure compliance with Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, which requires every 
local Council to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to 
ensure that one of the officers (the Chief Finance Officer) has responsibility for the 
administration of those affairs. 

Page 78



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

39 | P a g e 

 

 

Responsibilities of Directors 
 To establish and maintain controls as well as processes which ensure such controls are being 

adhered to and evaluated, in order to be confident in the proper use of resources, 
achievement of objectives and management of risks on an ongoing basis. 

 To review existing controls in the light of changes affecting the Council and to establish and 
implement new ones in line with guidance from the Chief Finance Officer. 

 Ensure that officers have a clear understanding of the consequences of a lack of control or 
not adhering to agreed processes. 

 To maintain an effective and appropriate control environment for staff with finance 
responsibilities as advised by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 To report changes to operational procedures or circumstances which affects the control 
environment to the Chief Finance Officer. 

Page 79



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

40 | P a g e 

 

 

16. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
What is Risk Management? 
All organisations face risks to people, property and the day-to-day running of the business. Risk is 
the chance of something going wrong, and the possibility of loss, damage, injury or failure to 
achieve objectives caused by an unwanted action or event, which we have no control over. Risk 
can impact upon all officers within the Council as well as the Council’s partners, businesses and 
residents. 
 
Risk Management is a planned and methodical way of identifying areas of risk, evaluating them 
and taking a look at how the risks can be controlled or mitigated. Risk Management looks at the 
measures which an organisation already has in place to deal with identified risks, the adequacy of 
these measures and the actions required to control these risks effectively to a level that the Council 
can tolerate. 
 
It is the overall responsibility of the Audit Panel to approve the Council’s Risk Management 
Strategy, and to promote a culture of risk management awareness throughout the Council. 
 
Why is Risk Management important? 
The challenges that the Council faces, and the rate of change, puts the organisation under 
increasing pressure to improve the quality of management at all levels. This means that the 
Council needs to make sure that risk management processes are structured, as well as being 
instinctive and intuitive. If management are to meet these challenges, high quality risk 
management needs to be at the core of decision making at all levels of the Council. 
 
There is an ongoing requirement from the Accounts and Audit Regulations to produce an Annual 
Governance Statement (AGS) which is attached to the Annual Accounts, setting out the processes 
in place for managing the most significant risks to the achievement of objectives. Risk 
management processes are an integral part of the AGS. 
 
All local authorities are increasingly being held to account by external assessors for the way in 
which risk management has been implemented. The Council needs to continue to demonstrate 
that all Services have a structured approach, which is embedded into planning and reporting 
cycles and decision making processes at all levels. 
 
Key Controls 
The key controls for Risk Management are: 
 The Council has adopted a Risk Management Strategy which has been approved by Audit 

Panel and is regularly updated. 
 The Council maintains and reviews a register of its corporate risks and assigns named 

individuals to lead on the actions identified to mitigate each risk. 
 Procedures are in place to identify, assess, prevent or contain material known risks, and these 

procedures are operating effectively throughout the Council. 
 The Audit Panel receives reports on a regular basis, and takes appropriate action to ensure 

that corporate business risks are being identified and effectively managed. 
 A monitoring process is in place to review regularly the effectiveness of risk reduction 

strategies and the operation of these controls. 
 Managers know that they are responsible for managing relevant risks and are provided with 

relevant information on risk management initiatives. 
 All reports to support strategic policy decisions must include reference to the risks associated 

along with the decisions being taken, in both a positive and negative scenario (i.e. the risks 
of taking the decision as recommended and the risks of doing nothing). 

 Documents for all major projects include a risk assessment which must be completed. 
 The risk management process specifically considers risks in relation to significant 

partnerships, and provides for assurances to be obtained concerning the management of 
those risks. 

 Business Continuity Plans are in place in the event of a disaster or major incident that results 

Page 80



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

41 | P a g e 

 

 

in significant loss or damage to resources and dependencies. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To prepare and promote the Council’s Risk Management Strategy. 
 To prepare and promote the Council’s Business Continuity Management System. 
 To develop risk management controls in conjunction with other Directors. 
 To regularly report to Members of Audit Panel on the effectiveness of the risk management 

process. 
 To report to Members of the Audit Panel and Overview (Audit) Panel on the effectiveness of 

the risk management process and any changes to it in the Annual Governance Statement. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To take responsibility for risk management, having regard to advice from the Chief Finance 

Officer and other specialist officers. 
 The Risk Management Strategy requires Directors to: 

 Identify corporate and operational risks; 
 Maintain a risk register; 
 Assess the risks for likelihood and impact; 
 Prioritise risks; 
 Identify mitigating controls; and 
 Allocate responsibility for the mitigating controls. 

 To ensure that there are regular reviews of all risks within Services. 
 To ensure that Business Continuity Plans are updated at least annually. 

Page 81



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

42 | P a g e 

 

 

17. INSURANCE 
 
What is Insurance? 
 
Insurance for the Council is, in many ways, similar to the insurance that private individuals 
take out to protect items that they either: 
 cannot replace easily; or 
 are required to insure as a condition of purchase e.g. a house purchased via a mortgage etc.  
 the decision to insure an item or not is based on: 

• its replacement cost; or 
• the likelihood of it needing to be replaced. 

 
The Council has to go through a similar process for the various risks it faces, e.g. the security of 
physical assets or the work carried out by its officers. Where the Council believes it is not able 
to manage risks internally, it will take out insurance in the same way a private individual would, 
e.g. the Council insures its buildings, its officers (employee liability), and cover for members of 
the public when using Council facilities (public liability) etc. 
 
Why is Insurance important? 
Insurance is a major area within risk management, enabling risks from unfortunate events to have 
less of a negative effect due to taking out cover policies. However, insurance is not without 
a cost, and risk prevention is always preferable to paying higher premiums, where this is possible. 
 
Key Controls 
 Adequate insurance is in place to cover assets and liabilities of the organisation. 
 Policies are reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that they continue to provide adequate 

cover for the Council in line with current risk management strategies and to confirm exclusion 
clauses are being complied with. 

 Procedures are in place to investigate claims within required timescales. 
 Acceptable levels of risk are determined and insured against where appropriate. 
 The Council has an Insurance Manual which provides details of the Council’s insurance cover 

and procedures for claims. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To ensure that the Council has the appropriate insurance cover in place. 
 To include all appropriate officers of the Council in a suitable fidelity guarantee insurance. 
 To arrange all insurance cover through external insurance and internal funding and negotiate  

any claims in consultation with appropriate Directors and outside claims agencies.  
 To inform Directors of any conditions affecting insured risks. 
 To review all insurances in consultation with appropriate Directors either annually or when 

necessary. 
 To administer any self-funding arrangement set up to run alongside or replace conventional 

externally provided insurance. 
 Any failure by the Council’s appointed insurers to carry out inspections of engineering plant 

and equipment will be notified to immediately to the appropriate Director. 
 To offer insurance cover to maintained schools as per the Tameside Support for Schools 

arrangement. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure that all officers are aware of their responsibilities with regard to the use of insurance 

policies. 
 To identify and report to the Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer any amendments 

which could be required for the insurance of the Council. 
 To notify the Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer immediately of any loss, liability or 

damage that may lead to a claim against the Council, together with any information or 
explanation required by the Chief Finance Officer or the Council’s insurers. 

 To ensure that any conditions affecting insured risks are met and that their actions do not 

Page 82



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

43 | P a g e 

 

 

invalidate any claims. 
 To notify the Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer promptly of all new risks, properties 

or vehicles that require insurance and any alterations affecting existing insurances. 
 To seek approval from the Monitoring Officer on the terms of any indemnity that the Council 

is requested to give. 
 To keep suitable records to ensure that inspections of engineering plant/equipment under 

their control are duly carried out by the appointed Insurance Company within the periods 
prescribed and that any necessary action arising from them is addressed in a timely manner.  

 Not to admit liability or make any offer to pay compensation that may prejudice the 
assessment of liability in respect of any insurance claim. 

 

Page 83



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

44 | P a g e 

 

 

18. TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
 
What is Treasury Management? 
CIPFA defines Treasury Management as: 
 
“The management of the Council’s investments, borrowing and cash flows, its banking, money 
market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those 
activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.” 
 
The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash raised 
during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the Treasury Management operation is to 
ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available when it is needed. 
Surplus monies are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the 
Council’s low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment 
return. 
 
The second main function of the Treasury Management service is the funding of the Council’s 
capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council, essentially 
the longer term cash flow planning to ensure that the Council can meet its capital spending 
obligations. This management of longer term cash may involve arranging long or short term loans, 
or using longer term cash flow surpluses. Any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet 
Council risk or cost objectives. 
 
Why is Treasury Management Important? 
Millions of pounds pass through the Council’s books each year. It is critical that these 
resources are properly managed in a way that balances risk with return whilst ensuring the Council 
can meet its financial obligations .The scale of borrowing, the inter-relationship between capital 
and revenue cash management and the fact that the Council may have surplus funds for 
investment require the development of sound borrowing and investment strategies that 
encompass all of these activities in a safe, efficient and consistent manner. 
 
The main objectives of the Treasury Management function are: 

 To effectively manage and control risks; 
 To ensure that sufficient cash is available to enable the Council to discharge its financial 

obligations when they become due; 
 To undertake all borrowing at or below budgeted rates on the basis of best value, and also 

seek opportunities to reduce the cost of servicing existing debt; 
 To plan cash flows and minimise the cost of any temporary borrowing (which is required for 

day to day cash flow reasons); 
 To invest prudently having regard to the security and liquidity of investments and the 

predictability of returns; and 
 To aim to achieve the optimum return on investments commensurate with the proper levels 

of security and liquidity. 
 
Key Controls 
The Council has adopted the recommendations of CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management and the Prudential Code. The Council has developed its own Treasury 
Management Strategy in accordance with these documents. The Strategy outlines the Council’s 
 Key Treasury Management Principles; 
 Scheme of Delegation and Reporting Requirements; 
 Key Prudential Indicators – covering financing requirements, borrowing limits, debt maturity / 

type, cost of borrowing and investment income; and 
 Policy for both borrowing and investments. 
 
Responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer 
 To prepare the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement in accordance with the 

CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in Local Authorities for approval by Cabinet 

Page 84



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

45 | P a g e 

 

 

and Full Council at the Annual Budget Meeting. 
 To arrange for all Council borrowing and investment in such a manner as to comply with this 

Statement / Strategy. 
 To borrow on behalf of the Council under powers contained in the Local Government Act 1972 

and subsequent legislation in accordance with the agreed proactive borrowing strategy. 
 To arrange for the investment or utilisation for the Council’s own purposes of surplus funds in 

accordance with agreed creditworthiness criteria. 
 To ensure that all investments of money are made in the name of the Council or in the name 

of nominees approved by Cabinet. 
 To maintain a scheme of delegation for the operation of the treasury management function to 

ensure a satisfactory separation of duties. 
 To ensure that all securities that are the property of the Council or its nominees and the title 

deeds of all property in the Council’s ownership are held in the custody of the appropriate 
officer. 

 To effect all borrowings in the name of the Council. 
 To hold in safe custody all stock certificates and other documents substantiating any 

investments which may from time to time be made and to maintain records of all borrowing of 
money by the Council. 

 To ensure that there is adequate monitoring of Treasury Management activities, involving 
both Members and senior Finance officers. 

 To report to Executive Cabinet at regular intervals on Treasury Management activities 
 
Responsibilities of the Monitoring Officer 
 To act as the Council’s registrar of stocks, bonds and mortgages. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure that loans are not made to third parties and that interests are not acquired in 

companies, joint ventures or other enterprises without the approval of the Council following 
consultation with the Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer. 

 To inform officers with responsibility for Treasury Management of significant movements and 
changes in the Council’s anticipated cash flows. 

 
Financial Limits 
The decision to borrow and make investments are day to day are delegated to the Chief Finance 
Officer within the limits set by the Treasury Management Strategy and the Prudential Code.  All 
routine investment decisions are reported in retrospect as part of the statutory reporting 
requirements that require Executive Cabinet to receive a minimum of three reports per annum. 
 
Any long term borrowing that is undertaken an Executive Decision is required to be signed by the 
Chief Finance Officer and the Executive Member for Finance.  

Page 85



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

46 | P a g e 

 

 

19. BANK ACCOUNTS 
 
What are Bank Accounts? 
Bank accounts are financial accounts between the Council and a Financial Institution. The Council 
has a number of bank accounts for which money is receipted to and from our stakeholders. The 
Council banks with Barclays Bank. 
 
Why are Bank Accounts Important? 
Failure to adhere to proper banking arrangements will present a number of unacceptable risks 
for the Council: 
 

 theft, fraud or other loss; and 
 reputational risk. 

 
In order to mitigate these risks, proper procedures must be developed and strictly adhered to. 
 
Key Controls 
The key controls for bank accounts and foreign currencies are that: 
 All Bank Accounts held shall be in the name of “Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council” 
 All banking arrangements, including opening or closure of bank accounts, shall require the 

approval of the Chief Finance Officer; 
 Only the Council’s banker(s) as appointed by the Chief Finance Officer can be used by the 

Council, excluding investment accounts used for Treasury Management purposes; 
 Main bank accounts must be reconciled to the Council’s financial accounts on a regular basis; 
 Segregation of payroll expenditure account, general payment account and income account to 

enhance control and transparency; 
 Proper arrangements are made for the secure printing, secure retention and issue of cheques; 

and 
 All appropriate income documents relating to banking are retained and stored for the defined 

period in accordance with the document retention guidelines. 
 
Responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer 
 To specify arrangements for the operation of the Council’s bank accounts, prescribing rules 

concerning the number, amount and type of transactions which are to be passed through an 
account and the extent of any permitted overdraft on the Council’s aggregated accounts. 

 To ensure that main bank accounts are regularly reconciled with the Council’s accounts. 
 To make secure arrangements for the design, printing, storage and issue of cheques. 
 To ensure that every cheque drawn on the main bank accounts of the Council shall bear the 

facsimile signature of the Chief Finance Officer or an employee designated by them for this 
purpose . Every cheque for above an amount to be determined by the Chief Finance Officer 
(currently £10,000) shall be countersigned by such employees designated by the Chief 
Finance Officer for this purpose.  

 To approve delegation to named officers  for the transmission of payments from the Council 
bank accounts. 

 To be responsible for the Council’s banking and security service contracts. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To make arrangements for the proper operation of approved subsidiary bank accounts, 

including the security and issue of cheques, and prevention of overdrafts on such accounts. 
 To ensure that all money received on behalf of the Council is paid promptly into the Council’s 

accounts or is available for collection in accordance with arrangements approved by the Chief 
Finance Officer. 

 To ensure that all payments to be made by the Council shall be made from bank accounts 
opened or approved by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 To ensure income or other monies held are not used to cash personal cheques or other 
payments. 

 To make secure arrangements for the receipt of income. 

Page 86



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

47 | P a g e 

 

 

20. VALUE FOR MONEY 
 
What is Value for Money? 
Value for money has long been described as the relationship between economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness. It is sometimes known as the ‘value chain’ where: 
 ‘Economy’ is the price paid for what goes into providing a service; 
 ‘Efficiency’ is a measure of productivity – how much you get out compared to what is put in; and 
 ‘Effectiveness’ is a measure of the outcome achieved, and can be measurable in terms of 

quantity or assessed in terms of Quality. 
 
‘Value for money’ or the best value is high when there is an equal balance between all three 
sections of the chain; relatively low costs; high productivity, and successful outcomes. 
 
Why is Value for Money important? 
If we as a Council, are to improve overall performance by improving our services, achieving 
greater value for money must be a significant factor. In addition, research indicates that Councils 
which deliver high quality services that demonstrate value for money are likely to have the highest 
level of customer satisfaction. 
 
Public money should be spent wisely and follow the Council’s procedure rules. With reduced 
funding for Council services and service user expectations increasing, it is essential that the 
Council looks at ways to provide and show value for money. 
 
The Council’s procedures should also help to ensure that services receive value for money 
from their procurement and purchasing arrangements. 
 
Section 3 of the Local Government Act 1999 (as amended by s137 of the Local Government and 
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007) places a duty on local authorities to “make arrangements 
to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard 
to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 
 
Key Controls 
 Value for money must always be considered when committing to spend money on behalf of 

the Council. 
 Value for money should be embedded into all aspects of performance, planning and service 

delivery. 
 Value for money should also be assessed in services delivered by partners or through 

contractual arrangements. 
 Value for money is a key feature of the Council’s business case process. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To ensure that value for money is achieved in all transactions undertaken on behalf of the 

Council. 
 To provide guidance on how to achieve value for money to both Members and officers. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To gather and analyse performance data, to ensure that Services provided are value for 

money. 
 To provide the Chief Finance Officer with any evidence as requested to demonstrate that 

value for money is achieved in services. 
 To consider value for money when presenting options for decision, in line with the delegation 

of decisions as approved within the Council’s Constitution. 

Page 87



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

48 | P a g e 

 

 

21. INTERNAL AUDIT 
 
What is Internal Audit? 
Internal auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add 
value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives 
by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk 
management, control and governance processes. 
 
The Council is required to have an effective Internal Audit function in order to comply with section 
5 of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 which requires the Council to “undertake 
an adequate and effective internal audit of its accounting records and of its system of internal 
control in accordance with the proper practices in relation to internal control”. Section 151 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 also requires every local Council to make arrangements for the proper 
administration of its financial affairs. 
 
All Internal Audit reviews are reported to and discussed by the Audit Panel as the body charged 
with overall responsibility for governance within the Council. 
 
Why is Internal Audit important? 
Internal Audit is a key element of the overall governance structure of the Council which is 
designed to ensure that appropriate controls are in place throughout the organisation. Through 
the provision of a high quality independent appraisal of all of the activities of the Council, 
Internal Audit aims to improve operational efficiency, risk management and internal control 
systems, and also provide reliable and effective support to management to ensure that their 
objectives are achieved. 
 
Key Controls 
The key controls for Internal Audit are: 

a) that it is independent in its planning and operation and determines its own priorities in 
providing unrestricted coverage of the Council’s operations; 

b) The Head of Risk Management and Audit Services has direct access to the Chief 
Executive and all levels of management and Members; and 

c) The internal auditors comply with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To ensure that internal auditors have the authority to: 

 access premises/land when required; 
 access all assets, records, documents, correspondence and control systems; 
 require and receive information and explanation considered necessary concerning any 

matter under consideration; 
 require any employee of the Council to account for cash, stores and any other Council asset 
 under the employee’s control; 
 access records belonging to third parties, such as contractors, when required; 
 directly access the Chief Executive. 

 To approve the strategic and annual audit plans prepared by the Head of Risk Management 
and Audit Services, which take account of the current risk profile of all activities undertaken 
by the Council, prior to approval by the Audit Panel. 

 To ensure that effective procedures are in place to investigate promptly any fraud or 
irregularity. 

 When initial evidence suggests that a criminal offence has been committed, to consult with 
the appropriate Director about involving the Police, in accordance with the Council’s Anti-
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Statement of Intent. 

 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure that Internal Audit are granted access to premises/land when required; 
 To ensure that Internal Audit are provided with any documents, information and explanations 

they require during the course of their work; 

Page 88



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

49 | P a g e 

 

 

 To consider and respond to recommendations in audit reports within one month; 
 Any agreed actions arising from audit recommendations are carried out as per the agreed 

timetable; 
 New systems for maintaining financial records, records of assets, or changes to such 

systems, are discussed with, and agreed by, the Head of Risk Management and Audit 
Services before implementation; and 

 To notify the Head of Risk Management and Audit Services immediately of any suspected 
fraud, theft, irregularity, improper use or misappropriation of the Council’s property or 
resources. 

 
  

Page 89



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

50 | P a g e 

 

 

22. EXTERNAL AUDIT 
 
What is External Audit? 
External Audit provides an important contribution to the stewardship of public resources and 
corporate governance of public services by: 

a) Giving an independent opinion on whether the public bodies financial statements fairly 
present its financial position and its expenditure and income for the year in question; 
and 

b) Reviewing and reporting on aspects of the arrangements which are put in place by 
public bodies to ensure the proper conduct of their financial affairs, and for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

 
The responsibilities and powers of the external auditor are derived from the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014. 
 
Why is External Audit important? 
Independent external audit is a key process of evaluation of governance processes which seek 
to protect the management of public money. It is, however, the responsibility of management to 
put arrangements in place to ensure proper governance and to regularly review the adequacy 
and effectiveness of these arrangements. 
 
The Council’s financial statements are scrutinised by external auditors, who must be satisfied 
that the statement of accounts ‘presents fairly’ the financial position of the Council and its income 
and expenditure for the year in question and complies with all relevant legal requirements. 
 
Key Controls 
 External auditors must follow the National Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice when 

carrying out their audits. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To ensure that external auditors are given access at all reasonable times to premises, 

personnel, documents and assets that the external auditors consider necessary for the 
purposes of their work. 

 To ensure there is effective liaison between External and Internal Audit. 
 To work with the External Auditor and advise the Council, Executive Cabinet and Officers on 

their responsibilities in relation to External Audit. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure that External Auditors are given access at all reasonable times to premises, 

personnel, documents and assets that the external auditors consider necessary for the 
purposes of their work. 

 To ensure that all records and systems are up to date and available for inspection. 

Page 90



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

51 | P a g e 

 

 

23. PREVENTING AND DETECTING FRAUD, BRIBERY AND CORRUPTION  
 
What is Fraud, Bribery and Corruption? 
The Fraud Act 2006 defines three separate ways of committing fraud: 

• Fraud by false representation; 
• Fraud by failing to disclose information; and 
• Fraud by abuse of position. 

 
“Dishonesty” and “intent to make gain or cause loss” are core themes involved in the committing of 
fraud.  Bribery can be described as giving someone a financial inducement or other form of 
advantage to encourage that person to perform their functions or activities improperly, or to reward 
that person for having already done so, in order to gain a personal, commercial, regulatory or 
contractual advantage. It is an offence under the Bribery Act 2010. 
 
Corruption is ‘the offering, giving, soliciting, or acceptance of an inducement or reward, or showing 
any favour or disfavour which may influence any person to act improperly.’ It is an offence under the 
Prevention of Corruption Acts 1889 – 1916, as amended, and Section 117(3) of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 
Why is Fraud, Bribery and Corruption important? 
There is an expectation and requirement that all Members, officers, consultants, contractors, and 
service users be fair, honest and act with the utmost integrity at all times. 
 
The Council is resolute that the culture and tone of the Council is one of honesty and opposition 
to fraud, bribery and corruption. 
 
There is an expectation and requirement that all individuals, businesses and organisations dealing 
in any way with the Council will act with high standards of probity, openness and integrity and that 
Council officers or its agent(s) at all levels will lead by example in these matters. 
 
The Council's Codes of Conduct for Members and Officers set out an approach to work that is 
honest, fair, accountable and, as far as possible, transparent. Members and officers must act in 
line with the codes at all times. 
 
Key Controls 
 The Council should maintain an effective Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Statement of 

Intent and a culture of zero tolerance to fraud, bribery and corruption. 
 All Members and officers should act with integrity and lead by example. 
 Officers should raise any concerns that they may have about fraud, bribery and corruption 

preferably with their line manager or another senior manager identified in the Anti-Fraud, 
Bribery and Corruption Strategy. 

 Any information reported by officers will be dealt with fairly and confidentially. 
 Senior managers are required to deal swiftly and firmly with those who defraud or attempt to 

defraud the Council, commit a bribery offence or who are corrupt. 
 High standards of conduct should be promoted amongst Members. 
 The maintenance of a register of interests and a record of gifts and hospitality received in 

accordance with the officers’ and Members’ Codes of Conduct and the gifts and hospitality 
policy.. 

 Whistle blowing procedures should be in place and operating effectively. 
 All relevant legislation should be complied with including the Fraud Act 2006, the Bribery Act 

2010 and the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998. 
 The Council should maintain an adequate internal control framework. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To develop and maintain an effective Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Statement of Intent. 
 To develop and maintain effective Anti-Bribery Guidance. 
 

Page 91



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

52 | P a g e 

 

 

 To maintain adequate and effective internal control arrangements. 
 To take advice and support from relevant parts of the Council before referring matters to the 

Police for cases where it is apparent that a criminal offence may have been committed. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure that all suspected irregularities are reported to the Head of Risk Management and 

Audit Services without delay. 
 To instigate the Council’s disciplinary procedures where the outcome of an investigation into 

suspected fraud or corruption indicates that improper behaviour has taken place. 
 To ensure that where financial impropriety is discovered, the Chief Finance Officer is 

informed. 
 
 

Page 92



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

53 | P a g e 

 

 

24. ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING 
 
What is Money Laundering? 
Money laundering means: 

 Concealing disguising, converting or transferring criminal property or removing it from the 
UK; 

 Entering into, or becoming concerned in, an arrangement which you know or suspect 
facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property by or on behalf of 
another person; 

 Acquiring, using or possessing criminal property; and 
 Becoming concerned in an arrangement facilitating concealment, removal from the 

jurisdiction, transfer of nominees, or any other retention or control of terrorist property. 
 
These are the primary money laundering offences and prohibited acts under legislation. 
 
Why is Money Laundering important? 
Although the risk to the Council of contravening the legislation is low, it is extremely important 
that all officers and Members are familiar with the legislation and their legal responsibility as 
serious criminal sanctions may be imposed for breaches of the legislation. Potentially any officers 
could be caught by the money laundering provisions if they suspect money laundering and either 
become involved with it in some way or do nothing about it. 
 
The Anti-Money Laundering Policy applies to all employees of the Council, and aims to maintain 
the high standards of conduct which currently exist within the Council by preventing criminal activity 
through money laundering. The Policy sets out the procedures which must be followed to enable 
the Council to comply with its legal obligations. 
 
Key Controls 
 A Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO) is appointed to receive disclosures from 

officers concerning money laundering activity. 
 Implement a procedure to enable the reporting of suspicions of money laundering. 
 Maintain client identification procedures in certain circumstances. 
 Maintain record keeping procedures. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 Appoint a Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO) who is to receive disclosures from 

officers concerning money laundering activity. 
 Implement a procedure to enable the reporting of suspicions of money laundering. 
 Maintain client identification procedures in certain circumstances. 
 Maintain record-keeping procedures. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 Be aware of their roles and responsibilities in respect of Anti Money Laundering. 
 Ensure they and officers within their service are aware of who is the MLRO. 

Page 93



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

54 | P a g e 

 

 

25. GIFTS, HOSPITALITY AND REGISTER OF INTERESTS  
 
What are gifts, hospitality and a register of Interests? 
During day to day work, there may be times when officers or Members are offered gifts and/or 
hospitality; for example, a meal, a ‘thank you’ present or gift or a trip to a sporting event. 
 
A register of interests means that arrangements are in place for officers and Members to 
declare any interests that they have which may be seen to cause a conflict during the course 
of their work, or when making decisions in Committee meetings.  For example: 

 an officer or Member being related to a Director of a company that the Council trades or 
deals with;  

 a committee where a Member serves is being asked to make a decision that would affect 
the Member, either personally or in relation to a project s/he is supporting. 

 
Why are the receipt of Gifts and Hospitality and the Register of Interests important? 
In order to safeguard officers and Members in terms of independence (and therefore that of the 
Council) it is necessary for clear rules to be in place and adhered to. 
 
In relation to Register of Interest, there is the possibility of criminal liability in relation to corrupt 
practises by officers and Members. Under the Bribery Act 2010 it is an offence: 

(a) to request or accept an advantage or reward intending personally, or through another, to 
perform improperly a public function or business activity; 

(b) request or accept such advantage when the request or acceptance would constitute 
improper performance of a public function or business activity;  

(c) to improperly perform such a function or activity in anticipation of receiving such an 
advantage. 

 
To quote from the judgment in a 1970s corruption case: 

“People who take you to Wimbledon or to watch the Rugby are not doing it because they 
like you, it is because they want you to like them. It is because when you go to make a 
decision on a contract it is going to be based on friendship”. 

 
Key Controls 
Employees and Councillors should usually refuse gifts offered to them or to a member of their 
immediate family by any person or body who has or seeks to have dealings with the Authority.   
Councillors must record all offers of gifts and hospitality received with a value of £25 or more but are 
encouraged to register all gifts, even those under £25.  Employees must record all offers of gifts and 
hospitality regardless of value or whether accepted or not.  Full guidance of what is and is not 
acceptable is provided in this link 
https://intranet2.tameside.gov.uk/TamesideIntranet/media/HR/protocol.doc  
 
Responsibilities of Monitoring Officer 
 To produce and maintain a register of gifts and hospitability received by officers and 
Members. 
 To produce and maintain a register of interests received by officers and Members. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To comply with the guidance as provided by the Monitoring Officer. 
 To maintain an up to date list of gifts, hospitality and interests within their Service in adherence 

with the principles in the guidance. 
 
Financial Limits 
 Councillors Items over £25 should record items over £25   within 28 days of the receipt of the 

gift or hospitality. Written notification must be provided to the Monitoring Officer of the 
existence and nature of that gift or hospitality. 

 Officers must refuse all gifts or hospitality except with approval from the Monitoring Officer. 
 

Page 94

https://intranet2.tameside.gov.uk/TamesideIntranet/media/HR/protocol.doc


 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

55 | P a g e 

 

 

26. ASSET MANAGEMENT 
 
What is Asset Management? 
Asset Management is the system of monitoring and maintaining items of value to the Council. 
Asset management is a systematic process of operating, maintaining, upgrading and disposing 
of assets cost- effectively. 
 
Asset Management relates to land and buildings; furniture, vehicles and equipment; and stocks 
and stores and it covers their acquisition, disposal, security and recording. 
 
Why is Asset Management important? 
The Council owns a diverse portfolio of assets in the form of property, vehicles, equipment, 
furniture and other items. It is important that these assets are safeguarded and used efficiently 
and effectively in supporting the delivery of services. The development of a comprehensive and 
effective approach to asset management is key to ensuring that: 

 utilisation of assets is maximised; 
 maintenance expenditure is prioritised; 
 major capital investment requirements are identified and quantified;  
 appropriate insurance is in place; and 
 surplus property and other assets are identified for rationalisation and/or disposal. 

 
 
Key Controls 
 A corporate asset management strategy is in place. 
 Asset Registers/inventories are in place to record all assets. 
 Accounting policies are in place to control asset classification, capitalisation, depreciation and 

disposal. 
 Assets are disposed of at the most appropriate time and only when it is in the best interests 

of the Council and that the best price is obtained. 
 Managers are responsible for the care, protection and security of assets within their control. 
 Insurance covers are in place to protect the Council from catastrophic loss by sharing the risk 

with the private sector. 
 Land and Buildings are acquired in accordance with the Asset Management Strategy. 
 Land and Buildings are purchased only following appropriate authorisation and approval. 
 A terrier of all land and buildings owned is maintained, with assets recorded when they are 

acquired (including the reinstatement value) and this record is updated as changes occur. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer  
 To maintain an Asset Register, which contains details of all assets owned by the Council 

which exceed the capital de-minimums levels. 
 To ensure appropriate accounting entries are made for the addition and depreciation of assets 

into the Council’s records. 
 To ensure that assets are valued in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Council 

Accounting in the United Kingdom: A Statement of Recommended Practice. 
 Ensuring that all acquisitions are properly recorded within accounting records 
 To ensure appropriate accounting entries are made to remove the value of disposed assets 

from the Council’s records and to include the sale proceeds if appropriate. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors - General 
 To maintain proper security, care and protection of all building, equipment, vehicles, stocks, 

stores and cash under their control. 
 To inform the Chief Finance Officer and Head of Risk Management and Audit Services of any 

missing equipment or significant shortfalls in stock as soon as possible after discovery, 
together with explanations for the loss, if known. 

 To ensure the Chief Finance Officer and the Head of Risk Management and Audit is provided 
with the appropriate information requested annually for insurance renewal purposes. 

 

Page 95



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

56 | P a g e 

 

 

Responsibilities of Directors – Building and Land 
 The Director of Growth shall maintain a terrier of all land and buildings owned by the Council. 

The terrier will record the holding Service, purpose for which each property/site is held, 
location and purchase details and reinstatement values for insurance purposes. 

 The Director of Growth shall arrange for condition surveys to be carried out to inform the asset 
management plan; 

 Arranging for the valuation of land and buildings as necessary to meet the accounting 
requirements and insurance requirements of the Chief Finance Officer. 

 To inform the Chief Finance Officer of all building acquisitions so that the insurance portfolio 
reflects the correct properties to be insured by the Council 

 To ensure the proper security of all land and buildings under their control. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors - Furniture, Equipment and Vehicles 
 The Director of Operations and Neighbourhoods will maintain appropriate records of the 

vehicles held by the Council. 
 The Assistant Director, Digital Tameside, will maintain appropriate records of the IT 

equipment held by the Council. 
 Directors will maintain appropriate records of all other furniture and equipment held or 

deployed by their service.  This will include maintaining an up to date inventory of all individual 
items with a purchase value in excess of £200.  

 Directors should arrange for the accuracy of the inventory to be verified periodically at a 
frequency appropriate to the risk of loss of the individual items recorded. 

 To ensure that Council property (owned or hired) should not be removed other than in the 
ordinary course of the Council's business except in accordance with directions issued by the 
Director concerned. 

 To ensure the safe custody of furniture, equipment & vehicles. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors - Stocks and Stores 
 To make arrangements for the maintenance of reasonable levels of stocks and stores in their 

control. 
 To ensure that appropriate up to date records of the level and value of stocks and stores held 

are maintained. 
 To ensure periodical physical examinations of stocks and stores held, against the stock 

records, should be carried out at a frequency based on the value and vulnerability of the stock. 
 To ensure proper security is maintained at all times for all stocks and stores. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors – Disposal of Assets 
 Once land, buildings or equipment have been declared surplus to requirements, to arrange 

for the disposal of these assets in accordance with the Council’s strategy. 
 Details of any vehicles which are deemed surplus to requirements shall be advised to Director 

of Operations and Neighbourhoods. Where the vehicle is considered no longer suitable for 
use within the Council, the Director of Operations and Neighbourhoods shall arrange for its 
suitable disposal. 

 Details of any ICT equipment which a Director deems surplus to requirements shall be advised 
to the Assistant Director, Digital Tameside. ICT equipment can only be disposed of by ICT 
Services, and if it is considered redundant in accordance with the ICT Strategy. 

 The Assistant Director, Digital Tameside, is responsible for ensuring that the standards, 
policies and guidelines of decommissioning of IT equipment are well defined and 
communicated to all staff within the Council. The Data Protection Act must be a key 
consideration in the decommissioning of IT equipment. 

 To identify assets which are deemed obsolete and surplus to requirements. 
 To secure the best price obtainable for the sale of assets. 
 To record all disposals of assets. 
 To ensure that income received for the disposal of an asset is properly banked and coded. 
 To consult with the Chief Finance Officer to ensure all financial implications, including 

accounting for Value Added Tax, are fully considered. 
 To inform the Chief Finance Officer of all building disposals so that the insurance portfolio 

Page 96



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

57 | P a g e 

 

 

reflects the correct properties to be insured by the Council. 
 
Financial Limits 
 
The following limits apply to the purchase and disposal of assets. 
 

Declaration that Asset is surplus to requirements9   

Amount Who Decision Type 

All property assets Executive Cabinet Key Decision 

 
 

Sale or Disposal of Land or Buildings where best consideration is not achieved and the 
potential loss to the Council is advised by a RICS Surveyor to be likely to be as follows: 

Amount Who Decision Type 

More than £30,000 Executive Cabinet Key Decision 

Less than £30,000 Executive Member with responsibility for 
Finance 

Executive Decision 

Disposal of Reversionary Title  

In compliance with 
Reversionary Title 
Policy 

 Director of Place Executive Decision 
(officer) 

 
Any ad hoc investment or disposal opportunities are likely to be a key decision and therefore will 
need to be reported within these guidelines.  All purchases of land or the taking on of a lease liability 
on behalf of the Council will require the approval of the Cabinet. 
 
All disposal of non-land and building assets greater than £10k must be accompanied by a decision 
notice, this includes purchases or disposals made in aggregate, for example, the disposal of 100 
laptops that in aggregate are valued at more than £10k. 
 
  
 

                                                 
9 Disposal of Council owned Land and property Cabinet 30.09.2020 
https://tameside.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s88476/ITEM%2010%20-
%20Disposals%20Policy%20FINAL.pdf 

Page 97



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

58 | P a g e 

 

 

27. FINANCIAL SYSTEMS 
 
What are Financial Systems? 
Financial systems are the key systems of the Council which perform the following actions: 
 recording, in an organised way, the Council’s financial transactions (General Ledger – 

Agresso) 
 facilitating payments to people or organisations that the Council owes money to, and a record 

of what has been paid (Creditors and e-Procurement) 
 recording invoices sent to people or organisations who owe the Council money, and recording 

payments received (Debtors) 
 other payment systems (e.g. Payroll (iTrent) and Council Tax/Business Rates (Capita)) 
 other receipting systems  
 other information systems which involve finance, e.g. 

 job costing systems; and 
 asset register/database; and 
 certain financial management improvement systems. 

 
Why are Financial Systems important? 
Robust and effective financial information systems are essential to the overall aim of quality 
financial management.  Quality financial information will only be available where input is created 
from a trusted source, with good controls over the inputting and processing of information, and the 
output generated. 
 
This can only be achieved if there are effective methods in place to document and control such 
tasks. In particular, internal controls need to be built into the system and manual processes 
which support the electronic systems need to be well managed and controlled. 
 
Key Controls 
 Basic data exists to enable the Council’s objectives, targets, budgets and plans to be 

formulated. 
 Performance is communicated to the appropriate managers on an accurate, complete and 

timely basis. 
 Early warning is provided of deviations from target, plans and budgets that require 

management attention. 
 Operational systems are secure. 
 Developments and upgrades to systems are managed and controlled. Any computer system 

that is used to maintain, produce or access financial information or accounting systems shall 
require the written approval of the Chief Finance Officer before being implemented. 

 Systems are compliant with Data Protection Legislation 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To make arrangements for the proper administration of the Council’s financial affairs including 

to: 
 issue advice, guidance and procedures for officers and others acting on the Council’s behalf; 
 determine the accounting systems, form of accounts and supporting financial records; 
 establish arrangements for audit of the financial affairs of the Council; 
 approve any new financial systems to be introduced; 
 approve any changes to be made to existing financial systems; 
 arrange training and produce procedural guidance for users of the Council’s Financial and 

E- procurement Systems; 
 develop, maintain and arrange distribution of management reports form the main 

Accounting systems; 
 ensure integrity of the Agresso and E-procurement databases; 
 liaise with and assist users in all aspects of database maintenance; 
 develop a chart of account which is fit for purpose; 
 arrange for both the Finance and E-procurement systems to be upgraded to ensure the 

applications are kept up to date; 

Page 98



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

59 | P a g e 

 

 

 ensure documents are retained in accordance with the Council’s document retention policy; 
 liaise with the Council’s IT service/ software provider, as appropriate, to ensure any 

problems/ issues are dealt with in a speedy manner; 
 ensure that a complete management trail, allowing financial transactions to be traced from 

the accounting records to the original document, and vice versa, is maintained for the 
Council’s financial and E-procurement systems. 

 To be responsible for the development, maintenance and security of the Council’s main 
Financial and E-procurement Systems. 

 To ensure Due Diligence checks are undertaken on all proposed changes to existing systems 
or where a new system is being introduced, before approval is given for the system to be 
implemented. 

 To provide advice and guidance in relation to Data Protection Legislation 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure that accounting records are properly maintained and held securely; 
 To ensure that vouchers and documents with financial implications are not destroyed, except 

in accordance with arrangements approved by the Chief Finance Officer. 
 To ensure that a complete management trail, allowing financial transactions to be traced from 

the accounting records to the original document, and vice versa, is maintained. 
 To incorporate appropriate controls to ensure that, where relevant: 

 all input is genuine, complete, accurate, timely and not previously input; 
 all processing is carried out in an accurate, complete and timely manner; 
 output from the system is complete, accurate and timely. 

 To ensure that an appropriate segregation of duties is in place to provide adequate internal 
controls and to minimise the risk of fraud or other malpractice. 

 To ensure there is a documented and tested disaster recovery plan to allow information 
system processing to resume quickly in the event of an interruption. 

 To ensure that systems are documented and all officers are trained to use the system. 
 To consult with the Chief Finance Officer in a timely manner at the outset of any development 

project (before changing any existing system or introducing new financial systems), so that 
appropriate due diligence checks can be undertaken before any changes are implemented. 

 To undertake Data Protection Impact Assessments (DPIA) where personal data is involved 
as the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) make DPIAs mandatory for certain 
classes of personal data. Privacy by design is advocated.  

 To establish a scheme of delegation identifying officers authorised to act upon the Director’s 
behalf in respect of payments, income collection and placing orders, including variations, and 
showing the limits of their Council. 

 To supply lists of authorised officers, with specimen signatures and delegated limits to the 
Chief Finance Officer, together with any subsequent variations. 

 To ensure that effective contingency arrangements, including back up procedures, exist for 
computer systems. Wherever possible, back up information should be securely retained in a 
fireproof location, preferably off site or at an alternative location within the building. 

 To ensure that, where appropriate, computer systems are registered in accordance with data 
protection legislation and that officers are aware of their responsibilities under the legislation. 

 To ensure that relevant standards and guidelines for computer systems issued by the Director 
are observed. 

 To ensure that computer equipment and software are protected from loss and damage 
through theft, vandalism, etc. 

 To comply with the copyright, designs and patents legislation and, in particular, to ensure that: 
 only software legally acquired and installed by the Council is used on its computers; 
 officers are aware of legislative provisions; 
 in developing systems, due regard is given to the issue of intellectual property rights. 

Page 99



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

60 | P a g e 

 

 

28. INCOME COLLECTION AND MANAGEMENT 
 
What is Income Collection and Management? 
Some Services have the facility to charge for the services provided as part of their day to day 
operations. All charges must ensure compliance with the relevant statutes governing local Council 
activities. Charges may be levied in advance when a service is booked, at the point of sale or 
by the raising of a debtors invoice after the service has been delivered. Examples of these include: 
 
Charges at point of sale: 

 entrance fees; 
 school meals; 
 car parking; and 
 professional fees e.g. Local Search Fees and Planning Permission Fees. 

 
Debtor Invoices 
 -sundry debtors. 
The Council also collects income arising from local taxation, namely Council Tax and Business 
Rates, and income from fixed penalty notices, for example, parking fines. 
 
Why is Income Collection and Management important? 
The collection of income is a significant part of the Council’s business and is a vulnerable asset. 
Effective revenue collection systems are necessary to ensure that all revenue due is identified, 
collected, receipted and banked securely and effectively. It is preferable to obtain revenue in 
advance of supplying goods or services as this improves the Council’s cash flow and also 
avoids the time and cost of administering debts. 
 
In order to ensure that cash flow is maximised and costs are minimised, it is essential that 
income is collected in as complete and timely manner as is possible. This would normally be at 
the point of sale or service. 
 
Key Controls 
 All debtor invoices must be raised via the corporate debtors system, or other collection system 

authorised by the Chief Finance Officer. Invoices raised need to be appropriate and legitimate 
and are calculated correctly. 

 All income due to the Council is legitimate, recorded and charged correctly, in accordance 
with an approved charging policy, which is regularly reviewed. 

 Value Added Tax (VAT) at the appropriate rate must be levied and collected in line with VAT 
guidance. 

 All income is collected from the correct person, at the right time, using the correct procedures 
and the appropriate stationery. Appropriate supporting documentation is retained in the event 
of debt recovery procedures being invoked. 

 All money received by an employee on behalf of the Council is banked, or handed to the 
Council’s appointed cash collection contractor in a timely manner and is properly recorded in 
the Council’s financial system. 

 There is adequate separation in duties in identifying amounts due and the responsibility for 
collection, as far as is practicable. 

 Effective action is taken to pursue non-payment within defined timescales. 
 Formal approval in accordance with the scheme of delegation, for debt write-off is obtained. 
 Appropriate accounting adjustments are made following write-off action. 
 All appropriate income documents are retained and stored for the defined period in 

accordance with the document retention schedule. 
 Money collected and deposited is reconciled to the bank account by a person who is not 

involved in the collection or banking process. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To agree arrangements for the collection of all income due to the Council and to approve the 

procedures, systems and documentation for its collection and accounting for VAT. 

Page 100



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

61 | P a g e 

 

 

 To approve the design of controlled stationery and arrangements for its control and security. 
 To agree the write-off of bad debts in accordance with the Scheme of Delegation.  To develop 

and maintain a Corporate Debt Management Policy. 
 To develop and maintain up to date procedural guidance for the collection of income due to 

the Council. 
 To ensure that appropriate accounting adjustments are made following write off action. 
 To establish and initiate appropriate recovery procedures, including legal action where 

necessary, for debts that are not paid promptly. 
 To seek approval from Executive Cabinet on an annual basis for discretionary fees which will 

apply to transactions in the following financial year. 
 To provide guidance on the retention and storage of income related documents. 
 
Responsibilities of Monitoring Officer 
 To provide guidance to ensure compliance with the relevant statutes governing local Council 

activities. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To establish a charging policy for the supply of goods or services for approval by Executive 

C, including the appropriate charging of VAT, and to review it annually, in line with corporate 
policies. 

 To determine where charges can be made in advance or at point of sale without the need to 
offer credit facilities. 

 To determine where charges can be made in advance and where there is a need to raise a 
debtor’s invoice. 

 To establish adequate procedures and controls to ensure that all staff entrusted with Council 
money are properly accountable. 

 To comply with cash and card handling procedures issued by Financial Management 
 To separate the responsibility for identifying amounts due and the responsibility for collection, 

as far as is practicable and ensure staff are clear of their roles and responsibilities. 
 To issue official receipts or to maintain other documentation for income collection. Officers 

must issue machine printed or official receipt forms or tickets when receiving all monies due 
to the Council. All official receipt forms (miscellaneous receipt books) shall be pre-printed, 
and Officers must sign all such receipts when issued. 

 To ensure that at least two employees are present when post is opened so that money is 
received by post is properly identified and recorded under arrangements agreed with the Chief 
Finance Officer. 

 To hold securely receipts, tickets and other records of income for the appropriate period. 
 To order and issue all controlled stationery (receipt forms, books or tickets and similar items). 

The design of controlled stationery and arrangements for its control and security should be 
approved by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 To lock away all income to safeguard against loss or theft, and to ensure the security of cash 
handling. 

 To ensure that income is paid fully and promptly into the appropriate Council bank account in 
the form in which it is received. Paying in slips shall contain a reference to the related debt 
(such as the receipt number or name of debtor) or otherwise indicate the origin of payment. 
On the back of each cheque shall be entered the name of the Service or establishment 
receiving the payment and the receipt number. 

 To reconcile monies collected to evidence of bankings in accordance with procedures 
determined by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 To keep a record of all unders and overs so that any necessary adjustments can be made by 
arrangement with the Chief Finance Officer. 

 To ensure income is not used to cash personal cheques or other payments. 
 To supply the Assistant Director, Exchequer, with details relating to work done, goods 

supplied, services rendered or other amounts due, to enable a sundry debtor invoice to be 
raised in a form approved by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 To ensure that sundry debtor invoices are raised promptly and within seven calendar days of 
supply and the debt is supported by sufficient documentary evidence. 

Page 101



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

62 | P a g e 

 

 

 To ensure that VAT is appropriately applied and the correct VAT category is used. 
 Directors have a responsibility to assist the Director of Governance and Pensions in collecting 

debts that they have originated, by providing any further information that may be requested 
by the debtor or by Legal Services in the event of Court action. 

 If a debt remains unpaid the Council will cease to provide services to that debtor except in 
circumstances agreed by a Director and the Chief Finance Officer.  

 To ensure that cash held on premises does not exceed approved safe/ security limits and 
adequate insurance coverage has been obtained. 

 To keep a record of every transfer of money between employees of the Council. The receiving 
officer must sign for the transfer and the transferor must retain a copy. 

 To recommend to the Assistant Director, Exchequer, all debts to be written off and to keep a record 
of all sums written off up to the approved limits. Once raised, no bona fide debt may be cancelled, 
except by full payment or by its formal writing off. A credit note can only be issued in relation to a 
debt in order to correct a factual inaccuracy or administration error in the calculation and/ or billing 
of the original debt.  
 To notify the Chief Finance Officer of outstanding revenue relating to the previous financial 

year as soon as possible after 31 March in line with the timetable determined by the Chief 
Finance Officer. 

Page 102



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

63 | P a g e 

 

 

29. ORDERING AND PAYMENT OF WORKS, GOODS AND SERVICES 
 
What is Ordering and Payment for Goods and Services? 
Every day officers within the Council will order and/or authorise payments for goods and 
services.  An order is a formal instruction requesting goods and services for which a payment 
will be given. An order should be electronic, represent a commitment on behalf of the Council, and 
form a contract with suppliers. 
 
The Council has Procurement Standing Orders in place which aim to achieve value for money in 
the purchase of goods and services.  These rules set the framework to ensure that procurement 
delivers value for money across all services and directly contributes to the achievement of our 
corporate priorities. 
 
Why is ordering and payment important? 
Public money should be spent with demonstrable probity and in accordance with the Council’s 
policies. Councils have a statutory duty to achieve best value in part through economy and 
efficiency. The Council’s procedures should help to ensure that services obtain value for money 
from their purchasing arrangements. These procedures should be read in conjunction with the 
Procurement Standing Orders. 
 
Key Controls 
 All goods and services are ordered only by appropriate persons and are correctly recorded. 
 Goods and services received are checked to ensure they are in accordance with the order. 
 Goods should not be received by the persons who placed the order. 
 Payments are not made unless goods received have been received by the Council to the 

correct prices, quantity and quality standards unless in exceptional circumstances as agreed 
by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 All payments are made to the correct supplier, for the correct amount and are properly 
recorded, regardless of payment method. 

 Normal method for all payments is via BACs. 
 All appropriate evidence of the transaction and payment documents are retained and stored 

for the defined period, in accordance with the document retention guidelines. 
 All expenditure, including VAT is accurately recorded against the right budget and any 

exceptions are corrected. If VAT is being re-claimed there is a need to ensure that it is 
appropriate to do so and a VAT invoice is provided. 

 All invoices with Construction Industry Tax liability are accurately processed in accordance 
with the scheme. 

 All invoices are addressed to Tameside MBC. 
 In addition, the effect of e-business/e-commerce and electronic purchasing requires that 

processes are in place to maintain the security and integrity of data for transacting business 
electronically. 

 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To ensure that the Council’s main financial systems and procedures are sound and properly 

administered. 
 To approve any changes to existing financial systems and to approve any new systems before 

they are introduced. 
 To make payments from the Council’s funds on the authorisation of officers in line with the 

Scheme of Delegation that the expenditure has been duly incurred in accordance with 
financial regulations. 

 To ensure the security, safe keeping and maintenance of blank cheques. 
 To ensure that payments are authorised in accordance with the bank mandate. 
 To ensure payments are processed for the correct amount. 
 To make payments, whether or not provision exists within the estimate, where the payment 

is specifically required by statute or is made under a court order. 
 To make payments to contractors based on the certification of the appropriate Director or 

nominated representative which must include details of the value of work, retention money, 

Page 103



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

64 | P a g e 

 

 

amount previously certified and amounts now certified. 
 To provide advice and encouragement on making payments by the most economical means. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 The form of official orders and associated terms and conditions are approved by the Director 

of Governance and Pensions  
 To ensure that officers use e-procurement for the raising of purchase orders and details of 

goods/services receipted are recorded in the system unless there are exceptional 
circumstances as approved by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 To ensure that goods and services are purchased in accordance with the Council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules. 

 To ensure orders for goods and services are correctly addressed. 
 To ensure individuals do not use official orders to obtain goods or services for their private 

use. 
 Each order sent to a supplier must include the contract price or quotation obtained as well as 

the contract/ quotation reference. 
 All invoices are in the name of Tameside MBC and contain accurate information in line with 

the order. 
 To ensure the adequate controls are in place to ensure that undisputed payments are: 

 promptly processed; 
 made for the correct amount; 
 correctly coded 
 paid within the relevant time period i.e. complies with regulation and any internal target. 

 To ensure that a proper scheme of delegation has been established within their area and is 
in effective operation.  The Scheme of Delegation should identify officers authorised to act on 
the Directors behalf, or on behalf of the Cabinet, in respect of payments and placing orders, 
and be clear of their approval limits.  A copy should be provided to the Chief Finance Officer. 

Page 104



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

65 | P a g e 

 

 

30. CREDIT CARDS 
 
What are Credit Cards? 
Credit cards allow goods and services to be procured where normal procurement and purchasing 
routes are not practical or reasonable.  Credit cards are issued directly to employees of the Council 
subject to approval by service Directors and Financial Management. 
 
Why are Credit Cards important? 
Credit cards provide the Council with another method of payment for goods and services and 
reduce the need for cash within the Council. credit cards also provide the Council with greater 
visibility of ad-hoc transactions. 
 
Key Controls 
 All Credit card transactions must be logged on the Council’s financial systems. 
 Cards must be held securely. 
 Credit Cards must not be used for personal transactions. 
 Credit Cards must only be used by the individual who it is assigned to. 
 Credit Cards will only be issued to individuals who have received appropriate training. 
 Individual transaction and monthly limits must be agreed by the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To provide guidance to all officers on the use of Credit Cards within the Council. 
 To ensure that appropriate accounting guidelines are in place for transactions where the 

Credit card is used, including the accounting for VAT. 
 To approve Credit cards to be issued to individual officers and approve individual and monthly 

transaction limits. 
 To arrange cancellation of the Credit Cards when an officer leaves the Council. 
 To provide guidance on receipt retention. 
 To set the individual and monthly transaction limits. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To comply with the rules and guidance provided by the Chief Finance Officer. 
 To ensure that officers who are allocated Credit Cards and their Managers are aware of their 

responsibilities regarding this. 
 To ensure that the card is returned to the Financial Management Team, in person, in the event 

the cardholder leaves the Council. 
 To ensure that VAT receipts are retained for the appropriate period. 
  

Page 105



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

66 | P a g e 

 

 

31. PAYMENTS TO EMPLOYEES, MEMBERS AND PENSIONERS 
 
What are Payments to Employees, Members and Pensioners? 
As part of main Council business, the Council has to pay officers their salaries. in addition, 
payments can be made for other expenses which they have occurred in carrying out their duties. 
 
Salaries and wages are paid in accordance with employment contracts entered into by the 
Council. Salaries are paid on the same date of each month, partly in advance and partly in 
arrears. All payments are made by BACS. 
 
Payment of contractors affected by HMRC IR35 regulations are paid through the payroll system. 
 
Members’ allowances are paid monthly through the payroll system. 
 
Pensions and pension benefits from the Greater Manchester Pension Fund are paid on agreed 
dates throughout the month, some in advance and others in arrears. 
 
Why are Payments to Employees, Members and Pensioners important? 
Officer costs are a significant item of expenditure for most Council services.  Pension benefits 
represent the largest cost of the GM Pension Fund.  It is important therefore that payments are 
made accurately, timely, made only when they are due and that payments accord with 
individuals’ conditions of services. 
 
It is also important that all payments are made accurately, recorded and accounted for and that 
Members allowances are authorised in accordance with the scheme adopted. 
 
Key Controls 
Key controls are: 
a) Proper authorisation procedures are in place and that there is adherence to corporate 

timetables and procedures in relation to the prompt notification of all changes including: 
 Starters; 
 Leavers; 
 Variations; and 
 Enhancements. 

b) All payments are made in accordance with the terms and conditions of employment, and 
approved timesheets and claims where appropriate; 

c) Frequent reconciliation of payroll expenditure against approved budget and bank account; 
d) All appropriate payroll documents are retained and stored for the defined period in 

accordance with the document retention schedule; and 
e) HMRC regulations are complied with. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To agree the procedures and control environment for the secure and reliable payment of 

salaries, wages, pensions, compensation or other emoluments.  
 
Responsibilities of Director of Governance and Pensions 
 To arrange and control secure and reliable payment of salaries, wages, pensions, 

compensation or other emoluments to existing and former officers, and to determine and 
approve the associated procedures. 

 To record and make arrangements for the accurate and timely payment of tax, pension and 
other deductions complying with statutory requirements. 

 To make arrangements for payment of all travel and subsistence claims or financial loss 
allowance in accordance with the Council’s Travel and Subsistence Procedures. 

 To make arrangements for paying Members travel or other allowances upon receiving the 
prescribed form, duly completed and authorised.  

 To provide advice to secure payment of salaries and wages by the most economical means. 
 To ensure that there are adequate arrangements for administering Pension matters on a day-

Page 106



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

67 | P a g e 

 

 

to-day basis. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure appointments are made in accordance with the regulations of the Council and 

approved establishments, grades and scale of pay and that adequate budget provision is 
available. 

 To notify the HR Service of all matters affecting payments as soon as possible and in the 
required manner. In particular: 
 appointments, resignations, dismissals, suspensions, secondments and transfers; 
 absences for sickness or other reason, apart from approved leave; 
 changes in pay rates, other than pay awards and agreements of general application; 

and 
 information necessary to maintain records of service for pensions, income tax and 

national insurance. 
 To ensure that adequate and effective systems and procedures are operated so that: 

 payments are authorised to bona fide officers only; 
 payments are only made where there is a valid entitlement; 
 conditions and contracts of employments are correctly applied; and 
 officer’s names listed on the payroll are checked at regular intervals to verify accuracy 

and completeness. 
 To ensure all officers’ expenses are paid via payroll. 
 To certify travel and subsistence claims and other allowances in accordance with the 

Council’s Travel and Subsistence Procedures.  Certification is taken to mean that journeys 
were authorised and expenses properly and necessarily incurred, and that allowances are 
properly payable by the Council, ensuring that cost-effective use of travel arrangements is 
achieved. Due consideration should be given to tax implications and that the Chief Finance 
Officer is informed where appropriate. 

 Officers’ claims submitted more than three months after the expenses were incurred will be 
assessed and determined, for payment or otherwise, by the Director of Governance and 
Pensions.  The Chief Finance Officer will provide guidance on which the assessments and 
determination can be made. 

 To ensure that all appropriate payroll documents are retained and stored for the defined 
period in accordance with the document retention guidelines and schedule. 

Page 107



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

68 | P a g e 

 

 

32. TAXATION 
 
What is Taxation? 
In addition to taxes that the Council levies, Council Tax and National Non-Domestic Rates 
(Business Rates), there are five types of taxation which the Council will be aware of and take 
account of when it carries out its business. These are: 

 Value Added Tax (VAT); 
 Income Tax and National Insurance; 
 Construction Industry Scheme (CIS) Tax;  
 Insurance Premium Tax; and 
 Stamp Duty Land Tax (SDLT). 

 
Each has its own rules and relates to different areas of the Council’s business. 
 
Why is Taxation important? 
Like all organisations, the Council is responsible for ensuring its tax affairs are in order. Tax 
issues are often very complex and the penalties for incorrectly accounting for tax are severe. 
It is therefore very important for all Officers to be aware of their role. 
 
Detailed consideration of future spending is required to ensure that the Council can continue to 
recover all the VAT it incurs, both on new schemes and on its existing expenditure. It is 
therefore important for all officers to be aware of their role in ensuring the Council’s compliance 
with and adherence to HMRC's VAT Regulations and the requirements of the Council’s VAT 
guidance. 
 
It is important that the Council does not waste resources through under recovery of VAT, failing 
to identify taxable transactions and account for VAT due at the correct time, unnecessarily incurring 
non-UK VAT that is generally unrecoverable, or by making poor decisions due to inadequate 
information. 
 
Key Controls 
 Budget Managers are provided with the relevant information and kept up to date on tax issues. 
 Budget managers are instructed on required record keeping. 
 All taxable transactions are identified, properly carried out and accounted for within stipulated 

timescales. 
 Records are maintained in accordance with instructions. 
 Returns are made to the appropriate Authorities within the stipulated timescale. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To ensure that there are proper arrangements in place for the administration and accounting 

of the four areas of taxation. 
 To ensure that all arrangements comply with the Council’s statutory responsibilities. 
 To complete a monthly return of VAT input and outputs to HMRC. 
 To maintain up-to-date guidance for officers on taxation issues in the taxation manual on the 

Intranet with updates on significant changes. 
 Complete a forecast of the Council’s annual partial exemption calculation prior to the start of 

the financial year and ensure that the 5% threshold is not exceeded. 
 Provide VAT advice, both strategically and operationally. 
 
Responsibility of Director of Governance and Pensions 
 To complete all HMRC returns regarding PAYE and National Insurance on a timely basis. 
 To provide details to HMRC regarding the CIS Tax deduction scheme. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To ensure that the correct VAT liability is attached to all income due. 
 To ensure that all VAT recoverable on purchases complies with HMRC regulations. 
 To ensure that all capital work and revenue development is notified to the Council's VAT 

Page 108



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

69 | P a g e 

 

 

Officer at the earliest opportunity where any of the following apply: 
 significant VAT is incurred; 
 any VAT-exempt income is generated; or 
 there are non-cash benefits, e.g. land swap or provision of services at below market 

price. 
 To fund any interest charges or penalties falling upon the Council from HMRC that result from 

their Directorate's failure to account for the correct VAT at the correct time. 
 To retain all VAT-related documents in accordance with the Council’s document retention 

guidance and schedule. 
 To ensure that, as far is possible, tax is accounted for in the correct tax accounting period. 
 To ensure that, where construction and maintenance works are undertaken, the contractor 

fulfils the necessary construction industry tax deduction requirements. 
 To ensure that all persons employed by the Council are added to the Council’s payroll and 

tax deducted from any payments, except where the individuals are assessed under HMRC 
IR35 regulations as self-employed or are employed by a recognised agency . 

 To ensure officers are aware of and follow the guidance on taxation issued by the Chief 
Finance Officer or Director of Governance and Pensions in the Council’s Tax manual. 

 

Page 109



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

70 | P a g e 

 

 

33. PETTY CASH 
 
What is Petty Cash? 
Petty cash accounts are small amounts of cash maintained on site to make small purchases 
where the formal ordering process is not appropriate for the purchase being made. Use of petty 
cash is facilitated by reimbursement of personal monies spent for business use, on production of 
proof of the expenditure and should only be used in exceptional circumstances. 
 
Why is Petty Cash important? 
The e-procurement system is the corporate ordering system adopted by the Council through 
which all purchases should be made, alongside purchase cards where these are in use. However, 
occasionally the Finance Service, on the request of Service Managers, may consider it 
appropriate to create small Petty Cash accounts for the purpose of settling small value 
transactions. Often, small value supplies are required urgently and it makes business sense if 
the officer requiring the goods simply buys them him or herself, without having to go through the 
formal ordering and receipt process. 
 
The majority of Petty Cash transactions are indeed for low-value items where it is not possible 
(rather than convenient) to go through the e-procurement system, iTrent (the Council’s HR 
and Payroll System for reimbursement of car mileage and expenses), or via a Purchase or Prepaid 
Card. 
 
Internal Audit provides an independent check that individual petty cash accounts are properly 
managed and reconciled. 
 
Key Controls 
The key controls which must be adhered to are as follows: 
 The maximum limit for one transaction is £30. Only minor items may be purchased. 
 Petty cash must not be used to avoid alternative methods of payment. 
 Goods that are subject to a corporate contract must not be purchased through Petty Cash. 
 Employee expenses must not be claimed via petty cash. These should be claimed via the 

iTrent system. 
 No income should be paid into a petty cash float; 
 All petty cash floats should be securely held and in line with the insurance arrangements of 

the Council. 
 All payments must be supported by a receipt and a claim form which must be signed by a 

manager. 
 VAT must be accurately recorded and a VAT receipt kept to support the claim. 
 All petty cash floats should be reconciled to the accounting records on a regular basis. 
 Records of all petty cash floats are held and verified by the Financial Management Service. 
 Petty cash should not, under any circumstances, be used to pay suppliers or contractors cash 

in hand. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To provide each Service of the Council with appropriate cash imprests or (exceptionally) bank 

imprest accounts to meet minor expenditure on behalf of the Council and to prescribe rules 
for operating these accounts. Minor items of expenditure should not exceed the prescribed 
amount. 

 To determine the petty cash limit for individual minor items. 
 To reimburse imprest holders as often as necessary to restore the imprests, but normally not 

more than monthly. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To obtain and retain vouchers to support each payment from the imprest account. Where 

appropriate an official receipted VAT invoice must be obtained. 
 To ensure no payment is above £30. 
 To make adequate arrangements for the safe custody of the cash. 

Page 110



 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEDURES 

71 | P a g e 

 

 

 To designate an officer who is personally responsible for the administration and security of 
the petty cash imprest account. 

 To produce upon request from the Chief Finance Officer cash and all vouchers to the total 
value of the imprest amount. 

 To accurately account for VAT on all petty cash transactions. 
 To record all petty cash transactions promptly. 
 To reconcile and balance the account at least monthly. Reconciliations sheets to be signed 

and retained by the imprest holder. 
 To provide the Chief Finance Officer with a certificate of the value of the account held at 31 

March each year. 
 To ensure that the float is never used to cash personal cheques or to make personal loans 

and that the only payments into the account are the reimbursement of the float and change 
relating to purchases where an advance has been made. 

 To ensure on leaving the Council’s employment or otherwise ceasing to be entitled to hold an 
imprest advance, an officer shall account to the Director for the amount advanced to him or 
her. 

 To maintain a list of all officers who are responsible for authorising petty cash claims. 
 To ensure all claims are consecutively numbered.  A simple system should be established to 

record paid vouchers.  Details of the expenditure, cost code, employee signature together 
with the net, VAT and gross amounts should be recorded separately. 

Page 111



 

 

34. FUNDS HELD ON BEHALF OF THIRD PARTIES 
 
What are Funds Held on Behalf of Third Parties? 
Funds held on behalf of third parties comprise any financial assets held or managed by 
Council Officers on behalf of others which are not for the direct benefit of the Council.  Such 
funds may comprise funds held in trust for the benefit of another person, monies held and 
managed on behalf of clients who are not necessarily able to manage such funds for 
themselves (often under appointeeship arrangements) or any other funds which may be held 
voluntarily on behalf of others by Council staff. 
 
Why are Funds held on behalf of third parties important? 
It is essential that good management and control is exercised over funds held on behalf 
of third parties because the Council has assumed financial responsibility for the funds and 
therefore any issues that may arise may impact upon the Council’s reputation. 
 
Key Controls 
 All funds held on behalf of third parties should be managed and controlled using the 

same standards of financial probity that are applied to any financial asset of the Council. 
 All such funds should be separately identifiable and reportable on from other Council 

funds. 
 All expenditure should have some form of independent approval. 
 Any income should be promptly recorded and banked. 
 Cash and bank balances should be regularly reconciled and independently verified. 
 Any trust funds should be held in the name of the Council wherever possible and 

managed in accordance with relevant legislation and trust fund conditions. 
 All financial assets, documents and records should be held securely. 
 
Responsibilities of Chief Finance Officer 
 To make officers aware of the expectations placed upon them for managing funds held 

on behalf of third parties, specifically in terms of financial controls. 
 To ensure there is appropriate guidance in place to support the management and control 

of appointeeship arrangements in conjunction with any relevant legislation or 
regulations. 

 Be informed of any funds left in trust to the Council or to be administered by its officers. 
 Ensure any trust funds are managed in line with any relevant legislation, regulations, 

guidance or trust conditions and annual audited accounts and annual returns are 
prepared where appropriate. 

 
Responsibilities of Directors 
 To notify the Chief Finance Officer of any trust funds within their Services. 
 Ensure they are aware of all funds being held and managed on behalf of third parties. 
 To administer all such funds in accordance with guidance issued by the Chief Finance 

Officer and ensure appropriate financial controls are maintained. 
 

Page 112


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES
	8 MEETING OF EXECUTIVE CABINET
	ITEM 7 - Executive Cabinet Mins 25 8 21 FINAL

	9 MEETING OF OVERVIEW PANEL
	11 Review of Financial Regulations and Procedures
	ITEM 10 - Appendix Review of Financial Regulations and Procedures FINAL


